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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements about us and our industry that involve substantial risks, uncertainties and
assumptions. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding our
strategy, future financial condition, future operations, projected costs, prospects, plans, objectives of management and expected market growth, are
forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “aim,” “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,”
“contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “design,” “due,” “estimate,” “expect,” “goal,” “intend,” “may,” “objective,” “plan,” “positioned,” “potential,”
“predict,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” “will,” “would” and other similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and future trends, or the
negative of these terms or other comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:

 • our ability to attract and retain customers;

 • our expectations concerning additional orders by existing customers;

 • our expectations regarding the potential market size and size of the potential consumer populations for our products and any future
products, including our ability to increase insurance coverage of Eargo hearing aids;

 • our ability to release new hearing aids and the anticipated features of any such hearing aids;

 • developments and projections relating to our competitors and our industry, including competing products;

 • our ability to maintain our competitive technological advantages against new entrants in our industry;

 • the pricing of our hearing aids;

 • our expectations regarding the ability to make certain claims related to the performance of our hearing aids relative to competitive
products;

 • our expectations with regard to changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices, including the implementation of the pending
over-the-counter hearing aid pathway regulatory framework;

 • our commercialization and marketing capabilities and expectations;

 • our relationships with, and the capabilities of, our component manufacturers, suppliers and freight carriers;

 • the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business and products and technology;

 • the scope of protection we are able to establish and maintain for intellectual property rights covering our products, including the projected
terms of patent protection;

 • our ability to effectively manage our growth;

 • our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act;

 • our estimates regarding the COVID-19 pandemic, including but not limited to, its duration and its impact on our business and results of
operations;

 • estimates of our expenses, future revenue, capital requirements, our needs for additional financing and our ability to obtain additional
capital; and

 • our future financial performance.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations, estimates, forecasts and projections about future events and
financial trends that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy and financial needs. In light of the significant
uncertainties in these forward-looking
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statements, you should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that we have a reasonable basis for
each forward-looking statement contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we cannot guarantee that the future results, levels of activity, performance
or events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur at all. You should refer to the section titled “Risk
Factors” for a discussion of important factors that may cause our actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by our forward-looking
statements. Furthermore, if our forward-looking statements prove to be inaccurate, the inaccuracy may be material. Except as required by law, we
undertake no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Overview

We are a medical device company dedicated to improving the quality of life of people with hearing loss. We developed the Eargo solution to create
a hearing aid that consumers actually want to use. Our innovative product and go-to-market approach address the major challenges of traditional hearing
aid adoption, including social stigma, accessibility and cost. We believe our Eargo hearing aids are the first and only virtually invisible, rechargeable,
completely-in-canal, FDA-regulated, exempt Class I and Class II devices for the treatment of hearing loss. Our rapid pace of innovation is enabled by our
deep industry and technical expertise across mechanical engineering, product design, audio processing, clinical and hearing science, consumer electronics
and embedded software design, and is supported by our strategic intellectual property portfolio. Our differentiated, consumer-first approach empowers
consumers to take control of their hearing by improving accessibility, with personalized, high-quality telecare-based hearing support from licensed hearing
professionals. We believe that our differentiated hearing aids, consumer-oriented approach and strong brand have fueled the rapid adoption of our products
and high customer satisfaction, as evidenced by over 60 thousand Eargo hearing aid systems sold, net of returns, as of December 31, 2020. We believe this
represents the beginning of our penetration into a large, growing and underserved market of people with hearing loss, which we estimate included
approximately 43 million adults in the United States and more than 465 million adults globally in 2019.

Hearing loss is a natural consequence of aging and has a significant impact on quality of life. Globally, hearing loss is one of the most prevalent
health conditions, and it is the third most common medical condition in the United States—more prevalent than both diabetes and cancer. As demographic
trends shift and people continue to live longer, we expect that the proportion of the population with hearing loss will continue to rise, further expanding this
already large market.

We estimate that in 2019, 37 million individuals over the age of 50 in the United States had mild to moderate hearing loss. Of these 37 million, our
initial marketing efforts are focused on individuals with annual incomes above the median household national average. We estimate that this group
consisted of approximately 14 million people and represented an initial target market of over $30 billion in 2019.

Age-related hearing loss in the United States is predominantly addressed by the use of FDA-regulated hearing aids. Despite the significant
individual and societal impact of hearing loss, we estimate only approximately 27% of the estimated approximately 43 million adults with hearing loss in
the United States in 2019 owned a hearing aid. We believe the low adoption and underserved nature of this market is a direct result of the limitations of and
stigma associated with traditional hearing aids and the cumbersome manner in which they are sold.

Hearing aids are traditionally distributed through a business-to-business model in which hearing aid manufacturers rely on a fragmented network of
independent hearing clinics to sell their devices to consumers. Purchasing a hearing aid through a clinic can be a lengthy, inconvenient and disempowering
process that generally requires a series of in-clinic appointments with a licensed hearing professional for assessment, fitting, programming, ongoing
adjustments and maintenance. We believe the separation of the manufacturer from the consumer is not necessary, adds an incremental layer of cost and has
contributed to the historical lack of innovation in this market, resulting in products that fail to meet consumer needs.

Designing hearing aids that offer high quality audio performance in a virtually invisible and comfortable form factor that address the needs of
consumers presents significant engineering challenges. These challenges have historically been difficult to reconcile in a single device, resulting in the
traditional landscape of products that reflect trade-offs between functionality, comfort, visibility and ease of use. Behind-the-ear devices represented
approximately 88% of hearing aids dispensed in the United States in 2019 but have a highly visible form factor that contributes to the stigma of hearing
loss and limits their adoption. The remaining approximately 12% of hearing aids dispensed in 2019 were in-the-ear devices that are less visible but can
occlude or obstruct the ear canal causing discomfort. Additionally, in-the-ear devices require customization and generally require batteries that need to be
replaced, making them expensive and cumbersome to use.
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The COVID-19 pandemic thus far has largely resulted in favorable trends for our business. We believe that shelter-in-place restrictions and
increased reluctance of consumers to be exposed to the virus, particularly among older individuals that comprise a majority of the population needing
hearing aids, have increased the attractiveness to consumers of our hearing solution and our vertically integrated telecare model. We believe our model can
help consumers decrease their risk of potential exposure to COVID-19 by avoiding multiple trips to hearing aid clinics and close proximity to audiologists
and other individuals at such clinics, which are part of the traditional hearing aid sales model. The ongoing impact of COVID-19 depends on the duration
and severity of the pandemic, which is difficult to assess or predict. While we have experienced growth in our sales volume during the COVID-19
pandemic, we cannot be certain whether we will maintain the current level of demand for our hearing aids, and the ongoing impact of COVID-19 could be
substantially different than what we have experienced to date.

We believe our hearing aids and consumer-centric approach, which we refer to collectively as our Eargo solution, address many of the drawbacks
of the traditional hearing aid market. The primary benefits of our solution include the following:

 • Virtually invisible: Our hearing aids fit completely in the ear canal and are virtually invisible, allowing our customers to avoid the stigma
associated with visible hearing aids.

 • Comfort and performance: Our proprietary and patented technology allows our hearing aids to be suspended in the ear canal, offering a
comfortable “open fit” that does not fully block or occlude the ear canal while still providing high quality audio.

 • Rechargeable:  Our hearing aids are rechargeable, eliminating the need for battery replacement.

 • Ease of use: Our hearing aids feature an intuitive design that allows for multiple sound profiles, easy “on the go” personalization and
convenient storage.

 • Empowering consumer-centric experience: We believe our personalized approach motivates consumers to take action and then guides them
along their hearing journey.

 • Accessible: We eliminate the need for cumbersome visits to the clinic by offering an easy-to-use purchasing interface and convenient
telecare-based access to a highly trained clinical support team consisting of licensed hearing professionals.

 • Affordable: Our vertically integrated, consumer-first model allows us to eliminate a layer of cost and offer our high-quality products at
prices that are approximately half the average cost of a pair of hearing aids purchased through traditional channels in the United States.

We designed the Eargo solution to provide significant advantages relative to traditional solutions for hearing loss and believe that the high level of
customer satisfaction that we have achieved demonstrates our strong value proposition.

We believe we are the first and only company to successfully address the technical challenges inherent in designing and commercializing a high
quality, comfortable, rechargeable, in-the-canal hearing aid. We have established a highly capable research and development organization with what we
believe is a rare combination of expertise in mechanical engineering, product design, audio processing, clinical and hearing science, consumer electronics
and embedded software design. In addition, we have strategic intellectual property protection in certain key areas. Our technical capabilities and
commitment to innovation have allowed us to deliver significant product enhancements on a rapid development timeline, which in turn drives our
compelling new product roadmap.

We market and sell our hearing aids directly to consumers with a personalized, consumer-centric approach. Our commercial organization consists
of a talented marketing team with deep experience in consumer-focused brand and performance marketing, a team of inside sales consultants and a
dedicated customer support team of licensed hearing professionals. Our commercial organization is focused on accelerating customer adoption, improving
sales team productivity and increasing brand awareness. Going forward, we also plan to selectively pursue omni-channel opportunities and international
expansion initiatives that are accretive to our customer acquisition strategy and that provide consumers additional means to access our solution.
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Our competitive strengths

We believe the following competitive strengths are essential to our mission of empowering consumers to take control of their hearing and will
support our goal of penetrating the large population of individuals with untreated hearing loss:

 • Highly differentiated product: We developed the Eargo solution with the goal of creating a hearing aid that consumers want to use. We
believe our hearing aids are the first and only rechargeable, completely-in-canal, FDA-regulated, exempt Class I and Class II devices for
the treatment of hearing loss. In an industry that has historically seen minimal user-focused innovation, we put the consumer first and
designed a hearing aid that addresses the major drawbacks associated with traditional hearing aids. Our hearing aids are virtually invisible,
comfortable, rechargeable and affordable and provide high quality audio. The latest generations of our hearing aids, the Eargo Neo and the
Eargo Neo HiFi, also offer a companion mobile app which allows for easy customization.

 • Transformative consumer-centric business model: We designed a differentiated, consumer-first business model to empower the consumer
and improve the accessibility and affordability of high-quality hearing support. We currently market and sell our hearing aids directly to
consumers with a personalized approach that we believe motivates them to take action and then guides them along their hearing journey.
By delivering customer care similar to the traditional sales channel but more efficiently, we believe our business model addresses legacy
industry challenges surrounding customer experience, convenience and cost. We also believe our consumer-first model enables us to scale
our business and efficiently reach the large population of individuals with untreated hearing loss.

 • Personalized customer experience and support: We prioritize the customer experience throughout every stage of the hearing journey. Prior
to their purchase, we approach our prospective customers with empowering, supportive messaging and provide them with direct access to
our highly trained sales consultants who collaborate with them on how to best to address their hearing challenges. From time to time and as
requested by a prospective customer, we provide a pre-sales telecare visit with one of our licensed hearing professionals. Once a customer
purchases our Eargo system, our licensed hearing professionals provide convenient telecare-based clinical support for as long as they own
their device. We believe that this premium support is highly differentiated and contributes to our strong customer ratings.

 • Multi-faceted marketing expertise: Our marketing efforts are focused on generating brand awareness and demand for our Eargo solution. In
a category that has historically been associated with limited brand awareness, we have developed a sophisticated brand-building strategy
focused on consumer empowerment. We have also developed a robust technology and data-driven marketing platform that utilizes business
intelligence, key performance metrics, machine learning and other marketing data to reinforce our growing brand recognition and to
identify demographics, behaviors and marketing channels most relevant to our target audience. As our user base grows, we expect to
further develop the capabilities of our marketing platform and continue to refine our brand building and customer targeting approach.

 • Robust technical, engineering and design expertise, supported by our strategic IP portfolio: We believe we are the first and only company
to successfully address the technical challenges inherent in designing and commercializing a high quality, comfortable, rechargeable, in-
the-canal hearing aid. Development of our products requires a rare combination of expertise in mechanical engineering, product design,
audio processing, clinical and hearing science, consumer electronics and embedded software design. Our technical capabilities and
commitment to innovation have allowed us to deliver product enhancements on a rapid development timeline to support a compelling new
product roadmap that we believe will continue to differentiate our position over the next several years. Since 2017, we have launched four
generations of our hearing aids, with each iteration having improved audio performance, physical fit and/or comfort. As of December 31,
2020, we had 22 issued U.S. patents, 16 patents outside the United States, 4 pending U.S. patent applications and 10 pending foreign patent
applications that cover key aspects of our Eargo solution and future product concepts.

 • Proven management team with deep industry expertise: Our senior management team consists of public company industry professionals
with deep commercial experience and expertise across various
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 disciplines, including audiology, medical technology, business building, consumer marketing, manufacturing, design and engineering.
Since our founding, we have built a culture of innovation driven by deep passion for empowering consumers to take control of their
hearing.

Overview of hearing loss

Globally, hearing loss impacted more than 465 million people in 2019. In the United States, we estimate there were approximately 43 million
adults with hearing loss in 2019, making it the third most common medical condition and more prevalent than both diabetes and cancer.

As demonstrated below, hearing loss increases with age and reflects the natural and gradual progression of hearing deterioration that occurs in most
people as they age. In the United States, we estimate approximately 34% of people over the age of 50 and nearly two-thirds of people over the age of 70
experienced difficulty hearing in 2019. As demographic trends shift and people live longer, we expect that the proportion of the population with hearing
loss will continue to rise.

43 MILLION ADULTS WITH HEARING LOSS IN THE UNITED STATES
 

Hearing Loss Prevalence by Severity Hearing Loss Prevalence by Severity and Age

  
Sources:
Lin, F. R., Niparko, J. K., & Ferrucci, L. (2011). Hearing Loss Prevalence in the United States. Archives of Internal
Medicine, 171(20), 1851– 1852.
Prevalence of Hearing Loss by Severity in the United States, Adele M. Goman, PhD, and Frank R. Lin, MD, PhD, 2016
U.S. Census International Database https://www.census.gov/data-tools/demo/idb/region.php?
T=13&RT=0&A=both&Y=2020&C=US&R=

 

 
Hearing loss may be characterized as mild, moderate, severe or profound, depending on how loud sounds need to be for an individual to hear. In

the United States, approximately 6% of the hearing impaired population is characterized as having severe or profound hearing loss, while the moderate and
mild segments represent approximately 28% and 66% of this population, respectively.

Hearing loss can significantly impact quality of life. Hearing loss can make it more difficult to work or interact with family and friends, leading to
feelings of isolation, depression and increased stress. According to a study published in the Journal of the American Medical Association, hearing loss has
been linked to accelerated cognitive decline. The World Health Organization estimates that unaddressed hearing loss poses an annual global cost of
approximately $750 billion. As global populations become older, we believe the burden of hearing loss will continue to rise.
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Traditional alternatives for the treatment of hearing loss

Traditional product landscape

Hearing loss in the United States is typically addressed by the use of FDA-regulated hearing aids. To be functional for daily use, hearing aids must
be engineered with a form factor that is portable, long-lasting, comfortable and discreet. These challenges have historically been difficult to reconcile in a
single device, resulting in the traditional landscape of products that reflect trade-offs between functionality, comfort, visibility and ease of use. Behind-the-
ear devices represent approximately 88% of hearing aids dispensed in the United States in 2019 but have a highly visible form factor that contributes to the
stigma of hearing loss and limits their adoption. The remaining approximately 12% of hearing aids dispensed in 2019 are in-the-ear devices that are less
visible but can occlude or obstruct the ear canal, causing discomfort. Generally, in-the-ear devices are also not rechargeable and require batteries that need
to be replaced, making them cumbersome to use. Due in part to these limitations, hearing aids are significantly underutilized in the hearing-impaired
population. In 2019, of the estimated approximately 43 million adults with hearing loss in the United States, only approximately 27% owned a hearing aid.

The table below illustrates the primary features of traditional hearing aids.
 

 
* Represents estimated average retail costs per pair of hearing aids sold through traditional channels in the United States. Hearing aids with custom features that reduce device visibility or improve comfort can retail for significantly more than the

industry average

In addition to FDA-regulated hearing aids, consumers can purchase personal sound amplification products, or PSAPs. PSAPs are primarily sound
amplification devices that lack the audio quality, noise reduction and feedback cancellation technology of FDA-regulated hearing aids. While PSAPs are
broadly available in consumer electronics stores and online at relatively affordable price points, the FDA does not currently recognize them as a treatment
for hearing loss, instead describing PSAPs as “devices that increase environmental sounds for non-hearing impaired consumers.” The FDA Reauthorization
Act of 2017, or FDARA, created a new category of over-the-counter, or OTC, hearing aids that are intended to be available without the involvement of a
licensed practitioner, and it is possible that some PSAPs could become OTC hearing aids under the new framework if they satisfy applicable requirements.
Despite the deadline in FDARA for the FDA to issue proposed regulations to implement the OTC hearing aid pathway by August 18, 2020, the FDA has
not yet issued a notice of proposed rulemaking or indicated how it will implement this pathway.

Traditional sales and distribution channel

Hearing aids have traditionally been sold through a business-to-business model in which hearing aid manufacturers rely on a fragmented network
of independent hearing clinics to sell their devices to consumers. Purchasing a hearing aid through a clinic generally requires a series of appointments with
a licensed hearing professional for assessment, fitting, programming and ongoing adjustments. In 2018, there were approximately 18,800 licensed hearing
professionals in the United States. We believe the separation of the manufacturer from the
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consumer is not necessary, adds an incremental layer of cost and has contributed to the historical lack of innovation in this market, resulting in products that
fail to meet consumer needs.

Traditional consumer journey

Market research indicates that approximately six to seven years pass between the time that the average hearing aid user in the United States first
acknowledges their hearing loss and when they first purchase a hearing aid. Once consumers decide to seek help, they are often referred by an ear-nose-
throat physician or general practitioner to a licensed hearing care professional. The licensed hearing care professional performs a hearing test, recommends
a hearing device and then performs fitting procedures which often require multiple visits.

Hearing aids are typically sold as a part of a bundled package that includes the device itself, the audiology exam and related services. Further, there
is limited transparency at the consumer level, and the end-user price generally includes the overhead cost and profit margin for the hearing clinic in
addition to the cost of the device and audiology services.

Following purchase, traditional hearing aids typically require programming and adjustments by the licensed hearing care professional, resulting in
additional in-person follow-up visits. Throughout this lengthy process, which can take weeks or even months, the consumer is reliant on the licensed
hearing care professional for education and support. Despite the high touch nature of the selling process and extensive level of customization, hearing aids
are often returned due to issues related to comfort, fit, functionality and aesthetics.

Limitations of traditional alternatives for the treatment of hearing loss

We believe the limitations of traditional hearing aids and the manner in which they are sold today are the primary reasons that approximately 73%
of the estimated approximately 43 million adults in the United States in 2019 with hearing loss did not own a hearing aid. These limitations include the
following:

Product limitations

 • Visible, aesthetically unattractive devices: Because the behind the ear form factor generally enables the device to amplify sound without
occluding the ear canal, approximately 88% of hearing aids dispensed in 2019 were visible behind-the-ear devices. While in-the-ear and in-
the-canal devices are designed to be less obvious, the device is still noticeable. We believe that a significant portion of individuals with
hearing loss find the idea of wearing visible hearing aids stigmatizing. According to the Northstar Survey, a market survey of 2,200 adults
over the age of 45 in the United States commissioned by us and conducted by NORTHSTAR Research Partners (USA) LLC in March and
September 2019, nearly 70% of U.S. adults over 45 viewed invisibility as extremely or very important.

 • Occlusion causing discomfort for the wearer: Devices located in the ear canal can address the challenge of visibility; however, they either
fully or partially block the ear canal. This occlusion causes physical discomfort and poor sound quality for the wearer. The Northstar
Survey indicated that over 90% of existing and prospective hearing aid users view comfort and sound quality as extremely or very
important. We believe that this helps explain why only approximately 12% of hearing aids dispensed in 2019 were in-the-ear or
completely-in-canal devices.

 • Battery changing hassle: Traditional hearing aids can be frustrating to use, with tiny batteries and battery doors, screws and buttons that are
difficult to manipulate, especially for older individuals. According to the Northstar Survey, over 80% of individuals who have recently
experienced hearing difficulty cited the ability to recharge a hearing aid as extremely or very important.

Channel limitations

 • Disempowering consumer experience: We believe the traditional industry business model does not lend itself to consumer awareness, and
that consumers may feel like patients with limited autonomy in the process, as opposed to empowered consumers making a purchasing
decision. Hearing clinics exercise a
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 fair degree of influence over product availability, such that consumers may not be presented with a full range of product choices or be
informed about the benefits and drawbacks of each product. In fact, most of hearing aid users do not know the brand name of their device.

 • Inconvenient, cumbersome process: The traditional business-to-business channel has faced limited competition and disruption, and there
has been little investment in the consumer experience. The entire process from obtaining a hearing aid through programming and
adjustments is lengthy and can take multiple weeks and up to several months of in-person hearing clinic visits. This process is cumbersome
and ultimately results in limited consumer satisfaction.

 • High cost: The cost of traditional hearing aids reflects the multi-layer distribution channel through which they are sold. The consumer price
includes the cost of the device itself and a profit margin for the manufacturer as well as the overhead cost and profit margin for the hearing
clinic. The average retail cost of a pair of hearing aids sold through traditional channels in the United States is estimated to be $4,600,
making them approximately twice the average price of our hearing aids. Further, hearing aids with custom features that reduce device
visibility or improve comfort can retail for significantly more than the industry average. In addition, approximately 87% of the Northstar
Survey respondents in September 2019 indicated that price was extremely or very important.

 • COVID-19 barriers: We believe the recent emergence of COVID-19 has made the process of obtaining a hearing aid through traditional
channels more cumbersome given the additional precautions hearing clinics and consumers have taken as a result of COVID-19, as well as
shelter-in-place and other government mandates. The number of hearing aid units sold through traditional channels in the United States
decreased approximately 59% year-over-year during the second quarter of 2020, according to statistics generated by Hearing Industries
Association. According to a survey conducted by The Hearing Review in May 2020, while approximately 75% of audiology clinics in the
United States and Canada were accepting patient visits as of May 2020, most were experiencing significant revenue declines compared to
pre-COVID-19 levels. Despite this, the survey found that only 8% of clinics planned to use telecare methods to acquire new patients.

The Eargo solution

We are passionate about helping people hear better. We are on a mission to change the way the world thinks about hearing loss.

Since our inception, our founding principle has been to dramatically improve the consumer experience at every step of the hearing care journey.
Our products, customer support and marketing messaging are a direct result of that passion. We believe our model can shift the paradigm in the treatment
of hearing loss for the ultimate benefit of consumers.

Our products

Our Eargo hearing aids combine proprietary technology, engineering know-how and design expertise to offer high-quality performance in an in-
the-canal form factor that makes them virtually invisible. Our in-the-canal devices feature high quality audio, are designed to provide up to 16 hours of
battery life and have proprietary Flexi Fibers or Flexi Palms, which are designed to enable the unit to comfortably “float” in the ear canal allowing air and
sound to pass freely around them. Eargo hearing aids are designed for ease of use and maintenance and to fit a majority of the population, and are
rechargeable. In addition, Eargo hearing aids are highly customizable, allowing our users to cycle through four different sound profiles, which include
different features such as amplification and noise levels while on-the-go to accommodate different ambient noise environments. We currently offer three
versions of our hearing aids, the Eargo Max, the Eargo Neo and the Eargo Neo HiFi, at three different price points to provide customers with choices on
cost and functionality. Our hearing aids also come with a portable charging case, and the Eargo Neo and Eargo Neo HiFi offer connectivity via a Bluetooth-
enabled charging case and the Eargo mobile app.
 

Eargo Neo HiFi Hearing Aids with Charging Case Eargo Neo HiFi Hearing Aid in Ear
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Eargo Neo HiFi Hearing Aid in Ear

 

Our business model and consumer journey

We employ a differentiated, consumer-first business model to empower the consumer and improve the accessibility and affordability of high-
quality hearing aids. We currently market and sell our hearing aids directly to consumers with a personalized approach that we believe helps motivate them
to take action and then guides them along their hearing journey.

We engage consumers through a mix of digital and traditional marketing that is designed to appeal to prospective customers on a personal level and
build our brand. Our data-driven approach to reaching consumers has allowed us to identify and target key demographics and purchasing behaviors of our
most relevant audience, and we constantly refine our approach to most efficiently reach this audience. Our empowering messaging and sophisticated
marketing strategy have helped contribute to over 60 thousand hearing aids sold, net of returns, as of December 31, 2020.

In addition to providing information about our products, we encourage prospective customers to learn about their hearing condition and provide
free educational resources to help them make informed decisions. While a hearing test is not necessary to purchase an Eargo hearing aid, we offer an
online, do-it-yourself hearing screen for prospective customers who are interested in an assessment. We believe this is an empowering experiential journey
for the consumer as they are able to learn at their own pace and comfort.

Once a potential customer has expressed interest in our Eargo solution, by completing a form or otherwise contacting us, one of our sales
consultants will contact them directly. Our sales consultants are highly trained inside salespeople who collaborate with the consumer on how best to address
their hearing loss challenges and determine whether the Eargo hearing solution is appropriate for them.
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Customers are able to complete their purchase over the phone with their sales consultant or directly on our website, without the need to navigate
multiple visits to the hearing clinic for tests and fittings. Importantly, potential customers are not required to have a hearing test to order the Eargo hearing
solution, which simplifies the purchasing experience and improves the accessibility of hearing aids relative to the traditional hearing clinic channel. In
addition, Eargo provides insurance claims processing for consumers, eliminating in most cases the need for consumers to interface with their insurance
providers. Further, we offer a 45-day trial period.

We offer three products, the Eargo Max, Eargo Neo and the Eargo Neo HiFi, which range in price from $1,850 to $2,950, and we provide
consumers with the option to utilize insurance coverage, pay the full cost up-front or enroll in a convenient, third-party monthly financing program that
makes our products even more accessible. The Eargo hearing solution is then shipped and arrives in less than three business days on average.

Once a customer makes their purchase they are assigned to one of our licensed hearing professionals, who provides complimentary, convenient
clinical support by phone, chat or email. All of our hearing professionals are licensed by recognized third parties. Once a customer receives their Eargo
hearing solution, their licensed hearing professional will schedule a welcome call to ensure the proper use of the Eargo solution. In 2020, more than 80% of
our customers completed a welcome call with one of our licensed hearing professionals. Our licensed hearing professionals and customer care team are also
available to provide unlimited support for as long as the customer owns the device. We also provide short, online training videos and additional resources
that customers can access online. The combination of these services allows us to deliver telecare-based clinical support in an efficient and streamlined
manner without the burden of in-clinic visits.
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Key advantages of our solution

We believe the Eargo hearing solution offers the following advantages relative to traditional hearing aids:

Product advantages

 • Virtually invisible: Unlike the majority of hearing aids which sit behind-the-ear, the Eargo hearing solution fits completely in-the-canal and
is virtually invisible, allowing our customers to avoid the stigma that is associated with visible hearing aids.

 • Comfort and performance: Our proprietary Flexi Fibers and Flexi Palms allow Eargo hearing aids to be suspended in the ear canal and
provide a comfortable “open fit” that does not fully block or occlude the ear canal while still providing high quality audio.

 • Rechargeable: Our hearing aids are rechargeable, offering up to 16 hours of battery life and eliminating the need for battery replacement.
Our Eargo hearing solution comes with a discreet, portable charger case that provides up to seven days’ worth of charge and easily fits into
a purse or pocket so customers can charge on-the-go. It takes approximately two hours to recharge the charger case. The charger case
recharges the hearing aids to approximately two hours of use time in 30 minutes and fully recharges the hearing aids in approximately six
hours.

 • Ease of use: Our Eargo system features an intuitive design that is similar in quality to many high-end consumer electronics and allows users
to cycle through four different sound profiles, which include different features such as amplification and noise reduction levels while on-
the-go to accommodate different ambient noise environments. Our Eargo Neo and Eargo Neo HiFi also offer customers a companion
mobile app that pairs with their device and helps them easily personalize their Eargo hearing aids to fit their needs.

Channel advantages

 • Empowering consumer-centric experience: We have developed an empowering consumer-centric experience that encourages consumers to
take action and then guides them along their hearing journey. Additionally, we have built a data set and sophisticated marketing
infrastructure to deliver our message
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 in a highly targeted manner utilizing digital and traditional marketing channels. We empower consumers by offering free online education,
convenient consultation, the ability to easily purchase the Eargo system and fast delivery.

 • Accessible: With our innovative go-to-market model, we eliminate the need for cumbersome visits to the hearing clinic which
inconvenience and may disempower the consumer. We offer all of our customers convenient telecare-based access to a highly trained
clinical support team consisting of licensed hearing professionals. With the Eargo Neo and Eargo Neo HiFi, our clinical support specialists
are able to wirelessly personalize Eargo settings for our customers.

 • Affordable: Our vertically integrated, consumer-first model allows us to eliminate a layer of cost and offer our high-quality products at
prices that are approximately half the average cost of a pair of hearing aids purchased through traditional channels in the United States.

 • Decreased COVID-19 exposure: Without the need to physically visit a clinic, we believe our model can help Eargo customers reduce their
risk of contracting COVID-19 when acquiring an Eargo hearing aid. We believe the pandemic has accelerated the pace of consumer
awareness of our vertically integrated telecare model, and we are further investing in our business to build this leadership position.

We designed the Eargo solution to provide significant advantages relative to traditional solutions for hearing loss and believe that the high level of
customer satisfaction that we have achieved demonstrates our strong value proposition.

Growth drivers

We believe we are transforming the hearing aid market and are working to establish the Eargo solution as the preferred approach to the treatment of
hearing loss. We seek to achieve this goal by converting existing hearing aid users to the Eargo solution and attracting consumers who have historically
chosen not to wear hearing aids. Our growth strategies include:

 • Accelerate consumer adoption: We operate in a large, underpenetrated market. We have sold, net of returns, over 60 thousand Eargo
hearing aids as of December 31, 2020, which reflects less than 1% penetration of our estimated addressable market opportunity in the
United States. We plan to grow our base of customers by efficiently investing in marketing targeted at the approximately 14 million people
in the United States over the age of 50 with mild to moderate hearing loss who have annual household income above the national median in
2019. Our commercial strategy is focused on driving customers to our website by optimizing our mix of digital and traditional media, and
increasing our customer conversion.

 • Optimize customer mix: Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2019, we began targeting a more diverse mix of consumers, including those with
hearing aid health insurance benefits and repeat customers. We believe consumers with hearing aid insurance benefits typically convert at
higher rates and return their devices at lower rates, due in part to having reduced or, in some cases, no out of pocket cost for an Eargo
hearing aid. We believe repeat customers also have an attractive conversion and return profile due to their high satisfaction with Eargo.
This more optimized mix of customers across cash pay, insurance and repeat categories has resulted in a lower overall customer acquisition
cost. We believe this strategy has the potential to further improve the efficiency of our sales and marketing spend.

 • Improve sales team productivity: Our sales consultants leverage the powerful lead generation capabilities of our digital marketing platform,
enabling them to be substantially more productive than traditional hearing care professionals working at hearing clinics. As demand
accelerates, we believe we have an opportunity to further increase the productivity of our sales organization. To do so, we are leveraging
data-driven insights to iterate our sales tactics and create incentive programs and promotional offers, each with the goal of increasing
inbound lead conversions. We also see an opportunity to nurture long-term relationships with our customers to drive repeat purchases and
increase their lifetime value.

 • Introduce new, innovative products: Since 2017, we have launched four generations of our hearing aids, each adding significant
performance and technical enhancements. We are focused on continuing to launch new versions of the Eargo hearing solution that further
improve audio quality, amplification, fit,
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 comfort and ease-of-use. According to market data, a substantial portion of traditional hearing aid purchases are by repeat customers. As of
December 31, 2020, over 16 thousand of our hearing aids systems sold, net of returns, were either Plus or Max systems that are over two
years old. We began actively advertising to these customers for repeat purchases, which has contributed to our growth in gross systems
shipped and revenues in 2020. We believe our product roadmap will drive adoption by new customers and encourage repeat purchases by
existing customers.

 • Selectively pursue omni-channel opportunities: We believe there are numerous omni-channel opportunities that could provide access to
additional channels and accelerate our customer acquisition growth. Some of these include partnering with retailers, pharmacies, payors
and other consumer-oriented healthcare companies with similar customer demographics.

 • Expand internationally: We believe the Eargo solution offers a compelling value proposition for consumers with hearing loss worldwide. In
the future, we anticipate selectively expanding our commercial efforts to the large population of individuals with mild to moderate high-
frequency hearing loss outside of the United States.

Our commercial strategy

We designed a differentiated, consumer-first business model to empower the consumer and improve the accessibility and affordability of high-
quality hearing aids. We currently market and sell our hearing aids directly to consumers with a personalized approach that we believe motivates them to
take action and then guides them along their hearing journey.

Brand awareness and demand generation

Our consumer-first marketing efforts are focused on generating brand awareness and demand for the Eargo solution. We are working to further
establish Eargo as a recognizable brand name in an industry traditionally characterized by large manufacturers generally lacking brand recognition. We
believe we can achieve this by running empowering advertisements that are designed to appeal to prospective customers on a personal level. We seek to
raise interest levels in potential customers who have not been motivated by the uninspiring messaging in the traditional channel and attract interested
consumers who have not yet purchased a hearing aid due to the limitations of the traditional channel. We then nurture these potential customer relationships
with educational marketing campaigns that are intended to develop comfort and familiarity with our brand.

We also acquire customers that are interested in hearing aids through marketing channels such as paid search, social media and native advertising
and draw them to our website with landing pages where they can learn more about us, submit their contact information for phone-based follow-up or
purchase immediately.

Sales and customer service process and infrastructure

Our differentiated marketing and messaging is supported by a high touch, efficient team of professionals that guides the consumer through the
journey of addressing their hearing loss with a personalized and consultative approach. We frequently review feedback and data our consumers provide to
work to improve the customer experience.

Consultative inside sales force

We have an efficient, effective, centralized, sales force consisting of 55 sales consultants as of December 31, 2020. Our sales consultants act as
advisors and work with the customer to understand their needs. We sell our hearing solution directly through our online store and through phone
conversations with our sales consultants, which enables them to work with substantially more customers than traditional hearing care professionals in a
clinic setting. In addition, from time to time and as requested by a prospective customer, we provide a pre-sales telecare visit with one of our licensed
hearing professionals.
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Convenient professional support for as long as the customer owns the device

Once a customer makes their purchase, they are assigned to one of our licensed hearing professionals who provides convenient clinical support by
phone, online chat or email for the life of the product. Our licensed hearing professionals include audiologists with degrees in audiology and speech-
language science, professionals with board certifications in hearing aid science and other professionals licensed for the treatment of hearing loss. After a
customer receives their Eargo hearing aids, one of our licensed hearing professionals will initiate a welcome call to help ensure the proper use of the Eargo
hearing aids. Our licensed hearing professionals and customer care team are also available to provide unlimited support for as long as the customer owns
the device. We also provide short, online training videos and additional online resources that customers can access.

We believe this consultative approach and ongoing support is key to developing strong customer relationships, increasing brand affinity and
improving the lifetime value of customers. As of December 31, 2020, we employed 42 licensed hearing professionals.

Technical capabilities

In designing the Eargo hearing solution, we set out to offer a differentiated product with a compelling value proposition to the consumer centered
on the ability to offer high quality audio performance in a virtually invisible and comfortable form factor, which poses significant engineering challenges.

To address these challenges, we have established proprietary capabilities in the critical aspects of hearing aid design. We believe our distinct
combination of engineering and design know-how coupled with intellectual property protection in certain key areas, enables us to offer an attractive,
virtually invisible hearing aid while maintaining high quality audio performance.

 • Multi-channel compression in miniaturized form factor: High-fidelity multichannel compression is critical to hearing aid performance. A
high-fidelity multichannel compression system dynamically amplifies the distinct acoustics of everyday life in a differentiated manner
based on the frequency of the incoming sound. This ensures that the hearing aid offers comfortable and appropriate hearing support for the
full range of everyday activities and sounds. While many hearing aid manufacturers have achieved this in behind-the-ear devices, to
achieve this objective on a miniaturized platform that provides up to 16 hours of battery life requires ultra-low power integrated circuits
and knowledge of assembly language programming on integrated circuits, which is becoming a rare skillset.

 • Acoustic feedback cancellation: One of the primary challenges in audio signal processing for hearing aids that are located in the ear canal is
acoustic feedback due to the close proximity of the microphone and the receiver. To address this, we have incorporated an adaptive
feedback cancellation, or FBC, system. The most important figure to compare FBC systems is added stable gain, which reflects the
increase in amplification gain that is afforded by the FBC system without added feedback or degraded sound quality. Our added stable gain
of 24 dB compares to an added stable gain of approximately 20 decibels for an “open-fit” receiver-in-canal hearing aid.

 • Open canal design eliminating full occlusion: Our virtually invisible form factor requires the close collaboration of clinicians and engineers
to achieve acoustic performance while limiting canal occlusion and maintaining ear health. Our proprietary and patented Flexi Fibers and
Flexi Palms are a soft, medical-grade silicone web that allows our hearing aids to be suspended in the ear canal allowing for an “open fit”
that offers high quality sound and comfort while staying firmly in place. Our engineers and clinicians play a critical role in improving the
fit, migration, comfort and occlusion with each design iteration.

We believe that the combination of technical capabilities and our innovative data driven approach to consumer-first marketing are a distinct
competitive advantage for us in penetrating our target market.

Our products

We developed the Eargo solution to create a hearing aid that consumers actually want to use. We believe our hearing aids are the first and only
rechargeable, completely-in-canal, FDA regulated, exempt Class I or Class II
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devices for the treatment of hearing loss. We currently offer three versions of our Eargo solution, the Eargo Max, the Eargo Neo and the Eargo Neo HiFi, at
three different price points to provide customers with choices on cost and functionality.

Our Eargo products consist of the following: Eargo hearing aids, our proprietary Flexi Fibers or Flexi Palms depending on the hearing aid, our
portable charger case and, with the Eargo Neo and Eargo Neo HiFi, tech-enabled through the Eargo mobile app.

 • Eargo hearing aids: Our hearing aids combine advanced technology, engineering and design to offer high-quality performance in an in-the-
canal form factor that makes them virtually invisible. We have ultra-low-power integrated circuitry and advanced audio processing
algorithms which enable high-quality audio, while preserving up to 16 hours of battery life. Our hearing aids are highly customizable,
allowing our users to cycle through four different sound profiles, low to high amplification, while on the go to accommodate different
ambient noise environments.

 • Proprietary Flexi Fibers and Flexi Palms: Our proprietary Flexi Fibers and Flexi Palms, which are included as part of our hearing aids and
can also be purchased separately, allow our hearing aids to be suspended in the ear canal providing an “open fit” that offers high quality
sound and comfort while staying firmly in place. Our Flexi Fibers and Flexi Palms are made of a soft, medical-grade silicone and are
designed to flex for comfortable, full day wear. Flexi Fibers and Flexi Palms are removable, allowing for simple cleaning, and we offer
several sizes with each shipment to accommodate individuals with different size ear canals.

 • Portable charger case: Each set of Eargo hearing aids comes with a discreet, portable charger case that provides up to seven days’ worth of
charge and easily fits into a purse or pocket. It takes approximately two hours to recharge the charger case and only approximately 30
minutes for the hearing aids to recharge within the case while on-the-go to provide up to two hours of additional use. Our charger case is
designed to be discreet, while also protecting the hearing aids and maximizing airflow so that they dry while charging.

 • Eargo mobile app: Our Eargo Neo and Eargo Neo HiFi offer a companion mobile app that allows customers to control their device and
personalize their sound profiles. When paired with the charging case, customers can also wirelessly receive personalized sound settings
based on their usage and preferences directly from our licensed hearing professionals.

Research and development

We are committed to ongoing research and development. As of December 31, 2020, our research and development organization included 67
individuals with expertise in mechanical engineering, product design, electrical engineering, systems engineering, audio processing, clinical and hearing
science and embedded software design. Our technical capabilities and commitment to innovation have allowed us to deliver significant product
enhancements on a rapid development timeline, which we believe has helped us to support a compelling new product roadmap.

Our current research and development efforts are focused on developing future generations of our Eargo solution with increased functionality and
audio output, improved in-ear fit, reduced cost of goods, better connectivity and enhanced machine learning.

Comparative electroacoustic benchmarking tests

In October 2019, we conducted a series of comparative electroacoustic benchmarking tests, or the Bench Study, to compare our Eargo Neo hearing
aid with hearing aids from three major manufacturers: the Starkey Livio AI 2400, the Phonak Audeo Marvel M90, and the Resound Linx Quattro 5, all
behind-the-ear style hearing aids with receiver-in-the-canal.
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The goal of the Bench Study was to conduct electroacoustic benchmarking tests to determine whether the hearing aids tested were able to amplify
sounds appropriately to improve speech audibility while maintaining adequate sound quality.

Our results indicated that both our Eargo Neo hearing aid and the other hearing aids we tested met or exceeded the identified benchmarks for sound
quality and amplification to improve speech audibility. We believe the results of the Bench Study are useful to investors because they provide information
regarding the comparability of our Eargo Neo hearing aid to the other hearing aids tested with respect to the identified benchmarks.

Summary of Bench Study design

We designed the Bench Study to use industry standard tests developed by the American National Standards Institute, or ANSI, the American
organization that manages the voluntary standards system for electroacoustic tests.

In addition, we evaluated the ability of each hearing aid in the Bench Study to make speech more understandable using another industry standard
test called the Speech Intelligibility Index, or SII.

The measurements were performed by two of our employees who are licensed audiologists using two different hearing aid test systems. One model
of each device was utilized for testing. The results were then compared for discrepancies. If there were no major discrepancies, the better result of the two
measures was used. If major discrepancies between the results existed, we performed both measures again. We defined a major discrepancy as the device
meeting the identified standards in one test system but failing to meet the identified standards on the other system.

Coupling using a 2cc coupler and placement of devices was used in accordance with ANSI S3.22-2009 specifications. Measurements were then
taken with devices at either full-on-gain (FOG) or reference-test-setting (RTS) in accordance with ANSI standards.

In order to determine what qualified as a good result, we reviewed recent research and used what we believe to be the most cited standards in the
hearing aid industry as our benchmarks:

• Frequency range: The frequency range should include 250 to 6000 Hz to cover the complete range of speech. Covering this large range of frequencies
is important to appropriately amplify speech sounds.

• Speech Intelligibility Index: The device should provide appropriate amplification for a specific hearing loss, as determined by the Audioscan Verifit test
system. We chose a typical moderate hearing loss for this test.

• Total harmonic distortion: The distortion level should be below 3% for all frequencies tested in order to amplify sound and speech with acceptable
accuracy.

• Equivalent input noise: The level of noise should be below 28 dB sound press level, or SPL. A low noise level means that the hearing aid can provide
an acceptably clean sound to the listener.
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Results

Frequency range

All devices tested met the acceptable frequency range, amplifying frequencies in a range of at least 250Hz to 6,000Hz as demonstrated in Graph 1
below.
 

Graph 1. Frequency range results

Speech Intelligibility Index

All devices tested had an acceptable SII, as demonstrated in Graph 2 below. Each bar in the graph represents the SII score for each input level, and
the horizontal lines represent the minimum scores required adequate speech intelligibility. All tested devices met or exceeded the minimum requirement.
 

Graph 2. Speech Intelligibility Index results
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Total harmonic distortion

All devices tested had a low level of total harmonic distortion, with each reporting less than 3% as demonstrated in Graph 3 below.
 

Graph 3. Total Harmonic Distortion results

Equivalent input noise

Equivalent input noise levels were good, with each device reporting less than 28 dB SPL, as demonstrated in Graph 4 below.
 

Graph 4. Equivalent Input noise results

Product roadmap

We are continuously innovating and have released four new generations of our Eargo solution since 2017. Our current iteration of the Eargo
hearing solution, Neo HiFi, provides improved Flexi Palms and improved capabilities across audio fidelity and bandwidth. We launched Neo HiFi in
January 2020 and anticipate launching our next generation hearing aid in the first half of 2021.

We anticipate that future generations of our solution will offer further improved fit and acoustic output with the capability for in-situ hearing
assessment and adjustment through connected hearing aids. We expect that future generations of our solution will also include increased water resistance
and have refurbishment capability. We believe this will advance the ability of our licensed hearing professionals to personalize our customers’ hearing
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solutions. Our development priorities are also focused on adding a refurbishment capability, which would benefit our gross margin.
 

 
Manufacturing

Our hearing aids are currently assembled by Hana, a contract manufacturer which is based in Thailand. We have a manufacturing services
agreement with Hana for the assembly and supply of our hearing aids, pursuant to which we make purchases on a purchase order basis. The manufacturing
services agreement was effective beginning on May 5, 2017 with an initial term of 12 months that automatically renews for additional 12 month periods.
The automatic renewals are subject to our right to terminate the agreement without cause by providing 120 days’ advance written notice, or Hana’s right to
terminate the agreement without cause by providing at least 12 months’ advance written notice.

We have entered into a manufacturing services agreement with a second manufacturer, Pegatron Corporation, or Pegatron, which is based in
Taiwan, for the manufacture of our next generation hearing aid, pursuant to which we make purchases on a purchase order basis. The manufacturing
services agreement was effective beginning on August 21, 2018 with an initial term of three years that automatically renews for additional one-year
periods. The automatic renewals are subject to either party’s right to terminate the agreement without cause by providing 30 days’ advance written notice.
Either party may terminate the agreement if the other party materially breaches the agreement and fails to cure the breach within 30 days after notice of
such breach from the terminating party.

We rely on several third-party suppliers for the components used in our hearing aids, including the batteries, integrated circuits, microphones and
receivers.

We believe that third-party facilities will be adequate to meet our current and anticipated manufacturing needs. We do not currently plan to
manufacture our hearing aids or any related components ourselves.

Manufacturing facilities that produce medical devices or their component parts intended for distribution world-wide are subject to regulation and
periodic unannounced inspection by the FDA and other domestic and international regulatory agencies. In the United States, any products we sell are
required to be manufactured in compliance with the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, which covers the methods used in, and the facilities used
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for, the design, testing, control, manufacturing, labeling, quality assurance, packaging, storage and shipping of our products.

The distribution of our hearing aids is handled directly through DCL Logistics, a third-party logistics provider. Our finished hearing aids are
shipped from Hana in Thailand to DCL Logistics in Louisville, Kentucky and are distributed from there to customers.

Seasonality

Prior to the effects of COVID-19, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience seasonality in our business, with higher sales volumes
in quarters when we launch new products and in the fourth calendar quarter as a result of holiday promotional activity.

Competition

We compete in the hearing aid market against manufacturers, clinics and retailers of hearing aids, other direct-to-consumer providers of hearing
aids and to a lesser extent, providers of personal sound amplification products (PSAPs). We believe that the primary competitive factors in the market are:

 • product quality and performance, including but not limited to, the size, sound quality, comfort, whether the batteries are rechargeable,
reliability and connectivity of the hearing aid;

 • customer purchasing experience;

 • visibility of hearing aid;

 • pricing;

 • product support and service;

 • effective marketing and education;

 • technological innovation, product enhancements and speed of innovation; and

 • sales and distribution capabilities.

After a period of industry consolidation, five manufacturers control a vast majority of the hearing aid industry today. These manufacturers include
GN Store Nord, Sonova, Starkey, William Demant and WS Audiology, all of which have established products and substantially greater financial, sales and
marketing, manufacturing and development resources than we possess. In addition to these manufacturers, we also compete against hearing clinics and
retailers, such as Costco. Costco sells its Kirkland Signature label behind-the-ear hearing aids in store and also sells behind-the-ear, in-the-ear and in-the-
canal hearing aids under the Philips, Phonak, ReSound and Rexton brands, each at various price points. We also compete against other direct-to-consumer
hearing aid providers such as Audicus and Lively, which, similar to our business model, allow consumers to purchase hearing aids without visiting a clinic
and provide remote support for their products.

Our competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or
customer requirements. Considering the resources and advantages that our competitors maintain, even if our technology and consumer-first distribution
strategy is more effective than the technology and distribution strategy of our competitors, current or potential customers might accept competitor products
in lieu of purchasing our products. We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as existing companies and competitors develop new
or improved products and distribution strategies and as new companies enter the market with new technologies and distribution strategies. We may not be
able to compete effectively against these organizations. Our ability to compete successfully and to increase our market share is dependent upon our
approach to addressing unmet needs in the hearing aid industry. Increased competition in the future could adversely affect our revenue, revenue growth
rate, if any, margins and market share.
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Government regulation

Our products and operations are subject to extensive and rigorous regulation by the FDA and other federal, state and local authorities, as well as
foreign regulatory authorities. The FDA regulates, among other things, the research, development, testing, design, manufacturing, approval, labeling,
storage, recordkeeping, advertising, promotion and marketing, distribution, post approval monitoring and reporting and import and export of medical
devices in the United States to assure the safety and effectiveness of medical products for their intended use. The Federal Trade Commission also regulates
the advertising of our products in the United States. Further, we are subject to laws directed at preventing fraud and abuse, which subject our sales and
marketing, training and other practices to government scrutiny.

Regulation by the FDA

The FDA classifies hearing aids, including in-the-canal hearing aids such as our products, as medical devices. In the United States, the Federal
Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, as well as FDA regulations and other federal and state statutes and regulations, govern, among other things,
medical device design and development, preclinical and clinical testing, device safety, premarket clearance and approval, establishment registration and
device listing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising and promotion, sales and distribution, export and import, recalls and field
safety corrective actions, and post-market surveillance, including complaint handling and medical device reporting of adverse events. Failure to comply
with applicable requirements may subject a company to a variety of administrative or judicial sanctions, such as warning or untitled letters, product recalls,
product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties and criminal prosecution. The FDA can also
refuse to approve or clear pending product applications.

The FDA classifies medical devices into three classes (Class I, II or III) based on the degree of risk associated with a device and the level of
regulatory control deemed necessary to ensure its safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are those for which safety and effectiveness can be assured by
adherence to the FDA’s general controls for medical devices, which include compliance with the FDA’s current good manufacturing practices for devices,
as reflected in the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, establishment registration and device listing, reporting of adverse events, and truthful, non-
misleading labeling, advertising and promotional materials. Some Class I devices also require premarket clearance by the FDA through the premarket
notification process set forth in Section 510(k) of the FDCA. Class II devices are subject to the FDA’s general controls and any other special controls
deemed necessary by the FDA to ensure the safety and effectiveness of the device, such as performance standards, product-specific guidance documents,
special labeling requirements, patient registries and/or post-market surveillance. Most Class II devices must also comply with the FDA’s Section 510(k)
premarket notification requirements. Class III devices are those that support or sustain human life, are of substantial importance in preventing impairment
of human health, or which present a potential, unreasonable risk of illness or injury. Due to the level of risk associated with Class III devices, general and
special controls alone are insufficient to assure their safety and effectiveness. Devices placed in Class III generally require the submission of a premarket
approval, or PMA, application demonstrating the safety and effectiveness of the device, which must be approved by the FDA prior to marketing, or the
receipt of a 510(k) de novo classification, which provides for the reclassification of the device into Class I or II. The PMA approval process is more
stringent, time-consuming and expensive than the 510(k) clearance process; however, the 510(k) clearance process has also become increasingly stringent
and expensive.

We currently market our products pursuant to the FDA regulatory framework for air-conduction hearing aids, which are classified as Class I or
Class II FDA Registered Exempt Medical Devices. While applicable FDA regulations establish certain “conditions for sale” of all hearing aids, including
that prospective hearing aid users must have a medical evaluation by a licensed physician within the six months prior to the hearing aid dispensation, the
FDA has stated that it does not intend to enforce these medical evaluation requirements prior to the dispensing of Class I air-conduction and Class II
wireless air-conduction hearing aids to individuals 18 years of age and older. Accordingly, while we are required to comply with other FDA requirements,
our products are currently not reviewed by the FDA.

The FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017, or FDARA, created a new category of over-the-counter, or OTC, hearing aids that are intended to be
available through in-person transactions, by mail or online without the involvement of a licensed practitioner. Under the statute, the FDA must issue
regulations to implement the new
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framework. As part of its rulemaking process, the FDA is required to evaluate whether OTC hearing aids should be subject to Section 510(k) premarket
review and clearance, and it is unclear whether the FDA will subject OTC hearing aids to this requirement or other more onerous requirements. Despite the
deadline in FDARA for the FDA to issue proposed regulations by August 18, 2020, the FDA has not yet issued a notice of proposed rulemaking or
indicated how it will implement the new OTC hearing aid pathway. In addition, in May 2018, the FDA granted a de novo classification request from Bose
for a direct-to-consumer “self-fitting air-conduction hearing aid,” which is classified in Class II and subject to 510(k) premarket review.

We market the Eargo system devices as Class I or Class II exempt air-conduction hearing aids under existing regulations and are not dependent on
the FDA’s issuance of OTC hearing aid regulations for the marketing of our products. We also do not consider our devices to be “self-fitting” hearing aids
similar to the newly cleared Bose device. Accordingly, while we expect our products to continue to be regulated as Class I or Class II exempt devices, our
products could in the future be deemed to fall under the definition of a “self-fitting air-conduction hearing aid” or an OTC hearing aid, in which case we
could be required to seek 510(k) clearance for our products or otherwise comply with additional regulatory requirements associated with these new
pathways.

510(k) clearance

If not exempted from the FDA’s 510(k) notification requirement, to obtain 510(k) clearance for a medical device, an applicant must submit a
premarket notification to the FDA demonstrating that the device is “substantially equivalent” to a legally marketed device, commonly known as the
“predicate device.” A legally marketed predicate device may include a device that was legally marketed in the United States prior to May 28, 1976 for
which a PMA is not required (commonly known as a “pre-amendments device” based on the date the Medical Device Amendments of 1976 were enacted),
a device which the FDA has reclassified from Class III to Class II or I, or a device which has been found substantially equivalent to such a device through
the 510(k) process. A device is considered to be substantially equivalent if, with respect to the predicate device, it has the same intended use and has either
(i) the same technological characteristics, or (ii) different technological characteristics, but the information provided in the 510(k) submission demonstrates
that the device does not raise new questions of safety and effectiveness and is at least as safe and effective as the predicate device. A showing of substantial
equivalence may sometimes, but not always, require clinical data. Before the FDA will accept a 510(k) submission for substantive review, the FDA will
first assess whether the submission satisfies a minimum threshold of acceptability. If the FDA determines that the 510(k) submission is incomplete, the
FDA will issue a “Refuse to Accept” letter which generally outlines the information the FDA believes is necessary to permit a substantive review and to
reach a determination regarding substantial equivalence. An applicant must submit the requested information before the FDA will proceed with additional
review of the submission. Once a 510(k) submission is accepted for review, the FDA has 90 days to review and issue a determination. As a practical matter,
clearance often takes longer. The FDA may request additional information, including clinical data, to make a determination regarding substantial
equivalence, which may significantly prolong the review process. The review period is suspended during the time the additional information request is
pending. Unless a specific exemption applies, 510(k) premarket notification submissions are subject to user fees.

Medical devices can be marketed only for the indications for which they are cleared or approved. After a device has received 510(k) clearance for a
specific intended use, any change or modification that significantly affects its safety or effectiveness, such as a significant change in the design, materials or
method of manufacture, or that would constitute a new or major change in intended use, may require a new 510(k) clearance or PMA approval and
payment of an additional FDA user fee. The determination as to whether or not a modification constitutes such a change is initially left to the manufacturer
using available FDA guidance; however, the FDA may review this determination to evaluate the regulatory status of the modified product at any time and
may require the manufacturer to cease marketing and recall the modified device until new 510(k) clearance or PMA approval is obtained. The manufacturer
may also be subject to significant regulatory fines or penalties.

Clinical trials

Clinical trials are sometimes required for 510(k) clearance. Such trials generally require submission of an investigational device exemption, or IDE,
application to the FDA for a specified number of patients and study sites, unless the product is deemed to be a non-significant risk device which may be
subject to more abbreviated IDE
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requirements. If an IDE is required, the FDA and the appropriate institutional review boards, or IRBs, at the clinical sites must approve the study before
clinical trials may begin. Clinical trials are subject to extensive monitoring, record keeping and reporting requirements. Clinical trials must be conducted
under the oversight of IRBs for the relevant clinical trial sites and must comply with FDA regulations, including but not limited to those relating to good
clinical practices, or GCPs, which include the requirement that all research subjects provide their informed consent for participation in each clinical study.
The clinical trial sponsor, the FDA or the IRB could suspend or terminate a clinical trial at any time for various reasons, including a belief that the subjects
are being exposed to an unacceptable health risk. Even if a trial is completed, the results of clinical testing may not adequately demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of the device or may otherwise not be sufficient to obtain FDA clearance to market the product.

Labeling and sale

All hearing aids commercially distributed in the United States must comply with specific FDA labeling requirements. These requirements address
the labeling of the device itself as well as the User Instructional Brochure that must be provided to all potential hearing aid recipients. Hearing aids must be
clearly and permanently marked with, among other things, the name of the device manufacturer, the model name or number, and the year of manufacture.
In addition, the User Instructional Brochure must contain, among other things, specific instructions for the use of, maintenance and care of, and
replacement or recharging of the batteries of the hearing instrument, information regarding known side effects that may warrant a physician consultation, a
warning statement specified in FDA regulations, and technical data useful in selecting and fitting a hearing instrument and checking its performance.

In addition, FDA regulations require that the marketing of hearing aids comply with certain “conditions for sale,” including, among other things,
the requirement that prospective hearing aid users must undergo a medical evaluation (or provide a signed waiver) before a hearing aid may be dispensed,
along with certain recordkeeping requirements. In 2016, the FDA issued a guidance document stating that it did not intend to enforce the medical
evaluation or recordkeeping requirements prior to the dispensing of Class I air-conduction and Class II wireless air-conduction hearing aids to individuals
18 years of age and older. In addition, under FDARA, hearing aids that qualify for the future OTC pathway must be exempt from certain labeling
requirements and condition of sale requirements otherwise applicable to hearing aids.

Quality System Regulation

The hearing aids that we commercially distribute in the United States are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by the FDA and certain
state agencies. This includes product listing and establishment registration requirements, which facilitate FDA inspections and other regulatory actions. We
are required to adhere to applicable current good manufacturing practice, or cGMP, requirements, as set forth in the QSR, which require manufacturers,
including third-party manufacturers, to follow stringent design, testing, control, documentation and other quality assurance procedures during all phases of
the design and manufacturing process. We are also required to verify that our suppliers maintain facilities, procedures and operations that comply with
applicable quality and regulatory requirements. The FDA enforces the QSR through periodic announced or unannounced inspections of medical device
manufacturing facilities, which may include the facilities of contractors. FDA regulations also require investigation and correction of any deviations from
the QSR and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon us and our third-party manufacturers. Noncompliance with these regulations can
result in, among other things, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, recalls or seizures of products, total or partial suspension of production, FDA refusal to
grant 510(k) clearance or PMA approval to new devices, withdrawal of existing clearances or approvals, and criminal prosecution.

Post-market surveillance

We must also comply with post-market surveillance regulations, including medical device reporting, or MDR, requirements which require that we
review and report to the FDA any incident in which our products may have caused or contributed to a death or serious injury, and any incident in which our
product has malfunctioned if that malfunction would likely cause or contribute to a death or serious injury if it were to recur. We must also comply with
medical device correction and removal reporting regulations, which require manufacturers to report to the FDA corrections and removals if undertaken to
reduce a risk to health posed by the device or to remedy a violation of the
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FDCA that may present a risk to health. Although we may undertake recall actions voluntarily, we must submit detailed information on any recall action to
the FDA, and the FDA can order a medical device recall in certain circumstances.

In addition to post-market quality and safety actions, labeling and promotional activities are subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain
circumstances, by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission, or FTC. Medical devices approved or cleared by the FDA may not be promoted for unapproved or
uncleared uses, otherwise known as “off-label” promotion. The FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the
promotion of off-label uses, and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability, including
substantial monetary penalties and criminal prosecution.

Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, including delays in or failures to report incidents to the FDA as required under the
MDR regulations, can result in enforcement action by the FDA which can include any of the following sanctions:

 • warning letters, untitled letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees and civil penalties;

 • customer notifications or repair, replacement, refund, recall, administrative detention or seizure of our products;

 • operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;

 • FDA refusals or delays on requests for 510(k) clearance or PMA approval of new or modified products;’

 • withdrawal of 510(k) clearances or PMA approvals that have already been granted;

 • refusal to grant export approval for products; or

 • civil penalties or criminal prosecution.

Other healthcare laws and regulations

The healthcare industry is also subject to federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including anti-kickback, self-referral, false claims and physician
payment transparency laws, as well as patient data privacy and security and consumer protection and unfair competition laws and regulations. Our
operations are also subject to certain state and local hearing care laws, including those applicable to the licensure and registration of audiologists and other
individuals that dispense hearing aids, sales and marketing practices, interactions with consumers, consumer incentive and other promotional programs, and
state corporate practice and fee-splitting prohibitions.

Fraud and abuse laws

In addition to the FDA, other federal and state healthcare laws and regulations could restrict our business practices and operations, including our
direct-to-consumer activities. To the extent our products are or become covered by any federal or state government healthcare program, regulatory and
enforcement authorities may nonetheless interpret that we are subject to numerous federal healthcare anti-fraud laws, which include the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute, the Physician Self-Referral Law and the False Claims Act that are intended to reduce waste, fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry
and analogous state laws that may apply to healthcare items and services paid by all payors, including self-pay patients and private insurers. These laws are
broad and subject to evolving interpretations. They prohibit many arrangements and practices that are lawful in industries, other than healthcare, including
pricing, sales and marketing activities, sales commissions, customer incentive and other promotional programs, and the provision of gifts and business
courtesies. To the extent that any of our products are sold in a foreign country, we may be subject to similar foreign laws, which may include, for instance,
applicable post-marketing requirements, including safety surveillance, anti-fraud and abuse laws and implementation of corporate compliance programs
and reporting of payments or transfers of value to healthcare professionals. We must operate our business within the requirements of these laws. Violations
of any of these health regulatory laws may result in potentially significant penalties, including criminal and civil and administrative penalties, damages,
fines, disgorgement, imprisonment, exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm,
administrative burdens, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations.
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In addition, the U.S. Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires manufacturers to report to the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS)
detailed information about financial arrangements with physicians and teaching hospitals and, with reporting requirements going into effect in 2022 for
payments made in 2021, financial arrangements with physician assistants, nurse practitioners, and other mid-level practitioners. These reporting provisions
preempt state laws that require reporting of the same information, but not those that require reports of different or additional information. Although none of
our products are currently covered by any government healthcare program, we may still be subject to certain state reporting requirements that apply
regardless of payor. Failure to comply subjects manufacturers to significant civil monetary penalties.

State licensing, corporate practice and fee-splitting prohibitions

Regulation of the hearing aid industry exists in every state. These laws and regulations are primarily concerned with the licensure and registration
of audiologists and other individuals and companies that dispense hearing aids, including procedures involving the fitting and dispensing of hearing aids. In
addition, most states require warranty and return policies for consumers allowing for the return of product, and restrict hearing aid advertising and
marketing practices. These state laws are subject to change, and states may impose more stringent requirements for dispensers of hearing aids. The FDCA
preempts state laws relating to the safety and efficacy of medical devices and state laws that are different from or in addition to federal requirements. In
Missouri Board of Examiners for Hearing Instrument Specialists v. Hearing Help Express, Inc. and METX, LLC v. Wal-Mart Stores Texas, LLC, the
Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals and the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, respectively, have held that certain state laws relating to the
fitting and dispensing of hearing aids are preempted because they relate to the safety and efficacy of medical devices. Although we have structured our
operations to comply with our understanding of applicable state regulatory requirements, interpretative legal precedent and regulatory guidance varies by
jurisdiction and is often sparse and not fully developed, including which laws and regulations are subject to the federal preemption relating to safety and
efficacy of medical devices, complicating our compliance efforts. Other courts could conclude that similar or identical state laws are not preempted. A
determination that we are in violation of applicable laws and regulations in any jurisdiction in which we operate could have a material adverse effect on us,
particularly if we are unable to restructure our operations and arrangements to comply with the requirements of that jurisdiction, if we are required to
restructure our operations and arrangements at a significant cost, or if we are subject to penalties or other adverse action.

We employ licensed hearing professionals to deliver services to our customers. These activities are subject to various state laws that prohibit the
practice of certain professions, including audiology, by lay entities or persons and are intended to prevent unlicensed persons from interfering with or
influencing the audiologist’s or other hearing care specialist’s professional judgment. In the event that regulatory authorities or other third parties were to
challenge these arrangements, we could be subject to adverse judicial or administrative interpretations, to civil or criminal penalties, our contracts could be
found legally invalid and unenforceable or we could be required to restructure our arrangements with our audiologists and other licensed professionals. In
addition, various state laws also generally prohibit the sharing or splitting professional fees with lay entities or persons. Audiologists and certain other
hearing care specialists are required to maintain valid state licenses to practice and must comply with numerous state and local licensing laws and
regulations, and each state defines the scope of practice for audiologists and other hearing care specialists through legislation and their respective state
regulatory agencies and boards. Activities that qualify as professional misconduct under state law may subject our personnel to sanctions or may even
result in loss of their licensure and could, possibly, subject us to sanctions as well.

Coverage and reimbursement; healthcare reform

Our products are primarily purchased on a cash-pay basis and are not generally covered by government healthcare programs and other third-party
payors. In addition, there have been, and we expect there will continue to be, a number of legislative and regulatory changes to the healthcare system
seeking, among other things, to reduce healthcare costs that could affect our results of operations. For example, the implementation of the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Healthcare and Education Reconciliation Act, or the Affordable Care Act, has changed healthcare
financing and delivery by both governmental and private insurers substantially and has affected medical device manufacturers significantly. In addition, the
Affordable Care Act provided incentives to programs that increase the federal government’s comparative effectiveness research and implemented payment
system reforms including a national pilot program on payment bundling to encourage hospitals, physicians and other
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providers to improve the coordination, quality and efficiency of certain healthcare services through bundled payment models. Since its enactment, there
have been judicial and Congressional challenges to certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act, and we expect there will be additional challenges and
amendments to the Affordable Care Act in the future. It is uncertain the extent to which any such changes or other healthcare reform measures by the
current Presidential Administration may impact our business or financial condition. We expect additional state and federal healthcare reform measures to be
adopted in the future, any of which could result in reduced demand for our products or additional pricing pressure.

Privacy and security

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and
Clinical Health Act, or HITECH, and their implementing regulations, imposes privacy, security and breach reporting obligations with respect to
individually identifiable health information upon “covered entities” (health care providers, health plans and health care clearinghouses), and their respective
business associates, individuals or entities that create, received, maintain or transmit protected health information in connection with providing a service for
or on behalf of a covered entity. HITECH also increased the civil and criminal penalties that may be imposed against covered entities and business
associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to file civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce HIPAA and seek
attorney’s fees and costs associated with pursuing federal civil actions. Additionally, HITECH mandates the reporting of certain breaches of health
information to the HHS, affected individuals and, if the breach is large enough, the media.

Even when HIPAA does not apply, according to the FTC, failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information secure
constitutes unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a) of the Federal Trade Commission Act. The FTC expects a
company’s data security measures to be reasonable and appropriate in light of the sensitivity and volume of consumer information it holds, the size and
complexity of its business, and the cost of available tools to improve security and reduce vulnerabilities. Individually identifiable health information is
considered sensitive data that merits stronger safeguards.

In addition, certain state and non-U.S. laws, such as the GDPR govern the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances,
some of which are more stringent than HIPAA and many of which differ from each other in significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus
complicating compliance efforts. Failure to comply with these laws, where applicable, can result in the imposition of significant civil and/or criminal
penalties and private litigation. For example, California recently enacted the California Consumer Privacy Act, or CCPA, which took effect on January 1,
2020. The CCPA, among other things, creates new data privacy obligations for covered companies and provides new privacy rights to California residents,
including the right to opt out of certain disclosures of their information. The CCPA also creates a private right of action with statutory damages for certain
data breaches, thereby potentially increasing risks associated with a data breach. Although the law includes limited exceptions, including for “protected
health information” maintained by a covered entity or business associate, it may regulate or impact our processing of personal information depending on
the context. Further, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”) recently passed in California. The CPRA will impose additional data protection
obligations on covered businesses, including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk data,
and opt outs for certain uses of sensitive data. It will also create a new California data protection agency authorized to issue substantive regulations and
could result in increased privacy and information security enforcement. The majority of the provisions will go into effect on January 1, 2023, and additional
compliance investment and potential business process changes may be required. In Europe, the GDPR went into effect in May 2018 and imposes strict
requirements for processing the personal data of individuals within the European Union (the “EU”) and the EEA. Companies that must comply with the
GDPR face increased compliance obligations and risk, including more robust regulatory enforcement of data protection requirements and potential fines for
noncompliance of up to €20 million or 4% of the annual global revenues of the noncompliant company, whichever is greater. Among other requirements,
the GDPR regulates transfers of personal data subject to the GDPR to third countries that have not been found to provide adequate protection to such
personal data, including the United States, and the efficacy and longevity of current transfer mechanisms between the EU and the United States remains
uncertain. For example, in 2016, the EU and United States agreed to a transfer framework for data transferred from the EU to the United States, called the
Privacy Shield, but the Privacy Shield was invalidated in July 2020 by the Court of Justice of the European Union. Further, from January 1, 2021,
companies have to comply
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with the GDPR and also the United Kingdom GDPR (“UK GDPR”), which, together with the amended UK Data Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in
UK national law. The UK GDPR mirrors the fines under the GDPR, i.e., fines up to the greater of €20 million (£17.5 million) or 4% of global turnover. The
relationship between the United Kingdom and the EU in relation to certain aspects of data protection law remains unclear, and it is unclear how United
Kingdom data protection laws and regulations will develop in the medium to longer term, and how data transfers to and from the United Kingdom will be
regulated in the long term. Currently there is a four to six-month grace period agreed in the EU and United Kingdom Trade and Cooperation Agreement,
ending June 30, 2021 at the latest, whilst the parties discuss an adequacy decision. However, it is not clear whether (and when) an adequacy decision may
be granted by the European Commission enabling data transfers from EU member states to the United Kingdom long term without additional measures.
These changes may lead to additional costs and increase our overall risk exposure.

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the FCPA), prohibits U.S. businesses and their representatives from offering to pay, paying, promising to pay or
authorizing the payment of money or anything of value to a foreign official in order to influence any act or decision of the foreign official in his or her
official capacity or to secure any other improper advantage in order to obtain or retain business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are
listed in the United States to comply with accounting provisions requiring us to maintain books and records, which in reasonable detail, accurately and
fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, if any, and to devise and maintain a
system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements. The scope of the FCPA includes interactions with certain healthcare professionals in many countries.

International laws

Globally, other countries have enacted anti-bribery laws and/or regulations similar to the FCPA. Violations of any of these anti-bribery laws, or
allegations of such violations, could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations and reputation.

There are also international privacy laws that impose restrictions on the access, use, and disclosure of health information. All of these laws may
impact our business. Our failure to comply with these privacy laws or significant changes in the laws restricting our ability to obtain required patient
information could significantly impact our business and our future business plans.

Intellectual property

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and confidentiality and invention assignment agreements to protect
our intellectual property rights. As of December 31, 2020, we had 22 issued U.S. patents, 16 patents outside the United States, 4 pending U.S. patent
applications and 10 pending foreign patent applications. Our patents include utility patents covering technology ranging from remote control of our hearing
aids to design patents covering the housing and securing mechanisms for our hearing aids. We have foreign patents in the EU, Australia, Canada, China,
Germany, Japan, Singapore and South Korea. We own all of our patents and do not rely on any licenses to utilize the technology covered by these patents.
The earliest of our patents is expected to expire in 2025. Our issued U.S. patent with claims generally directed to an open ear canal hearing aid comprised
of certain electronics and securing portions and our issued U.S. patent with claims generally directed to an adjustable securing mechanism for a space
access device are each expected to expire in 2030.

Our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents, and we cannot assure you that any current or subsequently issued patents will
protect our intellectual property rights. Third parties may challenge certain patents issued to us as invalid, may independently develop similar or competing
technologies or may design around any of our patents. We cannot be certain that any of the steps we have taken will prevent the misappropriation of our
intellectual property, particularly in foreign countries where the laws may not protect our proprietary rights in these countries as fully as in the United
States.
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There is no active patent litigation involving us and we have not received any notices of patent infringement involving any of our products. The
validity, enforceability or scope, as the case may be, of one of our patents relating to our Flexi Palm design is being challenged in Europe. An oral hearing
for this challenge is expected to be scheduled in 2021. The preliminary opinion from the European Patent Office’s Opposition Division considered the
claims to be novel, inventive and sufficient of disclosure, while only making objections regarding added matter. Our response includes a main request to
maintain the claims of the patent as-is and 11 auxiliary requests, each of which we believe will still provide coverage of the Flexi Palms. While any result
that narrows or invalidates this patent could harm our ability to prevent third parties from producing competing products similar in design, we believe the
result of these proceedings will not result in the patent being invalidated and that any result that relies upon one of the auxiliary requests would still provide
us coverage regarding Flexi Palms in Europe.

As of December 31, 2020, we had 35 trademark registrations and 8 pending trademark applications worldwide.

Environmental matters

Our operations, properties and products are subject to a variety of U.S. and foreign environmental laws and regulations governing, among other
things, air emissions, wastewater discharges, management and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous materials and waste and remediation of releases of
hazardous materials. We believe, based on current information that we are in material compliance with environmental laws and regulations applicable to us.
However, our failure to comply with present and future requirements under these laws and regulations, or environmental contamination or releases of
hazardous materials on our leased premises, as well as through disposal of our products, could cause us to incur substantial costs, including clean-up costs,
personal injury and property damage claims, fines and penalties, costs to redesign our products or upgrade our facilities and legal costs, or require us to
curtail our operations, any of which could seriously harm our business.

Human capital resources

As of December 31, 2020, we had 238 full-time employees. None of our employees is represented by a labor union, and we consider our employee
relations to be good. Our human capital resources objectives include, as applicable, identifying, recruiting, retaining, incentivizing and integrating our
existing and additional employees. The principal purposes of our equity incentive plans are to attract, retain and motivate selected employees, consultants
and directors through the granting of stock-based compensation awards and cash-based performance bonus awards.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Risk factor summary

Below is a summary of the principal factors that make an investment in our common stock speculative or risky. This summary does not address all
of the risks that we face. Additional discussion of the risks summarized in this risk factor summary, and other risks that we face, can be found below under
the heading “Risk Factors” and should be carefully considered, together with other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC), before making investment decisions regarding our common stock.

 • We have a limited operating history and have grown significantly in a short period of time. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our
business could be materially and adversely affected.

 • We have a history of net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

 • We are deploying a new business model in an effort to disrupt a relatively mature industry. In order to successfully challenge incumbent
business models and become profitable, we will need to continue to refine our product and strategy.

 • We operate in a highly competitive industry, and competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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 • There are a variety of hearing aid products and technologies, and consumer confusion about product features and technology could lead
consumers to purchase competitive products instead of our products, or to conflate any adverse events or safety issues associated with
third-party hearing aid products with our products, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

 • If we are unable to reduce our return rates or if our return rates increase, our net revenue may decrease or grow more slowly than we
anticipate, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

 • We depend on sales of our hearing aids for our revenue. Demand for our hearing aids may not increase as rapidly as we anticipate due to a
variety of factors, including a weakness in general economic conditions or competitive pressures.

 • If we cannot innovate at the pace of our hearing aid manufacturing competitors, we may not be able to develop or exploit new technologies
in time to remain competitive.

 • Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could render our consumer-first business model contrary to applicable
regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for our products.

 • Our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth may be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

 • We currently rely on a single manufacturer for the assembly of our hearing aids. If we encounter manufacturing problems or delays, we
may be unable to promptly transition to an alternative manufacturer and our ability to generate revenue will be limited.

 • We rely on the timely supply of components and parts and could suffer if suppliers fail to meet their delivery obligations, raise prices or
cease to supply us with components or parts.

 • If the quality of our hearing solution does not meet consumer expectations, or if our products wear out more quickly than expected, then
our brand and reputation or our business could be adversely affected.

 • The size and expected growth of our addressable market has not been established with precision, and may be smaller than we estimate.

 • Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we are unable to obtain, maintain or successfully enforce our intellectual
property rights, the commercial value of our products and services will be adversely affected and our competitive position may be harmed.

Risk Factors

Our operating and financial results are subject to various risks and uncertainties. You should carefully consider the risks described below, as well
as all of the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including our financial statements and related notes, before investing in our
common stock. While we believe that the risks and uncertainties described below are the material risks currently facing us, additional risks that we do not
yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial may also arise and materially affect our business.

Risks relating to our industry and business

We have a limited operating history and have grown significantly in a short period of time. If we fail to manage our growth effectively, our business
could be materially and adversely affected.

We were organized in 2010 and began selling hearing aids in 2015. Accordingly, we have a limited operating history, which makes an evaluation of
our future prospects difficult. Our operating results have fluctuated in the past, and we expect our future quarterly and annual operating results to fluctuate
as we focus on increasing the demand for our products. We may need to make business decisions that could adversely affect our operating results, such as
modifications to our pricing strategy, business structure or operations.
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In addition, we have experienced recent rapid growth and anticipate further growth, although the COVID-19 pandemic may substantially impact
our future growth. For example, our revenue increased from $32.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 to $69.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

This growth has placed significant demands on our management, financial, operational, technological and other resources, and we expect that our
growth will continue to place significant demands on our management and other resources and will require us to continue developing and improving our
operational, financial and other internal controls. In particular, continued growth increases the challenges involved in a number of areas, including
recruiting and retaining sufficient skilled personnel, providing adequate training and supervision to maintain our high-quality standards and preserving our
culture and values. We may not be able to address these challenges in a cost-effective manner, or at all. If we do not effectively manage our growth, we
may not be able to execute on our business plan, respond to competitive pressures, take advantage of market opportunities, satisfy customer requirements
or maintain high-quality product offerings, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have a history of net losses, and we may not achieve or maintain profitability in the future.

We have incurred net losses since inception. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, we incurred net losses of $39.9 million and $44.5
million, respectively. As a result of our ongoing losses, as of December 31, 2020, we had an accumulated deficit of $199.1 million. Since inception, we
have spent significant funds on organizational and start-up activities, to recruit key managers and employees, to develop our hearing aids, to develop our
manufacturing know-how and customer support resources and for research and development. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from
quarter to quarter and may increase as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our long-term success is dependent upon our ability to successfully develop, commercialize and market our products, earn revenue, obtain
additional capital when needed and, ultimately, to achieve profitable operations. We will need to generate significant additional revenue to achieve
profitability. It is possible that we will not achieve profitability or that, even if we do achieve profitability, we may not maintain or increase profitability in
the future. Our failure to achieve or maintain profitability could negatively impact the value of our common stock.

We are deploying a new business model in an effort to disrupt a relatively mature industry. In order to successfully challenge incumbent business
models and become profitable, we will need to continue to refine our product and strategy.

Our direct-to-consumer business model is new to the hearing aid industry. Our products are currently primarily available direct-to-consumer and
are therefore generally not sold by channels which consumers would traditionally look to for the treatment of their hearing loss. Because audiologists and
hearing clinics do not currently offer our products, they are unlikely to recommend our products as a solution to their patients. If we are unable to reach this
population through our online or direct marketing, the estimated market size for our products may be lower than we anticipate.

Delivery of hearing aids via a direct-to-consumer model represents a change from the traditional channel, which requires in-person visits to one or
more hearing care professionals, and consumers may be reluctant to accept this model or may not find it preferable to the traditional channel. In addition,
consumers may not respond to our direct marketing campaigns, or we may be unsuccessful in reaching our target audience, particularly if we expand our
sales efforts in foreign jurisdictions where our advertising and distribution model may be more heavily regulated. If consumers prove unwilling to adopt
our model as rapidly or in the numbers that we anticipate, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially harmed.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and competitive pressures could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The worldwide market for hearing aids is competitive in terms of pricing, product quality, product innovation and time-to-market. We face strong
competitors, which have greater resources and stronger financial profiles that may enable them to better exploit changes in our industry on a cost-
competitive basis and to be more effective and

32



faster in capturing available market opportunities, which in turn may negatively impact our market share. There are five major traditional manufacturer
competitors in the industry—GN Store Nord, Sonova, Starkey, William Demant and WS Audiology—who together control a significant majority of the
hearing aid market.

In addition to these manufacturer competitors, Costco sells multiple brands of hearing aids, including those of the traditional manufacturers and
Costco’s own white-label Kirkland Signature brand of hearing aid, at prices ranging from approximately $1,499 to $2,899 per pair. We estimate that during
2019, Costco dispensed approximately 14% of the hearing aids distributed in the United States, which percentage is expected to increase going forward.
The United States Department of Veterans Affairs, or the VA, is also a significant provider of hearing aids and provides hearing aids at no charge to its
patients. We estimate that, in 2019, the VA dispensed approximately 19% of the hearing aids distributed in the United States. Our products are not
distributed by Costco, or on contract or currently eligible to be distributed by the VA.

We also face competition from companies that introduce new technologies, including consumer electronics companies that sell direct to consumers.
For example, in May 2018, the United States Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, granted marketing clearance to Bose Corporation for a “self-fitting
air-conduction hearing aid.” The Bose self-fitting hearing aid was cleared under the FDA’s de novo premarket review pathway with the intended use to
amplify sound for individuals 18 years of age or older with perceived mild to moderate hearing impairment, with no pre-programming or hearing test
necessary. We view our consumer-first model as a competitive advantage, and competitors, including Bose or other consumer electronics companies, that
sell hearing aids directly to consumers may erode that advantage. Please see the risk factor below titled, “Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing
aid devices could render our direct-to-consumer business model contrary to applicable regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional
clearance or approval for our products.”

We also face competition from other direct-to-consumer hearing aid providers. Similar to our business model, these hearing aid companies allow
consumers to purchase hearing aids remotely, with no need to visit a clinic and they provide remote clinical support. Given the similarities in our business
model to these providers, if potential consumers opt to buy their hearing aids from these direct-to-consumer competitors, our business could be adversely
affected.

We may be unable to compete with these or other competitors, and one or more of such competitors may render our technology obsolete or
economically unattractive. To the extent we expand internationally, we will face additional competition in geographies outside the United States. If we are
unable to compete effectively with existing products or respond effectively to any new products developed by competitors, our business could be materially
harmed. Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced gross margins and loss of market share. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to compete successfully against our current or future competitors or that competitive pressures will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

There are a variety of hearing aid products and technologies, and consumer confusion about product features and technology could lead consumers to
purchase competitive products instead of our products, or to conflate any adverse events or safety issues associated with third-party hearing aid
products with our products, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We believe that many individuals do not have full information regarding the types of hearing aids and hearing aid features and technologies
available in the market, in part due to the lack of consumer education in the traditional hearing industry sales model. Consumers may not have sufficient
information about hearing aids generally or how hearing aid products and technologies compare to each other. This confusion may result in consumers
purchasing hearing aids from our competitors instead of our products, even if our hearing aids would provide them with their desired product features. In
addition, any adverse events or safety issues relating to competitive hearing aid products and related negative publicity, even if such events are not
attributable to our products, could result in reduced purchases of hearing aids by consumers generally. Any of these occurrences could lead to reduced sales
of our products and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

33



If we are unable to reduce our return rates or if our return rates increase, our net revenue may decrease or grow more slowly than we anticipate, and
our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Eargo’s customer return accrual rates were approximately 26% for the year ended December 31, 2020. Our return policy allows our customers to
return hearing aids for any reason within the first 45 days of delivery for a full refund, subject to a handling fee in certain states. We report revenue net of
expected returns, which is an estimate informed in part by historical return rates. As such, our return rate impacts our reported net revenue and profitability.
If actual sales returns differ significantly from our estimates, an adjustment to revenue in the current or subsequent period is recorded. Furthermore, if we
are unable to reduce our return rates or if they increase, our net revenue may decrease or grow more slowly than we anticipate, and our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

We depend on sales of our hearing aids for our revenue. Demand for our hearing aids may not increase as rapidly as we anticipate due to a variety of
factors, including a weakness in general economic conditions or competitive pressures.

We expect that revenue from sales of our hearing aids will continue to account for our revenue for the foreseeable future. Continued and
widespread market acceptance of hearing aids by consumers is critical to our future success. Consumer spending habits are affected by, among other things,
prevailing economic conditions, levels of employment, salaries and wage rates, consumer confidence and consumer perception of economic conditions,
which have been adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and may continue to be materially adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Hearing aids are primarily paid for directly by the consumer and, as a result, demand can vary significantly depending on economic growth. A general
slowdown in the U.S. economy and international economies into which we may expand or an uncertain economic outlook could adversely affect consumer
spending habits, which may result in, among other things, a reduction in consumer spending on elective or higher value products, or a reduction in demand
for hearing aids generally, each of which would have an adverse effect on our sales and operating results. Weakness in the global economy results in a
challenging environment for selling hearing loss technologies. In such circumstances, consumers may opt to purchase less expensive hearing loss
technologies. If there is a reduction in consumer demand for hearing aids generally, if consumers choose to use a competitive product rather than our
hearing aids or if the average selling price of our hearing aids declines as a result of economic conditions, competitive pressures or any other reason, these
factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. If we are not successful in adapting our
production and cost structure to the market environment, we may experience further adverse effects that may be material to our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If we cannot innovate at the pace of our hearing aid manufacturing competitors, we may not be able to develop or exploit new technologies in time to
remain competitive.

The hearing aid industry has in the past experienced rapid shifts to new key technologies, including for example the switch from analog to digital
hearing aids in the 1990s, that disrupted existing market patterns and led to a large-scale market realignment among customers and hearing aid
manufacturers. For us to remain competitive, it is essential to develop and bring to market new technologies or to find new applications for existing
technologies at an increasing speed. If we are unable to meet customer demands for new technology, or if the technologies we introduce are viewed less
favorably than our competitors’ products, our results of operations and future prospects may be negatively affected. To meet our customers’ needs in these
areas, we must continuously design new products, update existing products and invest in and develop new technologies. Our operating results depend to a
significant extent on our ability to anticipate and adapt to technological changes in the hearing aid market, maintain innovation, maintain a strong product
pipeline and reduce the costs of producing high-quality new and existing hearing aids. Any inability to do so could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices could render our direct-to-consumer business model contrary to applicable regulatory
requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or approval for our products.

Hearing aids are considered medical devices subject to regulation by the FDA. We currently market our products pursuant to the FDA regulatory
framework for air-conduction hearing aids, which are classified as Class I or Class II devices exempt from premarket review procedures. In addition, while
applicable FDA regulations establish certain “conditions for sale” of all hearing aids, including that prospective hearing aid users must have a medical
evaluation by a licensed physician within the six months prior to hearing aid dispensation, the FDA has stated that it does not intend to enforce these
medical evaluation requirements prior to the dispensing of Class I air-conduction and Class II wireless air-conduction hearing aids to individuals 18 years
of age and older. Accordingly, while we are required to comply with other FDA requirements, including specific hearing aid labeling requirements and
provision of a User Instructional Brochure, our products have not been reviewed by the FDA and are not dispensed by licensed physicians. If the FDA were
to determine that our products do not properly satisfy the conditions for marketing Class I or Class II air-conduction hearing aid devices, we could be
forced to cease distribution of our products until we obtain regulatory clearance or approval, and we could be subject to additional enforcement action by
the FDA. In addition, many states have laws regarding the provision of hearing aid devices, and if we are found to be in violation of the laws of any state in
which our devices are sold, we could be subject to further sanctions at the state level.

The regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices has been subject to recent changes that may alter or increase our requirements for regulatory
compliance. The FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017, or FDARA, created a new category of over-the-counter, or OTC, hearing aids that are intended to be
available through in-person transactions, by mail or online without the involvement of a licensed practitioner. Under the statute, the FDA is required to
issue regulations to implement the new framework. As part of its rulemaking process, the FDA is required to evaluate whether OTC hearing aids should be
subject to premarket review and clearance under Section 510(k) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, and it is unclear whether the FDA
will subject OTC hearing aids to this requirement or other more onerous requirements. The language in FDARA is not self-implementing, which means
that the OTC hearing aid category does not exist until the effective date of a published final regulation. Despite the deadline in FDARA for the FDA to
issue proposed regulations by August 18, 2020, the FDA has not yet issued a notice of proposed rulemaking or indicated how it will implement the new
OTC hearing aid pathway. We market the Eargo system devices as Class I or Class II exempt air-conduction hearing aids under existing regulations and are
not dependent on the FDA’s issuance of OTC hearing aid regulations for the marketing of our products. However, our devices may become subject to
additional requirements in connection with such regulations in the future.

In addition, in May 2018, the FDA granted a de novo classification request from Bose for a direct-to-consumer “self-fitting air-conduction hearing
aid,” which is classified as Class II and subject to 510(k) premarket review. We do not consider our devices to be “self-fitting” hearing aids similar to the
recently cleared Bose device, but the FDA could disagree. While we expect our products to continue to be regulated as Class I or Class II exempt devices,
our products could in the future be deemed to fall under the definition of a “self-fitting air-conduction hearing aid” or an OTC hearing aid, in which case
we could be required to seek 510(k) clearance for our products or otherwise comply with additional regulatory requirements associated with these new
pathways. In such case, the FDA may require us to remove our devices from the market while we seek FDA clearance. In addition, even if our current
products remain Class I or Class II exempt devices, it is possible that any future products we may develop could fail to meet the requisite criteria for similar
regulation and could be subject to more stringent requirements and premarket review, increasing our costs for regulatory compliance.

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and growth may be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

We are subject to risks related to public health crises such as the global pandemic associated with COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic may
negatively impact our operations and revenues and overall financial condition by harming the ability or willingness of customers to pay for our products
due to macro -economic conditions resulting from the pandemic or the operations of manufacturers, suppliers and other third parties with which we do
business. These challenges will likely continue for the duration of the pandemic, which is uncertain, and the macro-economic effects of the pandemic will
likely continue far beyond the duration of the pandemic.
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Numerous state and local jurisdictions have imposed or reimposed, and others in the future may impose, “shelter-in-place” orders, quarantines,
orders requiring non-essential businesses to remain closed, executive orders and similar government orders and restrictions for their residents to control the
spread of COVID-19. The pandemic and such restrictions have resulted in a majority of our employees working remotely, work stoppages, slowdowns and
delays, travel restrictions and cancellation of events, among other effects, thereby negatively impacting our operations. Other potential disruptions may
include delays in processing registrations or approvals by applicable state or federal regulatory bodies; delays in product development efforts; and
additional government requirements or other incremental mitigation efforts that may further impact our capacity to manufacture, sell and support the use of
our Eargo systems. In addition, even after the “shelter-in-place” orders, quarantines, executive orders and similar government orders and restrictions for
their residents to control the spread of COVID-19 are lifted, we may continue to experience disruptions to our business.

While the potential economic impact brought by and the duration of COVID-19 may be difficult to assess or predict, the widespread pandemic has
resulted in, and may continue to result in, significant disruption of global financial markets, reducing our ability to access capital, which could in the future
negatively affect our liquidity, including our ability to repay our existing indebtedness. In addition, a recession or market correction resulting from the
spread of COVID-19 could materially affect our business and the value of our common stock. The COVID-19 pandemic has also resulted in a significant
increase in unemployment in the United States which may continue even after the pandemic subsides. The occurrence of any such events may lead to
reduced disposable income and access to health insurance which could adversely affect the number of our products sold after the pandemic has subsided.
Further, although we have experienced growth in our sales volume during the COVID-19 pandemic, this and any other favorable impacts we have
experienced in connection with the pandemic may subside, and the ultimate effect of COVID-19 on our sales volume and other results of operations could
differ substantially from our expectations and our experience to date.

We currently rely on a single manufacturer for the assembly of our hearing aids. If we encounter manufacturing problems or delays, we may be unable
to promptly transition to an alternative manufacturer and our ability to generate revenue will be limited.

We have no manufacturing capabilities of our own. We currently rely on a single manufacturer located in Thailand, Hana Microelectronics, for the
manufacture of all of our products currently available for sale. We have entered in a manufacturing services agreement with a second manufacturer located
in Taiwan, Pegatron Corporation, for the manufacture of our next generation hearing aid. For us to be successful, our contract manufacturers must be able
to provide us with products in substantial quantities, in compliance with regulatory requirements, in accordance with agreed upon specifications, at
acceptable costs and on a timely basis. While our existing manufacturer has generally met our demand requirements on a timely basis in the past, its ability
and willingness to continue to do so going forward, and the ability and willingness of our new manufacturer to meet our demand requirements, may be
limited for several reasons, including our relative importance as a customer of the manufacturer or its ability to provide assembly services to manufacture
our products, which may be affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. An interruption in our commercial operations could occur if we encounter delays or
difficulties in securing these manufactured products if we cannot obtain an acceptable substitute.

Any transition to a new contract manufacturer, or any transition of products between existing manufacturers, could be time-consuming and
expensive, may result in interruptions in our operations and product delivery, could affect the performance specifications of our products or could require
that we modify the design of our products. If we are required to change either of our contract manufacturers, we will be required to verify that the new
manufacturer maintains facilities, procedures and operations that comply with our quality and applicable regulatory requirements, which could further
impede our ability to manufacture our products in a timely manner. We cannot assure you that we will be able to identify and engage alternative contract
manufacturers on similar terms or without delay. Furthermore, our contract manufacturers could require us to move to a different production facility. The
occurrence of any of these events could harm our ability to meet the demand for our products in a timely and cost-effective manner, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The manufacture of our products is complex and requires the integration of a number of components from several sources of supply. Our contract
manufacturers must manufacture and assemble these complex products in
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commercial quantities in compliance with regulatory requirements and at an acceptable cost. Our hearing aids require significant expertise to manufacture,
and our contract manufacturers may encounter difficulties in scaling up production of the hearing aids, including problems with quality control and
assurance, component supply shortages, increased costs, shortages of qualified personnel, the long lead time required to develop additional facilities for
purposes of testing our products and/or difficulties associated with compliance with local, state, federal and foreign regulatory requirements. There can be
no assurance that manufacturing or quality control problems will not arise in connection with the scale-up of the manufacture of our products. If we are
unable to obtain a sufficient supply of product, maintain control over product quality and cost or otherwise adapt to anticipated growth, or if we
underestimate growth, we may not have the capability to satisfy market demand, and our business and reputation in the marketplace will suffer. Conversely,
if demand for our products decreases, we may have excess inventory, which could result in inventory write-offs that would have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We may also encounter defects in materials and/or workmanship, which could lead to a
failure to adhere to regulatory requirements. Any defects could delay operations at our contract manufacturers’ facilities, lead to regulatory fines or halt or
discontinue manufacturing indefinitely. Any of these outcomes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

We rely on the timely supply of components and parts and could suffer if suppliers fail to meet their delivery obligations, raise prices or cease to supply
us with components or parts.

We rely on three critical suppliers for many of the components that are used in the manufacture of our products, including for batteries, integrated
circuits, microphones and receivers. This reliance on third parties adds additional risks to the manufacturing process that are beyond our control. For
example, the occurrence of epidemics or pandemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, may cause one or more of our suppliers to close or reduce the scope
of their operations either temporarily or permanently. In addition, many of these suppliers also provide components and products to our competitors. The
industry’s reliance on a limited number of key components and product suppliers subjects us to the risk that in the event of an increase in demand, our
suppliers may fail to provide supplies to us in a timely manner while they continue to supply our competitors, many of which have greater purchasing
power than us, or seek to supply components to us at a higher cost. The failure of our suppliers to deliver components or products in a timely fashion could
have disruptive effects on our ability to produce our products in a timely manner, or we may be required to find new suppliers at an increased cost.
Furthermore, we generally do not enter into long-term commitment contracts with our suppliers, but rather enter into framework agreements as a basis for
individual orders. The terms of such framework agreements are typically up to two years and in most cases do not contain any firm purchase commitments.
We can make no assurance that we will be able to renew such supply agreements. If we are unable to renew supply agreements, our access to key
components could be reduced, which could harm our business. Additionally, our reputation and the quality of our products are in part dependent on the
quality of the components that we source from third-party suppliers. If we are unable to control the quality of the components supplied to us or to address
known quality problems in a timely manner, our reputation in the market may be damaged and sales of our products may suffer. As a result, we may
experience a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Certain components needed to manufacture our hearing aids are only available from a limited number of suppliers.

Several of our suppliers provide products for our hearing aids and accessories for which they own the design and/or intellectual property rights.
This includes integrated circuits, transducers, batteries and various electrical components. Although there may be several potential suppliers for our
components, as our components are highly customized, there is a risk that these components may not be readily substituted by similar products of other
suppliers or that any substitution may take a lengthy period of time to implement. Even if we do identify new suppliers, we may experience increased costs
and product shortages as we transition to alternative suppliers. If any of these limited suppliers cease to supply us with their products, or any of the
foregoing events occurs, we could experience a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If we are unable to successfully develop and effectively manage the introduction of new products, our business may be adversely affected.

We must successfully manage introductions of new or advanced hearing aid products. Introductions of new or advanced hearing aid products could
also adversely impact the sales of our existing products to consumers. For instance, the introduction or announcement of new or advanced hearing aid
products may shorten the life cycle of our existing devices or reduce demand, thereby reducing any benefits of successful hearing aid introductions and
potentially lead to challenges in managing write-downs or write-offs of inventory of existing products. In addition, new hearing aid products may have
higher manufacturing costs than legacy products, which could negatively impact our gross margins and operating results. Accordingly, if we fail to
effectively manage introductions of new or advanced products, our business may be adversely affected.

We experience challenges managing the inventory of existing hearing aids, which can lead to excess inventory and discounting of our existing
devices. Inventory levels in excess of consumer demand may result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of inventory at discounted prices,
which has affected our gross margin and could impair the strength of our brand. Reserves and write-downs for rebates, promotions and excess inventory are
recorded based on our forecast of future demand. Actual future demand could be less than our forecast, which may result in additional reserves and write-
downs in the future, or actual demand could be stronger than our forecast, which may result in a reduction to previously recorded reserves and write-downs
in the future and increase the volatility of our operating results.

If the quality of our hearing solution does not meet consumer expectations, or if our products wear out more quickly than expected, then our brand and
reputation or our business could be adversely affected.

Our products may not perform as well in day-to-day use as we or our customers expect. Although we designed our Eargo hearing aids to provide
high quality audio, we have collected limited data comparing our products to competitive devices. In October 2019, we conducted a series of comparative
electroacoustic benchmarking tests, or the Bench Study, to compare our Eargo Neo hearing aid with hearing aids from three major manufacturers. While
each of the devices tested in the Bench Study, including our Eargo Neo hearing aid, met or exceeded the identified benchmarks for appropriate levels of
sound quality and amplification to improve speech audibility, the design, methodology and results of the Bench Study have not been subject to external
review and may not be reliable or replicable indicators of the general performance of our Eargo Neo hearing aid or the other manufacturers’ hearing aids
that were the subject of the Bench Study. Further, the benchmarks for appropriate levels of sound quality and amplification that we identified in the Bench
Study may not be appropriate proxies for hearing aid performance or reflect the real-world performance of any tested device. Future studies, including our
internal studies or those of our competitors or other third parties, may not yield the results that we expect to obtain and may not demonstrate that our
products are superior to, or may demonstrate that our products are inferior to, existing or future products with regard to functional or economic measures.
These study results may be published in medical journals or other publications, or by our competitors and result in adverse publicity for our products. The
performance of our Eargo hearing aids may not live up to customer expectations, and our brand, reputation, customer satisfaction, return rates and sales
may be adversely affected as a result.

Furthermore, because of our products’ limited time in the market, we cannot be certain about the usable life of our products. Due to the design
constraints applicable to our rechargeable, in-the-canal form factor, our hearing aids may offer a shorter usable life compared to our competitors’ hearing
aids. Thus, even though our products may be more affordable than competitive devices, they may need to be replaced more often. Although we believe the
advantages of our design justify this tradeoff, customers may expect a longer useful life, and failure to live up to this expectation could result in reduced
sales, decreased customer loyalty, higher-than-expected warranty claims and adverse publicity.

Certain components of our hearing aids may also offer reduced performance or wear out over time. For example, the rechargeable technology used
in our hearing aids and charging cases has a limited lifespan, and recharging performance will degrade over time. We designed our Eargo Neo and Eargo
Neo HiFi hearing aids to provide up to 20 hours of continuous use between charges when new and up to 16 hours after 1,000 charging cycles, but charging
capacity may decrease more quickly than expected. Moreover, certain components of our hearing aids, including Flexi Fibers and Flexi Palms that can be
purchased online, will require more frequent replacement than the
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device itself. If the quality, longevity and durability of our products does not meet the expectations of customers, then our brand and reputation and our
business, financial condition and results of operations, could be adversely affected.

Customer or third-party complaints or negative reviews or publicity about our company or our hearing aids could harm our reputation and brand.

We are heavily dependent on customers who use our hearing aids to provide good reviews and word-of-mouth recommendations to contribute to
our growth. Customers who are dissatisfied with their experiences with our products or services may post negative reviews. We may also be the subject of
blog, forum or other media postings that include inaccurate statements and create negative publicity. In addition, traditional hearing aid supply chain
participants may express and publish negative views regarding our direct-to-consumer model and products. Any negative reviews or publicity, whether real
or perceived, disseminated by word-of-mouth, by the general media, by electronic or social networking means or by other methods, could harm our
reputation and brand and could severely diminish consumer confidence in our products.

Repair or replacement costs due to guarantees we provide on our products could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We provide product guarantees to our customers, both as a result of contractual and legal provisions and for marketing purposes. We allow for the
return of products from direct customers within 45 days after the original sale and record estimated sales returns as a reduction of sales in the same period
revenue is recognized. We also generally allow customers to return defective or damaged products for a replacement or refund. The term of the warranty
provided is currently two years for Neo HiFi and one year for all other devices. Existing and future product guarantees place us at the risk of incurring
future repair and/or replacement costs. As of December 31, 2020, we had provisions of $2.4 million relating to warranties. Substantial amounts of product
guarantee claims could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we reserve for the estimated cost of product warranties when revenue is recognized, and we evaluate our warranty reserves periodically
by reviewing our warranty repair experience. While we engage in product quality programs and processes, including monitoring and evaluating the quality
of our components sourced from our suppliers and instituting methods to remotely detect and correct defects, our warranty obligation is affected by actual
product defect rates, parts and equipment costs and service labor costs incurred in correcting a product defect. Our warranty reserves may be inadequate
due to undetected product defects, unanticipated component failures or changes in estimates for material, labor and other costs we may incur to replace
projected product defects. As a result, if actual product defect rates, parts and equipment costs or service labor costs exceed our estimates, it could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our failure to successfully anticipate product returns may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our net losses are affected by changes in reserves to account for product returns and product credits. The reserve for product returns accounts for
customer returns of our products after purchase. We record a reserve for product returns based on historical return trends together with current product sales
performance in each reporting period. If actual returns are greater than those projected and reserved for by management, additional sales returns may be
recorded in the future. We do not currently have the ability to resell products that are returned. To the extent we are unable to successfully refurbish devices
in the future, we will not be able to resell such devices. Further, the introduction of new products, changes in product mix, changes in consumer confidence
or other competitive and general economic conditions may cause actual returns to differ from product return reserves. Any significant increase in product
returns that exceeds our reserves could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Accelerated consolidation and formation of purchasing groups increases the pricing pressure on hearing aids.

Many purchasing groups, such as hearing aid clinics, retailers and hospital systems, are consolidating to create new entities with greater market
power. Such groups, such as Costco and the VA, have used and may continue to use their increased purchasing power to negotiate price reductions or other
concessions across our industry. This pricing leverage has resulted, and will likely continue to result, in downward pressure on the average selling prices of
hearing aid products generally, including our own products. The forthcoming OTC regulations could further contribute to the pace of consolidation as well
as the introduction of new entrants in the hearing aid market. Please see the risk factor titled, “Changes in the regulatory landscape for hearing aid devices
could render our direct-to-consumer business model contrary to applicable regulatory requirements, and we may be required to seek additional clearance or
approval for our products.” These factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The size and expected growth of our addressable market has not been established with precision and may be smaller than we estimate.

Our estimates of the addressable market for our current products and future products are based on a number of internal and third-party estimates
and assumptions, including the prevalence of hearing loss across income levels and demographic profiles. While we believe our assumptions and the data
underlying our estimates are reasonable, these assumptions and estimates may not be correct. For example, although we expect that the prevalence of
hearing loss will increase as the U.S. population ages, demographic trends could shift and the prevalence of hearing loss could decrease. Furthermore, even
if the prevalence of hearing loss increases as we expect, technological or medical advances could provide alternatives to address hearing loss and reduce
demand for hearing aids. As a result, our estimates of the size and expected growth of the addressable market for our current or future products may prove
to be incorrect. If the actual number of consumers who would benefit from our products, the price at which we can sell future products or the addressable
market for our products is smaller than we estimate, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in third-party coverage and reimbursement may impact our ability to grow and sell our products.

Our products are primarily purchased on a cash-pay basis and currently only have limited coverage by third-party payors. Third-party coverage and
reimbursement may increase for certain hearing aids but not our products, or could decrease for our products, which could reduce our market share. The
process for determining whether a third-party payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate from the process for establishing the
reimbursement rate that such a payor will pay for the product. A payor’s decision to provide coverage for a product does not imply that an adequate
reimbursement rate will be approved. Further, one payor’s determination to provide coverage for a product does not assure that other payors will also
provide such coverage. Third-party coverage and reimbursement may never become available to us at sufficient levels.

To the extent we sell our products internationally, market acceptance may depend, in part, upon the availability of coverage and reimbursement
within prevailing healthcare payment systems. Reimbursement and healthcare payment systems in international markets vary significantly by country and
include both government-sponsored healthcare and private insurance. We may not obtain international coverage and reimbursement approvals in a timely
manner, if at all. Our failure to receive such approvals would negatively impact market acceptance of our products in the international markets in which
those approvals are sought.

We spend significant amounts on advertising and other marketing campaigns to acquire new customers, which may not be successful or cost effective.

We market our hearing aids through a mix of digital and traditional marketing channels. These include paid search, digital display advertising,
email marketing, affiliate marketing, direct response television, national reach television and select print and radio advertising. We also leverage our
database of prospects and customers to further drive customer acquisition and referrals. We spend significant amounts on advertising and other marketing
campaigns to acquire new customers, and we expect our marketing expenses to increase in the future as we continue to spend significant amounts to
acquire new customers and increase awareness of our products. While we seek to structure our marketing campaigns in the manner that we believe is most
likely to encourage consumers to use our
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products, we may fail to identify marketing opportunities that satisfy our anticipated return on marketing spend as we scale our investments in marketing,
accurately predict customer acquisition or fully understand or estimate the conditions and behaviors that drive consumer behavior. If any of our marketing
campaigns prove less successful than anticipated in attracting new customers, we may not be able to recover our marketing spend, and our rate of customer
acquisition may fail to meet market expectations, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations. There can be no assurance that our marketing efforts will result in increased sales of our products.

In addition, we believe that building a strong brand and developing and achieving broad awareness of our brand is critical to achieving market
success. If any of our brand-building activities prove less successful than anticipated in attracting new customers, we may not be able to recover our brand-
building spend, and our rate of customer acquisition may fail to meet market expectations, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that our brand-building efforts will result in increased sales of our
products.

We experience seasonality in our business, which may cause fluctuations in our financial results.

Historically, we have experienced and expect to continue to experience seasonality in our business, with higher sales volumes in quarters when we
launch new products and in the fourth calendar quarter as a result of holiday promotional activity.

Because of these fluctuations, among other factors, it is possible that in future periods our operating results will fall below the expectations of
securities analysts or investors, in which case the market price of our stock would likely decrease. These fluctuations, among other factors, also mean that
our operating results in any particular period may not be relied upon as an indication of future performance.

Our products are complex to design and manufacture and could contain defects. The production and sale of defective products could adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. If product liability lawsuits are brought against us, we may incur substantial liabilities and
may be required to limit commercialization of our products.

We make hearing aids that include highly complex electronic components, which are sourced from external third parties, and there is an inherent
risk that defects may occur in the production of any of our products. Although we rely on the supplier’s internal procedures designed to minimize risks that
may arise from quality issues, there can be no assurance that we or our suppliers will be able to eliminate or mitigate occurrences of these issues and
associated liabilities. Under consumer product legislation in many jurisdictions, we may be forced to recall or repurchase defective products, and more
restrictive laws and regulations relating to these matters may be adopted in the future. We also face exposure to product liability claims in the event that any
of our devices are alleged to have resulted in personal injury or damage to property, or otherwise to have caused harm. For example, we may be sued if any
of our hearing aids allegedly causes injury or is found to be otherwise unsuitable during product testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale. Any such
product liability claims may include allegations of defects in manufacturing, defects in design, a failure to warn of dangers inherent in the product,
negligence, strict liability and a breach of warranty. Claims could also be asserted under state consumer protection acts. If we cannot successfully defend
ourselves against product liability claims, we may incur substantial liabilities or be required to limit commercialization of our products. Even successful
defense would require significant financial and management resources. Regardless of the merits or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

 • decreased demand for our current or future products;

 • injury to our reputation;

 • costs to defend the related litigation;

 • a diversion of management’s time and our resources;

 • substantial monetary awards to customers;
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 • regulatory investigations, product recalls, withdrawals or labeling, marketing or promotional restrictions;

 • loss of revenue; and

 • the inability to sell our current or any future products.

Our inability to obtain and maintain sufficient product liability insurance at an acceptable cost and scope of coverage to protect against potential
product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the sale of our current or any future products we develop. Although we currently carry product liability
insurance, any claim that may be brought against us could result in a court judgment or settlement in an amount that is not covered, in whole or in part, by
our insurance or that is in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. Our insurance policies also have various exclusions and deductibles, and we may
be subject to a product liability claim for which we have no coverage. We will have to pay any amounts awarded by a court or negotiated in a settlement
that exceed our coverage limitations or that are not covered by our insurance, and we may not have, or be able to obtain, sufficient funds to pay such
amounts. Moreover, in the future, we may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against
losses.

In addition, any product defects, recalls or claims that result in significant adverse publicity could have a negative effect on our reputation, result in
loss of market share or failure to achieve market acceptance. For example, our first generation hearing aid, launched in 2015, had a high incidence of
product returns and warranty claims. As a result, we voluntarily withdrew the product from the market. The production and sale of defective products in the
future could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to consumer protection laws that regulate our marketing practices and prohibit unfair or deceptive acts or practices. Our actual or
perceived failure to comply with such obligations could harm our business, and changes in such regulations or laws could require us to modify our
products or marketing or advertising efforts.

In connection with the marketing or advertisement of our products, we could be the target of claims relating to false, misleading, deceptive or
otherwise noncompliant advertising or marketing practices, including under the auspices of the Federal Trade Commission and state consumer protection
statutes. If we rely on third parties to provide any marketing and advertising of our products, we could be liable for, or face reputational harm as a result of,
their marketing practices if, for example, they fail to comply with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.

If we are found to have breached any consumer protection, advertising, unfair competition or other laws or regulations, we may be subject to
enforcement actions that require us to change our marketing and business practices in a manner which may negatively impact us. This could also result in
litigation, fines, penalties and adverse publicity that could cause reputational harm and loss of customer trust, which could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Alternative technologies or therapies that improve or cure hearing loss could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

If medical research were to lead to the discovery of alternative therapies or technologies that improve or cure the various forms of hearing loss as
an alternative to the hearing aid, such as by surgical techniques, the use of pharmaceuticals or breakthrough bio-technological innovations or therapies, our
profitability could suffer through a reduction in sales. The discovery of a cure for the various forms of hearing loss and the development of other
alternatives to hearing aids could result in decreased demand for our products and, accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Adapting our production capacities to evolving patterns of demand is expensive, time-consuming and subject to significant uncertainties. We may not
be able to adequately predict consumer trends and may be unable to adjust our production in a timely manner.

We market our products directly to consumers in the United States, where we face the risk of significant changes in the demand for our products. If
demand decreases, we will need to implement capacity and cost reduction measures involving restructuring costs. If demand increases, we will be required
to make capital expenditures related to increased production and expenditures to hire and train production and sales and product support personnel.
Adapting to changes in demand inherently lags behind the actual changes because it takes time to identify the change the market is undergoing and to
implement any measures taken as a result. Finally, capacity adjustments are inherently risky because there is imperfect information, and market trends may
rapidly intensify, ebb or even reverse. We have in the past not always been, and may in the future not be, able to accurately or timely predict trends in
demand and consumer behavior or to take appropriate measures to mitigate risks and exploit opportunities resulting from such trends. Any inability in the
future to identify or to adequately and effectively react to changes in demand could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

International trade disputes could result in tariffs and other protectionist measures that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Tariffs could increase the cost of our products and the raw materials that go into making them. These increased costs could adversely impact the
gross margin that we earn on our products. Tariffs could also make our products more expensive for customers, which could make our products less
competitive and reduce consumer demand. Countries may also adopt other protectionist measures that could limit our ability to offer our products. Political
uncertainty surrounding international trade disputes and protectionist measures could also have a negative effect on consumer confidence and spending,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are dependent on international manufacturers and suppliers, which exposes us to foreign operational and political risks that may harm our
business.

We currently rely on a single manufacturer located in Thailand, Hana Microelectronics, for the manufacture of all of our products currently
available for sale and have entered into a manufacturing services agreement with a second manufacturer located in Taiwan, Pegatron Corporation, for the
manufacture of our next generation hearing aid. In addition, we rely on some third-party suppliers in Europe, Southeast Asia, Japan, China and the United
States, who supply, among other things, certain of the technology and raw materials used in the manufacturing of our products. Our reliance on
international operations exposes us to risks and uncertainties, including:

 • controlling quality of supplies;

 • trade protection measures, tariffs and other duties, especially in light of trade disputes between the United States and several foreign
countries, including China and countries in Europe;

 • political, social and economic instability;

 • the outbreak of contagious diseases, such as COVID-19;

 • laws and business practices that favor local companies;

 • interruptions and limitations in telecommunication services;

 • product or material delays or disruption;

 • import and export license requirements and restrictions;

 • difficulties in the protection of intellectual property;

 • exchange controls, currency restrictions and fluctuations in currency values; and

 • potential adverse tax consequences.
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If any of these risks were to materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If manufacturers and suppliers are unable to procure raw materials, semi-finished products and finished products on terms or within timeframes
acceptable to us, our business may suffer.

We are dependent on the availability of raw materials necessary to manufacture the products we sell. We rely on third-party manufacturers and
suppliers to identify and purchase quality raw materials, semi-finished goods and finished goods while seeking to preserve our quality standards. If our
suppliers or third-party manufacturers experience shortages, limited access or increased costs of certain raw materials and other semi-finished or finished
goods, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, it may result in production delays or delays in deliveries of our products to our customers.
Production by one or more manufacturers or suppliers may be suspended or delayed, temporarily or permanently, due to economic or technical problems
such as the insolvency of the manufacturer, the failure of the manufacturing facilities or disruption of the production process, all of which are beyond our
control. Any shortage, delay or interruption in the availability of our products may negatively affect our ability to meet consumer demand. As a result, our
business may be unable to offer a satisfactory experience to customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

We or the third parties upon whom we depend may be adversely affected by disasters, and our business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not
adequately protect us from a serious disaster. Any interruption in the operations of our or our suppliers’ manufacturing or other facilities may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our corporate headquarters are located in the San Francisco Bay Area, which has experienced both severe earthquakes and wildfires. We do not
carry earthquake insurance. The current sole manufacturer of our hearing aid finished products is located in Thailand, which has experienced landslides,
flooding, tropical storms and tsunamis. We have entered into a manufacturing services agreement with a second manufacturer located in Taiwan, which has
also experienced landslides, flooding, tropical storms and tsunamis. Our customer support operations are based in Nashville, Tennessee, and our third-party
provider’s distribution facilities are based in Louisville, Kentucky, both of which have experienced flooding and tornadoes. Severe weather, natural
disasters and other calamities, such as pandemics (including COVID-19), earthquakes, tsunamis and hurricanes, fires and explosions, accidents, mechanical
failures, unscheduled downtimes, civil unrest, strikes, transportation interruptions, unpermitted discharges or releases of toxic or hazardous substances,
other environmental risks, sabotage, geopolitical unrest, political instability, terrorism or acts of war, could severely disrupt our operations, or our third-
party manufacturers’ and suppliers’ operations, and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If a natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented us from using all or a significant portion of our headquarters or other
facilities, or those of our third-party manufacturers or suppliers, that damaged critical infrastructure, such as our enterprise financial systems or
manufacturing resource planning and enterprise quality systems, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible,
for us to continue our business for a substantial period of time. A mechanical failure or disruption affecting any major operating line may result in a
disruption to our ability to supply customers, and standby capacity may not be available. The disaster recovery and business continuity plans we have in
place currently are limited and are unlikely to prove adequate in the event of a serious disaster or similar event. The potential impact of any disruption
would depend on the nature and extent of the damage caused by a disaster. There can be no assurance that alternative production capacity will be available
in the future in the event of a major disruption or, if it is available, that it could be obtained on favorable terms. We may incur substantial expenses as a
result of the limited nature of our disaster recovery and business continuity plans, which, particularly when taken together with our lack of earthquake
insurance, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Furthermore, integral parties in our supply chain are similarly vulnerable to natural disasters or other sudden, unforeseen and severe adverse events.
If such an event were to affect our supply chain, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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We may be deemed to manufacture or contract to manufacture products that contain “conflict minerals.”

While we do not believe we manufacture or contract to manufacture products that contain conflict minerals, we may be deemed to manufacture or
contract to manufacture products that contain certain minerals that have been designated as “conflict minerals” under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform
and Consumer Protection Act. As a result, in future periods, we may be required to diligence the origin of such minerals and disclose and report whether or
not such minerals originated in the Democratic Republic of the Congo or adjoining countries. The implementation of these new requirements could
adversely affect the sourcing, availability and pricing of minerals used in the manufacture of our products. In addition, we may incur additional costs to
comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to determining the source of any of the relevant minerals and metals used in our products.

Any future international expansion will subject us to additional costs and risks that may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Historically, all of our sales have been to customers in the United States. To the extent we enter into international markets in the future, there are
significant costs and risks inherent in conducting business in international markets. If we expand, or attempt to expand, into foreign markets, we will be
subject to new business risks, in addition to regulatory risks. In addition, expansion into foreign markets imposes additional burdens on our executive and
administrative personnel, finance and legal teams, research and marketing teams and general managerial resources.

We have limited experience with regulatory environments and market practices internationally, and we may not be able to penetrate or successfully
operate in new markets. We may also encounter difficulty expanding into international markets because of limited brand recognition in certain parts of the
world, leading to delayed acceptance of our products by consumers in these international markets. If we are unable to expand internationally and manage
the complexity of international operations successfully, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If our efforts to introduce our products into foreign markets are not successful, we may have expended significant resources without realizing the expected
benefit. Ultimately, the investment required for expansion into foreign markets could exceed the results of operations generated from this expansion.

Our Loan Agreement contains restrictions that limit our flexibility in operating our business.

In June 2018, we entered into a loan and security agreement, as amended in January 2019, May 2020 and in September 2020, with Silicon Valley
Bank (the 2018 Loan). We borrowed $15.0 million upon the closing of the September 2020 amendment, a portion of which was used to repay in full the
outstanding principal amount of the previously funded term loan. As of December 31, 2020, $15.0 million in aggregate principal amount was outstanding
under the term loan facility. The 2018 Loan has a maturity date of September 1, 2024. The 2018 Loan contains various covenants that limit our ability to
engage in specified types of transactions without Silicon Valley Bank’s prior consent. These covenants limit our ability to, among other things:

 • encumber or license our intellectual property subject to certain exceptions;

 • sell, transfer, lease or dispose of our assets subject to certain exclusions;

 • create, incur or assume additional indebtedness;

 • encumber or permit liens on any of our assets other than certain permitted liens;

 • make restricted payments, including paying dividends on, repurchasing or making distributions with respect to any of our capital stock;

 • make specified investments (including loans and advances);

 • consolidate, merge with, or acquire any other entity, or sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets; and

 • enter into certain transactions with our affiliates.
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In addition, the 2018 Loan requires us to maintain a certain percentage of our total cash holdings in accounts with Silicon Valley Bank. The
covenants in the 2018 Loan limit our ability to take certain actions and, in the event that we breach one or more covenants, Silicon Valley Bank may choose
to declare an event of default and require that we immediately repay all amounts outstanding of the aggregate principal amount of term loans funded under
the 2018 Loan, plus exit fees, prepayment premiums, penalties and interest, and foreclose on the collateral granted to it to secure such indebtedness. Such
repayment could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to a number of risks related to the credit card and debit card payments we accept.

We accept payments through credit and debit card transactions. For credit and debit card payments, we pay interchange and other fees, which may
increase over time. An increase in those fees may require us to increase the prices we charge and would increase our operating expenses, either of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we or our processing vendors fail to maintain adequate systems for the authorization and processing of credit and debit card transactions, it could
cause one or more of the major credit card companies to disallow our continued use of their payment products. In addition, if these systems fail to work
properly and, as a result, we do not charge our customers’ credit or debit cards on a timely basis, or at all, it could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The payment methods that we offer also subject us to potential fraud and theft by criminals, who are becoming increasingly more sophisticated in
exploiting weaknesses that may exist in the payment systems. If we fail to comply with applicable rules or requirements for the payment methods we
accept, or if payment-related data is compromised due to a breach, we may be liable for significant costs incurred by payment card issuing banks and other
third parties or subject to fines and higher transaction fees, or our ability to accept or facilitate certain types of payments may be impaired. In addition, our
customers could lose confidence in certain payment types, which may result in a shift to other payment types or potential changes to our payment systems
that may result in higher costs. If we fail to adequately control fraudulent credit card transactions, we may face civil liability, diminished public perception
of our security measures and significantly higher card-related costs, each of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

We are also subject to payment card association operating rules, certification requirements and rules governing electronic funds transfers, which
could change or be reinterpreted to make it more difficult for us to comply. We are required to comply with payment card industry security standards.
Failing to comply with those standards may violate payment card association operating rules, federal and state laws and regulations and the terms of our
contracts with payment processors. Any failure to comply fully also may subject us to fines, penalties, damages and civil liability, and may result in the loss
of our ability to accept credit and debit card payments. Further, there is no guarantee that such compliance will prevent illegal or improper use of our
payment systems or the theft, loss or misuse of data pertaining to credit and debit cards, card holders and transactions.

If we are unable to maintain our chargeback rate or refund rates at acceptable levels, our processing vendor may increase our transaction fees or
terminate its relationship with us. Any increases in our credit and debit card fees could harm our results of operations, particularly if we elect not to raise
our rates for our products to offset the increase. The termination of our ability to process payments on any major credit or debit card would significantly
impair our ability to operate our business.

If we fail to attract and retain senior management and key technology personnel, our business may be materially and adversely affected.

Our success depends in part on our continued ability to attract, retain and motivate highly qualified management and clinical and scientific
personnel. We are highly dependent upon our senior management, particularly our President and Chief Executive Officer, as well as our senior technology
personnel and other members of our senior management team. The unplanned loss of the services of any of our members of senior management could
adversely affect our business until a suitable replacement can be found.
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Competition for qualified personnel in the medical device field in general and the audiology field specifically is intense due to the limited number
of individuals who possess the training, skills and experience required by our industry. In addition, our future growth and success also depend on our ability
to attract, recruit, develop and retain skilled managerial, sales, administration, operating and technical personnel. We will continue to review, and where
necessary, strengthen our senior management as the needs of the business develop, including through internal promotion and external hires. However, there
may be a limited number of persons with the requisite competencies to serve in these positions and we cannot assure you that we would be able to locate or
employ such qualified personnel on terms acceptable to us, or at all. Therefore, the unplanned loss of one or more of our key personnel, or our failure to
attract and retain additional key personnel, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, to
the extent we hire personnel from competitors, we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or that they have divulged
proprietary or other confidential information, or that their former employers own their research output.

We rely on our own direct sales force, and if we are unable to maintain or expand our sales force, it could harm our business. Additionally, our reliance
on our direct sales force may result in higher fixed costs than our competitors and may slow our ability to reduce costs in the face of a sudden decline
in demand for our products.

We rely on our own direct sales force to market and sell our products. We do not have any long-term employment contracts with the members of
our direct sales force. Our operating results are directly dependent upon the sales and marketing efforts of our sales and customer support team. If our
employees fail to adequately promote, market and sell our products, our sales could significantly decrease. As we launch new products, expand our product
offerings and increase our marketing efforts with respect to existing products, we will need to expand the reach of our marketing and sales networks. Our
future success will depend largely on our ability to continue to hire, train, retain and motivate skilled employees with significant technical knowledge in
various areas. New hires require training and take time to achieve full productivity.

Additionally, most of our competitors rely predominantly on third-party distributors. A direct sales force may subject us to higher fixed costs than
those of competitors that market their products through independent third parties, due to the costs that we will bear associated with employee benefits,
training and managing sales personnel. As a result, we could be at a competitive disadvantage. Additionally, these fixed costs may slow our ability to
reduce costs in the face of a sudden decline in demand for our products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In the future, we expect we will need to increase the size of our organization, and we may experience difficulties in managing growth. A deterioration
in our relationships with our employees could have an adverse impact on our business.

In the future, we expect to expand our managerial, operational, finance and other resources in order to manage our operations and continue our
research and development activities. Our management and personnel, systems and facilities currently in place may not be adequate to support this future
growth. Our need to effectively execute our growth strategy requires that we:

 • manage our commercial operations effectively;

 • identify, recruit, retain, incentivize and integrate additional employees;

 • manage our internal development and operational efforts effectively while carrying out our contractual obligations to third parties; and

 • continue to improve our operational, financial and management controls, reports systems and procedures.

Maintaining good relationships with our employees is crucial to our operations. As a result, any deterioration of the relationships with our
employees could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Additionally, material disruption to our business as a result of strikes, work stoppages or other labor disputes could disrupt our operations, result in
a loss of reputation, increased wages and benefits or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We rely on our relationship with a professional employer organization for our human relations function and as a co-employer of our personnel, and if
that party failed to perform its responsibilities under that relationship, our relations with our employees could be damaged and we could incur liabilities
that could have a material adverse effect on our business.

All of our personnel, including our executive officers, are co-employees of Eargo and a professional employer organization, Insperity. Under the
terms of our arrangement, Insperity is the formal employer of all of our personnel and is responsible for administering all payroll, including tax
withholding, and providing health insurance and other benefits for these individuals, and our employees are governed by the work policies created by
Insperity. We reimburse Insperity for these costs, and pay Insperity an administrative fee for its services. If Insperity fails to comply with applicable laws or
its obligations under this arrangement, or creates work policies that are viewed unfavorably by employees, our relationship with our employees could be
damaged. We could, under certain circumstances, be held liable for a failure by Insperity to appropriately pay, or withhold and remit required taxes from
payments to, our employees. In such a case, our potential liability could be significant and could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

We do not expect to become profitable in the near future, may never achieve profitability, and have incurred substantial net operating losses, or
NOLs, during our history. Unused NOLs will carry forward to offset a portion of future taxable income, if any, until such unused NOLs expire, if ever.
Federal NOLs generated after December 31, 2017 are not subject to expiration, but the yearly utilization of such federal NOLs is limited to 80 percent of
taxable income for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020. In addition, in general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its prechange NOLs or tax credits to
offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more
stockholders or groups of stockholders who owns at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases its ownership by more than 50 percentage points over its
lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. If finalized, Treasury Regulations currently proposed under Section 382 of the Code may
further limit our ability to utilize our pre-change NOLs or credits if we undergo a future ownership change. We believe we have experienced more than one
ownership change in the past, and we may experience additional ownership changes in the future as a result of shifts in our stock ownership (some of which
shifts are outside our control). As a result, even if we attain profitability, we may be unable to use a material portion of our NOLs and other tax attributes.

Risks relating to intellectual property and legal and regulatory matters

Our success depends in part on our proprietary technology, and if we are unable to obtain, maintain or successfully enforce our intellectual property
rights, the commercial value of our products and services will be adversely affected and our competitive position may be harmed.

Our success and ability to compete depend in part on our ability to maintain and enforce existing intellectual property and to obtain, maintain and
enforce further intellectual property protection for our products and services, both in the United States and in other countries. We attempt to protect our
intellectual property rights through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well as licensing agreements and third-party
confidentiality and assignment agreements. Our inability to do so could harm our competitive position. As of December 31, 2020, we had 22 issued U.S.
patents, 16 patents outside the United States, 4 pending U.S. patent applications and 10 pending foreign patent applications.

We rely on our portfolio of issued and pending patent applications in the United States and other countries to protect our intellectual property and
our competitive position. However, the patent positions of medical device companies, including our patent position, may involve complex legal and factual
questions, and, therefore, the scope, validity and enforceability of any patent claims that we may obtain cannot be predicted with certainty.
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Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurances that any of our issued patents have, or that any of our currently pending or future patent applications that
mature into issued patents will include, claims with a scope sufficient to protect our products and services. Our pending and future patent applications may
not result in the issuance of patents or, if issued, may not issue in a form that will be advantageous to us. While we generally apply for patents in those
countries where we intend to make, have made, use or sell patented products, we may not accurately predict all of the countries where patent protection will
ultimately be desirable. If we fail to timely file for a patent, we may be precluded from doing so at a later date. Additionally, any patents issued to us may
be challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held unenforceable or circumvented, or may not be sufficiently broad to prevent third parties from producing
competing products similar in design to our products.

Changes in either patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States and other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual
property or narrow the scope of our patent protection, which in turn could diminish the commercial value of our products and services. In addition, any
protection afforded by foreign patents may be more limited than that provided under U.S. patent and intellectual property laws. There can be no assurance
that any of our patents, any patents licensed to us or any patents which we may be issued in the future will provide us with a competitive advantage or
afford us protection against infringement by others, or that the patents will not be successfully challenged or circumvented by third parties, including our
competitors. Further, there can be no assurance that we will have adequate resources to enforce our patents. Any of the foregoing could have a material
adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and our
competitive position may be harmed.

We rely on our trademarks, trade names and brand names to distinguish our products from the products of our competitors, and have registered or
applied to register many of these trademarks. There can be no assurance that our trademark applications will be approved. Third parties may also oppose
our trademark applications or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be
forced to rebrand our products, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new
brands. Further, there can be no assurance that competitors will not infringe our trademarks or that we will have adequate resources to enforce our
trademarks. We also license third parties to use our trademarks. In an effort to preserve our trademark rights, we enter into license agreements with these
third parties, which govern the use of our trademarks and require our licensees to abide by quality control standards with respect to the goods and services
that they provide under our trademarks. Although we make efforts to monitor the use of our trademarks by our licensees, there can be no assurance that
these efforts will be sufficient to ensure that our licensees abide by the terms of their licenses. In the event that our licensees fail to do so, our trademark
rights could be diluted. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property, which could be expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

Third parties, including our competitors, could be infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating our intellectual property rights. While we are
not aware of any unauthorized use of our intellectual property, we do not regularly conduct monitoring for unauthorized use at this time. In the future, we
may from time to time, seek to analyze our competitors’ products and services, or seek to enforce our rights against potential infringement,
misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. However, the steps we have taken to protect our proprietary rights may not be adequate to enforce
our rights as against such infringement, misappropriation or violation of our intellectual property. We may not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take
appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights. Any inability to meaningfully enforce our intellectual property rights could harm our ability to
compete and reduce demand for our products and services.

We may in the future become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our intellectual property rights. An adverse result in any litigation
proceeding could harm our business. In any lawsuit we bring to enforce our intellectual property rights, a court may refuse to stop the other party from
using the technology at issue on grounds that our intellectual property rights do not cover the technology in question. If we initiate legal proceedings
against a third party to enforce a patent covering a product, the defendant could counterclaim that such patent is invalid or
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unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a
validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness, or non-enablement.
Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from
the United States Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Mechanisms for such challenges include
re-examination, post-grant review, inter partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions
(e.g., opposition proceedings). Such proceedings could result in the revocation of, cancellation of, or amendment to our patents in such a way that they no
longer cover our products, or any future products that we may develop.

The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we
cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a third party were to
prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on our products. Such a
loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

Because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during litigation. There could also be public announcements of the results of hearing,
motions, or other interim developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a material adverse effect on
the price of shares of our common stock. Even if we ultimately prevail, a court may decide not to grant an injunction against further infringing activity and
instead award only monetary damages, which may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, the monetary cost of such litigation and the diversion of the
attention of our management could outweigh any benefit we receive as a result of the proceedings. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and
continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate the intellectual property rights of third parties or are subject to an intellectual property infringement
or misappropriation claim, our ability to grow our business may be severely limited and our business could be adversely affected.

We may in the future be the subject of patent or other litigation. Our products and services may infringe, or third parties may claim that they
infringe, intellectual property rights covered by patents or patent applications under which we do not hold licenses or other rights. Third parties may own or
control these patents and patent applications in the United States and abroad. These third parties could bring claims against us that would cause us to incur
substantial expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could cause us to pay substantial damages. Further, if a patent infringement or other
intellectual property-related lawsuit were brought against us, we could be forced to stop or delay production or sales of the product that is the subject of the
suit. From time to time, we have received and may in the future receive letters from third parties drawing our attention to their patent rights. While we take
steps to ensure that we do not infringe upon, misappropriate or otherwise violate the rights of others, there may be other more pertinent rights of which we
are presently unaware. The defense and prosecution of intellectual property lawsuits could result in substantial expense to us and significant diversion of
effort by our technical and management personnel. An adverse determination of any litigation or interference proceeding to which we may become a party
could subject us to significant liabilities. As a result of patent infringement claims, or in order to avoid potential claims, we may choose or be required to
seek a license from the third party and be required to pay significant license fees, royalties or both. Licenses may not be available on commercially
reasonable terms, or at all, in which event our business would be materially and adversely affected. Even if we were able to obtain a license, the rights may
be nonexclusive, which could result in our competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. Ultimately, if we are unable to obtain such licenses,
we could be forced to cease some aspect of our business operations, which could harm our business significantly.

Recent changes in U.S. patent laws may limit our ability to obtain, defend and/or enforce our patents.

Recent patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patents. The Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the Leahy-Smith Act, includes a number of significant changes to
U.S. patent law. These include provisions that
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affect the way patent applications are prosecuted and also affect patent litigation. The USPTO recently developed new regulations and procedures to govern
administration of the Leahy-Smith Act, and many of the substantive changes to patent law associated with the Leahy-Smith Act, and in particular, the first
to file provisions, which became effective on March 16, 2013. The first to file provisions limit the rights of an inventor to patent an invention if not the first
to file an application for patenting that invention, even if such invention was the first invention. Accordingly, it is not clear what, if any, impact the Leahy-
Smith Act will have on the operation of our business.

However, the Leahy-Smith Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the enforcement and defense of our
issued patents. For example, the Leahy-Smith Act provides that an administrative tribunal known as the Patent Trial and Appeals Board, or PTAB, provides
a venue for challenging the validity of patents at a cost that is much lower than district court litigation and on timelines that are much faster. Although it is
not clear what, if any, long-term impact the PTAB proceedings will have on the operation of our business, the initial results of patent challenge proceedings
before the PTAB since its inception in 2013 have resulted in the invalidation of many U.S. patent claims. The availability of the PTAB as a lower-cost,
faster and potentially more potent tribunal for challenging patents could increase the likelihood that our own patents will be challenged, thereby increasing
the uncertainties and costs of maintaining and enforcing them.

We may be subject to claims that we or our employees have misappropriated the intellectual property of a third party, including trade secrets or know-
how, or are in breach of non-competition or non-solicitation agreements with our competitors and third parties may claim an ownership interest in
intellectual property we regard as our own.

Many of our employees and consultants were previously employed at or engaged by other medical device companies, including our competitors or
potential competitors. Some of these employees, consultants and contractors may have executed proprietary rights, non-disclosure and non-competition
agreements in connection with such previous employment. Although we try to ensure that our employees and consultants do not use the intellectual
property, proprietary information, know-how or trade secrets of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or these individuals have,
inadvertently or otherwise, misappropriated the intellectual property or disclosed the alleged trade secrets or other proprietary information, of these former
employers, competitors or other third parties. Additionally, we may be subject to claims from third parties challenging our ownership interest in or
inventorship of intellectual property we regard as our own, based on claims that our agreements with employees or consultants obligating them to assign
intellectual property to us are ineffective or in conflict with prior or competing contractual obligations to assign inventions to another employer, to a former
employer, or to another person or entity. Litigation may be necessary to defend against claims, and it may be necessary or we may desire to enter into a
license to settle any such claim; however, there can be no assurance that we would be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. If
our defense to those claims fails, in addition to paying monetary damages or a settlement payment, a court could prohibit us from using technologies,
features or other intellectual property that are essential to our products, if such technologies or features are found to incorporate or be derived from the trade
secrets or other proprietary information of the former employers. An inability to incorporate technologies, features or other intellectual property that are
important or essential to our products could have a material adverse effect on our business and competitive position, and may prevent us from selling our
products. In addition, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation
could result in substantial costs and could be a distraction to management. Any litigation or the threat thereof may adversely affect our ability to hire
employees or contract with independent sales representatives. A loss of key personnel or their work product could hamper or prevent our ability to
commercialize our products, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and prospects.

We operate in a regulated industry and changes in regulation or the implementation of existing regulation could affect our operations.

Our products and our business activities are subject to rigorous regulation in the jurisdictions in which we operate. In particular, these laws govern:
(i) coverage and reimbursement by the national health services or by private health insurance services for the purchase of hearing aids; (ii) the supply of
hearing aids to the public and, more specifically, the training and qualifications required to practice the profession of hearing aid fitting specialist; and (iii)
the development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, premarket clearance or approval and marketing,
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advertising, promotion, export and import of our hearing aids. Accordingly, our business may be affected by changes in any such laws and regulations and,
in particular, by changes to the conditions for coverage, the way in which reimbursement is calculated, the ability to obtain national health insurance
coverage or the role of the ear, nose and throat specialists.

While the various agencies that enforce the EU’s Medical Device Directive, the Japanese Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare and the FDA are
the regulatory bodies affecting us most prominently, there are numerous other regulatory schemes at the international, national and sub-national levels to
which we are subject. These regulations can be burdensome and subject to change on short notice, exposing us to the risk of increased costs and business
disruption, and regulatory premarket clearance or approval requirements may affect or delay our ability to market our new products. We cannot guarantee
that we will be able to obtain marketing clearance or approval for our new products, or enhancements or modifications to existing products. If we do, such
clearance or approval may take a significant amount of time and require the expenditure of substantial resources. Further, such clearance or approval may
involve stringent testing procedures, modifications, repairs or replacements of our products and could result in limitations on the proposed uses of our
products. Regulatory authorities and legislators have been recently increasing their scrutiny of the healthcare industry, and there are ongoing regulatory
efforts to reduce healthcare costs that may intensify in the future. Our business is also sensitive to any changes in tort and product liability laws.

Regulations pertaining to our products have become increasingly stringent and more common, particularly in developing countries whose
regulations approach standards previously attained only by some Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development countries, and we may
become subject to more rigorous regulation by governmental authorities in the future. Conversely, however, the regulation of hearing aids as medical
devices provides a barrier to entry for new competitors. For example, if certain of our products were made subject to less stringent regulation by the FDA in
the United States, then products similar to ours may be marketed and sold more freely, and our products may become commoditized. If the markets in
which we operate become less regulated, those barriers to entry may be eliminated or reduced, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Both before and after a product is commercially released, we have ongoing responsibilities under various laws and regulations. If a regulatory
authority were to conclude that we are not in compliance with applicable laws or regulations, or that any of our hearing aids are ineffective or pose an
unreasonable risk for the end-user, the authority may ban such hearing aids, detain or seize adulterated or misbranded hearing aids, order a recall, repair,
replacement or refund of such instruments, and require us to notify health professionals and others that the devices present unreasonable risks of substantial
harm to the public health. A regulatory authority may also impose operating restrictions, enjoin and restrain certain violations of applicable law pertaining
to medical devices, and assess civil or criminal penalties against our officers, employees or us. The regulatory authority may also recommend prosecution
by law enforcement agencies. Any governmental law or regulation, existing or imposed in the future, or enforcement action taken may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our hearing aids are subject to extensive government regulation at the federal and state level, and our failure to comply with applicable requirements
could harm our business.

Our hearing aids are medical devices that are subject to extensive regulation in the United States, including by the FDA and state agencies. The
FDA regulates, among other things, the design, development, research, manufacture, testing, labeling, marketing, promotion, advertising, sale, import and
export of hearing aid devices, such as those we market. Applicable medical device regulations are complex and have tended to become more stringent over
time. Regulatory changes could result in restrictions on our ability to carry out or expand our operations.

The FDA classifies medical devices into one of three classes (Class I, II, or III) based on the degree of risk associated with a device and the level of
regulatory control deemed necessary to ensure its safety and effectiveness. Class I devices are those for which safety and effectiveness can be assured by
adherence to the FDA’s general controls for medical devices, which include compliance with the FDA’s current good manufacturing practices for devices,
as reflected in the Quality System Regulation, or QSR, establishment registration and device listing, reporting of adverse events, and truthful, non-
misleading labeling, advertising, and promotional materials. Some

52



Class I devices also require premarket clearance by the FDA through the premarket notification process set forth in Section 510(k) of the FDCA.

The FDA has classified air-conduction hearing aids as Class I and Class II devices exempt from premarket review procedures, and although we
comply with applicable Class I and Class II medical device requirements, none of our devices have been reviewed by the FDA. Moreover, because the
FDA has stated that it does not intend to enforce the medical evaluation requirements for dispensation of Class I or Class II air-conduction hearing aids to
individuals 18 years of age and older, our devices are available directly to consumers without the medical evaluation of a licensed practitioner. If our
current or future products become subject to the pending OTC hearing aid pathway, are deemed to be Class II “self-fitting air-conduction hearing aids,” or
are otherwise required to undergo premarket review, we may be required to first receive clearance under Section 510(k) of the FDCA or approval of a
premarket approval, or PMA, application from the FDA. If this were to occur for our currently marketed devices, the FDA could require us to remove our
products from the market until we receive applicable regulatory clearance or approval, which would significantly impact our business.

In the 510(k) clearance process, before a device may be marketed, the FDA must determine that the proposed device is “substantially equivalent”
to a legally-marketed “predicate” device, which includes a device that has been previously cleared through the 510(k) process, a device that was legally
marketed prior to May 28, 1976 (a pre-amendments device), a device that was originally on the U.S. market pursuant to an approved PMA application and
later down-classified, or a 510(k)-exempt device. To be “substantially equivalent,” the proposed device must have the same intended use as the predicate
device, and either have the same technological characteristics as the predicate device or have different technological characteristics and not raise different
questions of safety or effectiveness than the predicate device. Clinical data are sometimes required to support substantial equivalence. In the PMA process,
the FDA must determine that a proposed device is safe and effective for its intended use based, in part, on extensive data, including, but not limited to,
technical, pre-clinical, clinical trial, manufacturing and labeling data. The PMA process is typically required for devices that are deemed to pose the
greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-supporting or implantable devices.

Modifications to products that are approved through a PMA application generally require FDA approval. Similarly, certain modifications made to
products cleared through a 510(k) may require a new 510(k) clearance. Both the PMA approval and the 510(k) clearance process can be expensive, lengthy
and uncertain. The FDA’s 510(k) clearance process usually takes from three to 12 months, but can last longer. The process of obtaining a PMA is much
more costly and uncertain and generally takes from one to three years, or even longer, from the time the application is filed with the FDA. In addition, a
PMA generally requires the performance of one or more clinical trials. Despite the time, effort and cost, we cannot assure you that any particular device
will be approved or cleared by the FDA.

Any delay or failure to obtain necessary regulatory clearances or approvals if required in the future could harm our business.

The FDA can delay, limit or deny clearance or approval of a device for many reasons, including:

 • inability to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction that the product or modification is substantially equivalent to the proposed predicate
device or safe and effective for its intended use;

 • the data from pre-clinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support clearance or approval, where required; and

 • the manufacturing process or facilities do not meet applicable requirements.

In addition, the FDA may change its clearance and approval policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing regulations, or take other
actions, which may prevent or delay our ability to introduce new products or modify our current products on a timely basis. For example, in November
2018, FDA officials announced forthcoming steps that the agency intends to take to modernize the 510(k) premarket notification pathway, and in
September 2019, the FDA finalized guidance to describe an optional “safety and performance based” premarket review pathway for manufacturers of
certain “well-understood device types,” which would allow manufacturers to demonstrate substantial equivalence by meeting objective safety and
performance criteria established by the FDA,
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obviating the need for manufacturers to compare the safety and performance of their medical devices to specific predicate devices in the clearance process.
If we are required to seek premarket review of our devices in the future, these proposals and reforms could impose additional regulatory requirements on us
and increase the costs of compliance.

Disruptions at the FDA and other government agencies caused by funding shortages or global health concerns could hinder their ability to hire, retain
or deploy key leadership and other personnel, or otherwise delay or prevent necessary regulatory clearances or approvals, which could negatively
impact our business.

The ability of the FDA to review and clear or approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and
funding levels, statutory, regulatory and policy changes, the FDA’s ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and other
events that may otherwise affect the FDA’s ability to perform routine functions. Average review times at the agency have fluctuated in recent years as a
result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities is subject to the political process, which
is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Disruptions at the FDA and other agencies may also slow the time necessary for new medical devices or
modifications to be cleared or approved by government agencies, which would adversely affect our business. For example, over the last several years,
including for 35 days beginning on December 22, 2018, the U.S. government has shut down several times and certain regulatory agencies, such as the
FDA, have had to furlough critical FDA employees and stop critical activities.

Separately, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, on March 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to postpone most inspections of foreign
manufacturing facilities, and on March 18, 2020, the FDA temporarily postponed routine surveillance inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities.
Subsequently, on July 10, 2020, the FDA announced its intention to resume certain on-site inspections of domestic manufacturing facilities subject to a
risk-based prioritization system. The FDA intends to use this risk-based assessment system to identify the categories of regulatory activity that can occur
within a given geographic area, ranging from mission critical inspections to resumption of all regulatory activities. Regulatory authorities outside the
United States may adopt similar restrictions or other policy measures in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs,
or if global health concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular inspections, reviews or other
regulatory activities, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA or other regulatory authorities to timely review and process our regulatory
submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms may make it more difficult and costly to produce, market and distribute our products or to do so profitably.

Recent political, economic and regulatory influences are subjecting the healthcare industry to fundamental changes. Both the federal and state
governments in the United States and foreign governments continue to propose and pass new legislation and regulations designed to contain or reduce the
cost of healthcare, improve quality of care and expand access to healthcare, among other purposes. For example, the implementation of the Affordable Care
Act has changed healthcare financing and delivery by both governmental and private insurers substantially and has affected medical device manufacturers
significantly. Other legislative changes have also been proposed and adopted since the Affordable Care Act was enacted, which included, among other
things, reductions to Medicare payments to providers of 2% per fiscal year. The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act,
which was signed into law on March 27, 2020, designed to provide financial support and resources to individuals and businesses affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, suspended these reductions from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2021, and extended the sequester by one year, through 2030. In addition, on
January 2, 2013, the American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012 was signed into law which, among other things, further reduced Medicare payments to certain
providers, including hospitals. The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015, enacted on April 16, 2015, or MACRA, repealed the formula
by which Medicare made annual payment adjustments to physicians and replaced the former formula with fixed annual updates and a new system of
incentive payments which began in 2019 that are based on various performance measures and physicians’ participation in alternative payment models such
as accountable care organizations. Future legislation and regulations may result in decreased coverage and reimbursement for medical devices, which may
further exacerbate industry-wide pressure to reduce the prices charged and market demand for medical devices. This could harm our ability to market and
generate sales from our products.
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We may face risks related to any future international sales, including the need to obtain necessary foreign regulatory clearance or approvals.

Sales of our products outside the United States will subject us to foreign regulatory requirements that vary widely from country to country. The
time required to obtain clearances or approvals required by other countries may be longer than that required for FDA clearance or approval, and
requirements for such approvals may differ from FDA requirements. We may be unable to obtain regulatory approvals and may also incur significant costs
in attempting to obtain foreign regulatory approvals. If we experience delays in receipt of approvals to market our products in new jurisdictions, or if we
fail to receive these approvals, we may be unable to market our products in international markets in a timely manner, if at all, which could materially
impact our international expansion and adversely affect our business as a whole. Some international regulations may also limit the availability of our
hearing aids to customers in certain jurisdictions without our first obtaining a license or engaging a third party to provide such financing, or limit the
financing options we can offer our customers. If any of these risks were to materialize, they could limit our expected international growth and profitability,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Regulations in certain foreign countries may challenge our direct-to-consumer sales model.

Our business may also be affected by actions of domestic and foreign governments to restrict the activities of direct-to-consumer companies for
various reasons, including a limitation on the ability of direct-to-consumer companies to operate without the involvement of a traditional retail channel. To
the extent that we begin to offer our products in international markets, foreign governments may also introduce other forms of protectionist legislation, such
as limitations or requirements on where the products can or must be produced or requirements that non-domestic companies doing or seeking to do
business place a certain percentage of ownership of legal entities in the hands of local nationals to protect the commercial interests of its citizens. Customs
laws, tariffs, import duties, export and import quotas and restrictions on repatriation of foreign earnings and/or other methods of accessing cash generated
internationally, may negatively affect our local or corporate operations. Additionally, the U.S. government may impose restrictions on our ability to engage
in business in other countries in connection with the foreign policy of the United States. Any such restrictions on our direct-to-consumer sales model in
international jurisdictions could limit our ability to grow internationally, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our hearing aids may cause or contribute to adverse medical events that we are required to report to the FDA, and if we fail to do so, we would be
subject to sanctions that could harm our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. The discovery of serious safety issues with
our products, or a recall of our products either voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA or another governmental authority, could have a negative
impact on us.

We are subject to the FDA’s medical device reporting regulations and similar foreign regulations, which require us to report to the FDA when we
receive or become aware of information that reasonably suggests that one or more of our hearing aids may have caused or contributed to a death or serious
injury or malfunctioned in a way that, if the malfunction were to recur, it could cause or contribute to a death or serious injury. The timing of our obligation
to report is triggered by the date we become aware of the adverse event as well as the nature of the event. We may fail to report adverse events of which we
become aware within the prescribed timeframe. We may also fail to recognize that we have become aware of a reportable adverse event, especially if it is
not reported to us as an adverse event or if it is an adverse event that is unexpected or removed in time from the initial use of the hearing aid device. If we
fail to comply with our reporting obligations, the FDA could take action, including warning letters, untitled letters, administrative actions, criminal
prosecution, imposition of civil monetary penalties, seizure of our products or, if premarket review is required in the future, delay in clearance of future
products.

The FDA and foreign regulatory bodies have the authority to require the recall of commercialized medical device products in the event of material
deficiencies or defects in design or manufacture of a product or in the event that a product poses an unacceptable risk to health. The FDA’s authority to
require a recall must be based on a finding that there is reasonable probability that the device could cause serious injury or death. We may also choose to
voluntarily recall a product if any material deficiency is found. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by us could occur as a result of an unacceptable
risk to health, component failures, malfunctions, manufacturing defects,
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labeling or design deficiencies, packaging defects or other deficiencies or failures to comply with applicable regulations. We cannot assure you that product
defects or other errors will not occur in the future. Recalls involving our hearing aids could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Medical device manufacturers are required to maintain certain records of recalls and corrections, even if they are not reportable to the FDA. We
may initiate voluntary withdrawals or corrections for our hearing aid devices in the future that we determine do not require notification of the FDA. If the
FDA disagrees with our determinations, it could require us to report those actions as recalls and we may be subject to enforcement action. A future recall
announcement could harm our reputation with customers, potentially lead to product liability claims against us and negatively affect our sales.

We must manufacture our products in accordance with federal and state regulations, and we could be forced to recall our products or terminate
production if we fail to comply with these regulations.

The methods used in, and the facilities used for, the manufacture of our hearing aid devices must comply with the FDA’s Quality System
Regulation, or QSR, which is a complex regulatory scheme that covers the procedures and documentation of the design, testing, production, process
controls, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, handling, storage, distribution, servicing and shipping of medical devices. Furthermore, we are required to
verify that our suppliers maintain facilities, procedures and operations that comply with our quality and applicable regulatory requirements. The FDA
enforces the QSR through periodic announced or unannounced inspections of medical device manufacturing facilities, which may include the facilities of
subcontractors, and such inspections can result in warning letters, untitled letters and other regulatory communications and adverse publicity. Our hearing
aid devices are also subject to similar state regulations and various laws and regulations of foreign countries governing manufacturing.

We cannot guarantee that we or any subcontractors will take the necessary steps to comply with applicable regulations, which could cause delays in
the manufacture and delivery of our products. In addition, failure to comply with applicable FDA requirements or later discovery of previously unknown
problems with our products or manufacturing processes could result in, among other things:

 • fines, injunctions or civil penalties;

 • suspension or withdrawal of future clearances or approvals;

 • refusal to clear or approve pending applications;

 • seizures or recalls of our products;

 • total or partial suspension of production or distribution;

 • administrative or judicially imposed sanctions;

 • refusal to permit the import or export of our products; and

 • criminal prosecution.

Any of these actions could significantly and negatively impact supply of our products. If any of these events occurs, our reputation could be
harmed, we could be exposed to product liability claims and we could lose customers and suffer reduced revenue and increased costs.

If we fail to comply with U.S. or foreign federal and state healthcare regulatory laws, we could be subject to penalties, including, but not limited to,
administrative, civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, exclusion from participation in governmental healthcare programs and the
curtailment of our operations, any of which could adversely impact our reputation and business operations.

To the extent our products are or become covered by any federal or state government healthcare program, our operations and business practices
may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations. These laws may constrain the business or financial
arrangements and relationships through which
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we conduct our operations, including our sales and marketing practices, consumer incentive and other promotional programs and other business practices.
Such laws include, without limitation:

 • the U.S. federal civil and criminal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons or entities from knowingly and
willfully soliciting, offering, receiving or providing any remuneration, directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to
induce or reward, or in return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of, any good,
facility, item or service, for which payment may be made, in whole or in part, under U.S. federal and state healthcare programs such as
Medicare, state Medicaid programs and TRICARE. A person or entity does not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific
intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

 • the U.S. federal false claims laws, including the False Claims Act, which can be enforced through whistleblower actions, and civil
monetary penalties laws, which, among other things, impose criminal and civil penalties against individuals or entities for knowingly
presenting, or causing to be presented, to the U.S. federal government, claims for payment or approval that are false or fraudulent,
knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim, or from
knowingly making a false statement to avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the U.S. federal government. In addition,
the government may assert that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute
constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the False Claims Act;

 • Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which imposes criminal and civil liability for, among other things,
knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program, or knowingly and
willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up a material fact or making any materially false statement, in connection with the delivery of,
or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services. Similar to the U.S. federal Anti-Kickback Statute, a person or entity does not need to
have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation;

 • state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, including state anti-kickback, self-referral and false claims laws that apply more
broadly to healthcare items or services paid by all payors, including self-pay patients and private insurers, that govern our interactions with
consumers or restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers and other potential referral sources;

 • the Federal Trade Commission Act and federal and state consumer protection, advertisement and unfair competition laws, which broadly
regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm consumers;

 • the U.S. Physician Payments Sunshine Act and its implementing regulations, which require certain manufacturers of drugs, devices,
biologics and medical supplies that are reimbursable under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program to report
annually to the government information related to certain payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals, as
well as ownership and investment interests held by the physicians described above and their immediate family members. Additionally, on
October 25, 2018, President Trump signed into law the “Substance Use-Disorder Prevention that Promoted Opioid Recovery and Treatment
for Patients and Communities Act” which in part (under a provision titled “Fighting the Opioid Epidemic with Sunshine”) extends the
reporting and transparency requirements for physicians in the U.S. Physician Payments Sunshine Act to physician assistants, nurse
practitioners, and other mid-level practitioners (with reporting requirements going into effect in 2022 for payments made in 2021);

 • the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, which prohibits, among other things, U.S. companies and their employees and
agents from authorizing, promising, offering or providing, directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or anything else of value to
foreign government officials, employees of public international organizations and foreign government owned or affiliated entities,
candidates for foreign political office and foreign political parties or officials thereof;

 • foreign or U.S. analogous state laws and regulations, which may apply to our business practices, including but not limited to, state laws that
require manufacturers to comply with the voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the U.S.
federal
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 government; state laws and regulations that require manufacturers to file reports relating to pricing and marketing information or that
require tracking gifts and other remuneration and items of value provided to healthcare professionals and entities; and

 • similar healthcare laws and regulations in the EU and other jurisdictions in which we may conduct activities in the future, including
reporting requirements detailing interactions with and payments to healthcare providers.

Foreign laws and regulations in this regard may vary greatly from country to country. For example, the advertising and promotion of our products
in the European Economic Area (the EEA) would be subject to EEA Directives concerning misleading and comparative advertising and unfair commercial
practices, as well as other EEA Member State legislation governing the advertising and promotion of medical devices. These laws may limit or restrict the
advertising and promotion of our products to the general public and may impose limitations on our promotional activities with healthcare professionals. We
are also subject to healthcare fraud and abuse regulation and enforcement by the countries in which we conduct our business. These healthcare laws and
regulations vary significantly from country to country.

Ensuring that our internal operations and future business arrangements with third parties comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations
will involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices do not comply with current or future
statutes, regulations, agency guidance or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found
to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental laws and regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant
penalties, including civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, exclusion from government-funded healthcare programs, such as state
Medicaid programs, TRICARE or similar programs in other countries or jurisdictions, disgorgement, imprisonment, contractual damages, reputational
harm, diminished profits and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Further, defending against any such actions can be costly and time-
consuming and may require significant personnel resources. Even if we are successful in defending against any such actions that may be brought against us,
our business may be impaired.

We are subject to numerous state hearing aid and licensure laws and regulations, and non-compliance with these laws and regulations may expose us
to significant costs or liabilities.

We are subject to numerous state and local hearing aid laws and regulations relating to, among other matters, licensure and registration of
audiologists and other individuals we employ or contract with to provide services and dispense hearing aids. Some of these laws require us to maintain
warranty and return policies for consumers allowing for the return of product and restrict advertising and marketing practices. These state and local laws
and regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent over time. The FDCA preempts state laws relating to the safety
and efficacy of medical devices and state laws that are different from or in addition to federal requirements. In Missouri Board of Examiners for Hearing
Instrument Specialists v. Hearing Help Express, Inc. and METX, LLC v. Wal-Mart Stores Texas, LLC, the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals and the U.S.
District Court for the Eastern District of Texas, respectively, have held that certain state laws relating to the fitting and dispensing of hearing aids are
preempted because they relate to the safety and efficacy of medical devices. Although we have structured our operations to comply with our understanding
of applicable state regulatory requirements, interpretative legal precedent and regulatory guidance varies by jurisdiction and is often sparse and not fully
developed, including which laws and regulations are preempted because they relate to the safety and efficacy of medical devices, complicating our
compliance efforts. Accordingly, we cannot be certain that our interpretation of laws and regulations applicable to our operations is correct, and we could
be subject to adverse judicial or administrative interpretations. Our ability to operate profitably will depend, in part, on our ability to obtain and maintain
any necessary licenses and other approvals and operate in compliance with applicable state laws and regulations. A determination that we are in violation of
applicable laws and regulations in any jurisdiction in which we operate could have a material adverse effect on us, particularly if we are unable to
restructure our operations and arrangements to comply with the requirements of that jurisdiction, if we are required to restructure our operations and
arrangements at a significant cost, or if we are subject to penalties or other adverse action. We cannot predict the impact on our business of new or amended
laws or regulations or any changes in the way existing and future laws and regulations are interpreted or enforced, nor can we ensure we will be able to
obtain or maintain any required licenses or permits.
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If our arrangements with audiologists and other hearing care specialists are found to violate state laws prohibiting the corporate practice of medicine
or fee splitting, our business, financial condition and our ability to operate in those states could be adversely impacted.

Many states have laws that prohibit us from engaging in the practice of audiology, exercising control, interfering with or influencing an audiologist
or other hearing care specialist’s professional judgment and entering into certain financial arrangements, such as splitting professional fees with
audiologists. These laws and their interpretations vary from state to state and are enforced by state courts and regulatory authorities, each with broad
discretion. Although we believe our arrangements comply with applicable state prohibitions on the corporate practice of medicine and fee splitting,
regulatory authorities or other third parties may challenge our existing organization and contractual arrangements. If such a claim were successful, we
could be subject to adverse judicial or administrative interpretations, to civil or criminal penalties, our contracts could be found legally invalid and
unenforceable or we could be required to restructure our contractual arrangements with our audiologists and other licensed professionals. A determination
that these arrangements violate state laws and regulations or our inability to successfully restructure our relationships and business operations to comply
with these laws would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to continue to drive consumers to our website, it could cause our revenue to decrease.

Many consumers find our website by searching for hearing aid information through internet search engines or from word-of-mouth and personal
recommendations. A critical factor in attracting visitors to our website is how prominently we are displayed in response to search queries. Accordingly, we
use search engine marketing as a means to provide a significant portion of our customer acquisition. Search engine marketing includes both paid website
visitor acquisition on a cost-per-click basis and visitor acquisition on an unpaid basis, often referred to as organic or algorithmic search.

One method we employ to acquire visitors via organic search is commonly known as search engine optimization, or SEO. SEO involves
developing our website in a way that enables the website to rank high for search queries for which our website’s content may be relevant. We also rely
heavily on favorable recommendations from our existing customers to help drive traffic to our website. If our website is listed less prominently or fails to
appear in search result listings for any reason, it is likely that we will attract fewer visitors to our website, which could adversely affect our revenue.

Risks relating to our common stock

We are an “emerging growth company,” and the reduced public company reporting requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make
our common stock less attractive to investors.

We qualify as an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company, we are
permitted and plan to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to public companies that are not emerging growth
companies. These provisions include, but are not limited to: being permitted to have only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of
related selected financial data and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations disclosure; an exemption from
compliance with the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act; not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or
PCAOB, regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial
statements; reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation arrangements in our periodic reports, registration statements and proxy
statements; and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any
golden parachute payments not previously approved. In addition, the JOBS Act permits emerging growth companies to take advantage of an extended
transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies. We intend to take advantage of the exemptions
discussed above. As a result, the information we provide will be different than the information that is available with respect to other public companies. We
cannot predict whether investors will find our common stock less attractive if we rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less
attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock, and the market price of our common stock may be more volatile.
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We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of (i) the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of
our initial public offering, (ii) the first fiscal year after our annual gross revenue exceed $1.07 billion, (iii) the date on which we have, during the
immediately preceding three-year period, issued more than $1.00 billion in non-convertible debt securities, or (iv) the end of any fiscal year in which the
market value of our common stock held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the end of the second quarter of that fiscal year.

We incur significantly increased costs and are subject to additional regulations and requirements as a result of becoming a public company, which
could lower our profits or make it more difficult to run our business.

As a public company, we incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we have not incurred as a private company, including costs
associated with public company reporting requirements. We also have incurred and will continue to incur costs associated with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
and related rules implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and the exchange our securities are listed on. The expenses generally
incurred by public companies for reporting and corporate governance purposes have been increasing. We expect these rules and regulations to increase our
legal and financial compliance costs and to make some activities more time-consuming and costly, although we are currently unable to estimate these costs
with any degree of certainty. These laws and regulations also could make it more difficult or costly for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including
director and officer liability insurance, and we may be forced to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain the
same or similar coverage. These laws and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of
directors, on our board committees or as our executive officers. Furthermore, if we are unable to satisfy our obligations as a public company, we could be
subject to delisting of our common stock, fines, sanctions, other regulatory action and potentially civil litigation.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, investors may lose confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock may decline.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any material weaknesses in such internal
controls. In addition, beginning with our second annual report on Form 10-K, we will be required to furnish a report by management on the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting, pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The process of designing, implementing and testing the
internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation is time-consuming, costly and complicated. If we identify material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act in a
timely manner, or if we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our common stock could decline, and we could also become subject to investigations by the
stock exchange on which our common stock is listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management
resources.

We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. If our remediation of the material weakness is not effective, or
if we experience additional material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls in the future, we may
not be able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a
result, the value of our common stock.

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements in connection with our IPO, we identified a material weakness in our internal control
over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material weakness
related to a lack of qualified supervisory accounting resources, including those necessary to account for and disclose certain complex transactions and for
which we lacked the technical expertise to identify, analyze and appropriately record those transactions. We have implemented and are in the process of
implementing additional measures designed to improve our internal control over financial reporting to remediate this material
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weakness, including the hiring of qualified supervisory resources, the engagement of technical accounting consulting resources and plans to hire additional
finance department employees.

We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, and are continuing to implement, will be sufficient to remediate the material
weakness we have identified or avoid potential future material weaknesses. If the steps we take do not correct the material weakness in a timely manner, we
will be unable to conclude that we maintain effective internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, there could continue to be a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

If we fail to remediate our existing material weakness or identify new material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting, if we
are unable to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, if we are unable to conclude that our internal controls over financial
reporting are effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal controls
over financial reporting when we are no longer an emerging growth company, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our
financial reports and the market price of our common stock could be negatively affected. As a result of such failures, we could also become subject to
investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authorities, and become subject to litigation from
investors and stockholders, which could harm our reputation and financial condition or divert financial and management resources from our regular
business activities.

We have no current plans to pay cash dividends on our common stock; as a result, you may not receive any return on investment unless you sell your
common stock for a price greater than that which you paid for it.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock, and we do not currently intend to pay any cash dividends on our capital stock
in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and expansion of our business.
Any future determination related to dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws, and will depend
upon, among other factors, our results of operations, financial condition, contractual restrictions and capital requirements. Also, unless waived, the terms of
our 2018 Loan with Silicon Valley Bank generally prohibit us from declaring or paying any cash dividends and other distributions. Additionally, our ability
to pay cash dividends on our capital stock may be limited by the terms of any future debt or preferred securities we issue or any future credit facilities we
enter into. As a result, you may not receive any return on an investment in our common stock unless you sell your common stock for a price greater than
that which you paid for it.

If our operating and financial performance in any given period does not meet any guidance that we provide to the public, the market price of our
common stock may decline.

We may, but are not obligated to, provide public guidance on our expected operating and financial results for future periods. Any such guidance
will be comprised of forward-looking statements subject to the risks and uncertainties described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in our other
public filings and public statements. Our actual results may not always be in line with or exceed any guidance we have provided, especially in times of
economic uncertainty. If, in the future, our operating or financial results for a particular period do not meet any guidance we provide or the expectations of
investment analysts, or if we reduce our guidance for future periods, the market price of our common stock may decline. Even if we do issue public
guidance, there can be no assurance that we will continue to do so in the future.

We may be unable to raise additional capital, which could harm our ability to compete.

As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $212.2 million. Our expected future capital requirements may depend on many
factors including the expansion of our product portfolio and the timing and extent of spend on the development of our technology to increase our product
offerings. As a result, we may need additional funding to fund our operations, but additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms on a
timely basis, if at all. We may seek funds through borrowings or through additional rounds of financing, including private or public equity or debt offerings.
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Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

 • the timing, receipt and amount of sales from our current and future products;

 • the cost of manufacturing, either ourselves or through third-party manufacturers, our products;

 • the cost and timing of expanding our sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

 • the terms and timing of any other partnership, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish;

 • any product liability or other lawsuits related to our current or future products;

 • the expenses needed to attract, hire and retain skilled personnel;

 • the costs associated with being a public company;

 • the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our business and financial markets generally;

 • the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending and enforcing our intellectual property portfolio; and

 • the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses.

If we raise additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, our existing stockholders could suffer significant
dilution, and any new equity securities we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. If we are
unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, when we require it, our ability to continue to pursue our business objectives
and to respond to business opportunities, challenges, or unforeseen circumstances could be significantly limited, and our business, financial condition and
results of operations could be materially adversely affected.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our technologies or
products.

Since our inception, our operations have been financed primarily by net proceeds from the sale of our convertible preferred stock, indebtedness
and, to a lesser extent, revenue from the sales of our products. We expect that we may be required to obtain additional funding in the future and may do so
through partnerships, public or private equity offerings or debt financings, credit or loan facilities or a combination of one or more of these funding sources.
Even if we are not required to obtain additional funding, we may do so due to favorable market conditions or to be able to pursue strategic or business
expansion opportunities. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may suffer dilution and the terms of any financing may
adversely affect the rights of our stockholders. In addition, as a condition to providing additional funds to us, future investors may demand, and may be
granted, rights superior to those of existing stockholders. Debt financing, if available, is likely to involve restrictive covenants limiting our flexibility in
conducting future business activities, and, in the event of insolvency, debt holders would be repaid before holders of our equity securities receive any
distribution of our corporate assets. We also could be required to seek funds through arrangements with partners or others that may require us to relinquish
rights or jointly own some aspects of our technologies or products that we would otherwise pursue on our own.

Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject
to stockholder approval.

As of December 31, 2020, our current executive officers, directors, holders of 5.0% or more of our capital stock and their respective affiliates held
approximately 66% of our outstanding voting stock. Therefore, these stockholders will have the ability to influence us through this ownership position.
These stockholders may be able to determine all matters requiring stockholder approval. For example, these stockholders may be able to control elections
of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or other major corporate transaction. This may prevent
or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our common stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of our stockholders.
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Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, the trading price of
our common stock could decline. We have a total of 38,246,601 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020. Of these shares,
approximately 9.0 million shares are freely tradable, without restriction, in the public market.

The lock-up agreements pertaining to our IPO will expire April 13, 2021. After the lock-up agreements expire, up to approximately 28.7 million
additional shares of common stock will be eligible for sale in the public market, approximately 21.7 million of which shares are held by directors, executive
officers and other affiliates and will be subject to Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the Securities Act). J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
and BofA Securities, Inc. may, however, in their sole discretion, permit our officers, directors and other stockholders who are subject to these lock-up
agreements to sell shares prior to the expiration of the lock-up agreements.

In addition, based on shares outstanding as of the completion of our IPO, approximately 6.9 million shares of common stock that are either subject
to outstanding options, reserved for future issuance under our existing equity incentive plan, or subject to outstanding warrants will become eligible for sale
in the public market to the extent permitted by the provisions of various vesting schedules, the lock-up agreements and Rule 144 and Rule 701 under the
Securities Act. If these additional shares of common stock are sold, or if it is perceived that they will be sold, in the public market, the trading price of our
common stock could decline.

The holders of approximately 28.2 million shares of our common stock, or approximately 74% of our total outstanding common stock as of
December 31, 2020, are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act, subject to vesting schedules and to the
lock-up agreements described above. Registration of these shares under the Securities Act would result in the shares becoming freely tradable without
restriction under the Securities Act, except for shares purchased by affiliates. Any sales of securities by these stockholders could have a material adverse
effect on the trading price of our common stock.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage a takeover that stockholders may consider favorable and may lead to
entrenchment of management.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could delay or prevent changes in
control or changes in our management without the consent of our board of directors. These provisions include:

 • a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a
majority of our board of directors;

 • no cumulative voting in the election of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;

 • the exclusive right of our board of directors to elect a director to fill a vacancy created by the expansion of the board of directors or the
resignation, death or removal of a director, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;

 • the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those
shares, including preferences and voting rights, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of
a hostile acquiror;

 • the ability of our board of directors to alter our amended and restated bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;

 • the required approval of at least 66 2/3% of the shares entitled to vote at an election of directors to adopt, amend or repeal our amended and
restated bylaws or to repeal certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation;

 • a prohibition on stockholder action by written consent, which forces stockholder action to be taken at an annual or special meeting of our
stockholders;
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 • the requirement that a special meeting of stockholders may be called only by our board of directors, which may delay the ability of our
stockholders to force consideration of a proposal or to take action, including the removal of directors; and

 • advance notice procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose
matters to be acted upon at a stockholders’ meeting, which may discourage or deter a potential acquiror from conducting a solicitation of
proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us.

We are also subject to the anti-takeover provisions contained in Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. Under Section 203, a
corporation may not, in general, engage in a business combination with any holder of 15% or more of its capital stock unless the holder has held the stock
for three years or, among other exceptions, the board of directors has approved the transaction.

Claims for indemnification by our directors, officers and other employees or agents may reduce our available funds to satisfy successful third-party
claims against us and may reduce the amount of money available to us.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers,
in each case to the fullest extent permitted by Delaware law.

In addition, as permitted by Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated bylaws and our indemnification
agreements that we have entered into with our directors, officers and certain other employees provide that:

 • We will indemnify our directors and officers for serving us in those capacities or for serving other business enterprises at our request, to the
fullest extent permitted by Delaware law. Delaware law provides that a corporation may indemnify such person if such person acted in
good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the registrant and, with respect
to any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful.

 • We may, in our discretion, indemnify employees and agents in those circumstances where indemnification is permitted by applicable law.

 • We are required to advance expenses, as incurred, to our directors and officers in connection with defending a proceeding, except that such
directors or officers shall undertake to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

 • We will not be obligated pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws to indemnify a person with respect to proceedings initiated by that
person against us or our other indemnitees, except with respect to proceedings authorized by our board of directors or brought to enforce a
right to indemnification.

 • The rights conferred in our amended and restated bylaws are not exclusive, and we are authorized to enter into indemnification agreements
with our directors, officers, employees and agents and to obtain insurance to indemnify such persons.

 • We may not retroactively amend our amended and restated bylaw provisions to reduce our indemnification obligations to directors,
officers, employees and agents.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware
will be the exclusive forum for certain disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable
judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (or, in the event that the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts
of the State of Delaware) is the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of
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fiduciary duty, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided that,
the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the Exchange Act), or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction; and provided further that, if and only if the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any such action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in another state or federal
court sitting in the State of Delaware. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws also provide that the federal
district courts of the United States of America will be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action against us or any
of our directors, officers, employees or agents and arising under the Securities Act. Nothing in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or
amended and restated bylaws precludes stockholders that assert claims under the Exchange Act from bringing such claims in state or federal court, subject
to applicable law.

We believe these provisions may benefit us by providing increased consistency in the application of Delaware law and federal securities laws by
chancellors and judges, as applicable, particularly experienced in resolving corporate disputes, efficient administration of cases on a more expedited
schedule relative to other forums and protection against the burdens of multi-forum litigation. However, this choice of forum provision may limit a
stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees or
stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance
with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. Furthermore, the enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in other
companies’ certificates of incorporation has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that a court could find these types of provisions to be
inapplicable or unenforceable. While the Delaware courts have determined that such choice of forum provisions are facially valid, a stockholder may
nevertheless seek to bring a claim in a venue other than those designated in the exclusive forum provisions, and there can be no assurance that such
provisions will be enforced by a court in those other jurisdictions. If a court were to find the choice of forum provision that will be contained in our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur
additional costs associated with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

General risk factors

If we engage in future acquisitions or strategic partnerships, it may increase our capital requirements, dilute our stockholders, cause us to incur debt or
assume contingent liabilities and subject us to other risks.

We may evaluate various acquisitions and strategic partnerships, including licensing or acquiring complementary products, intellectual property
rights, technologies or businesses. Any potential acquisition or strategic partnership may entail numerous risks, including:

 • increased operating expenses and cash requirements;

 • the assumption of additional indebtedness or contingent liabilities;

 • assimilation of operations, intellectual property and products of an acquired company, including difficulties associated with integrating new
personnel;

 • the diversion of our management’s attention from our existing product programs and initiatives in pursuing such a strategic merger or
acquisition;

 • loss of key personnel, and uncertainties in our ability to maintain key business relationships;

 • uncertainties associated with the other party to such a transaction, including the prospects of that party and their existing products or
product candidates and regulatory approvals; and

 • our inability to generate revenue from acquired technology and/or products sufficient to meet our objectives in undertaking the acquisition
or even to offset the associated acquisition and maintenance costs.
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In addition, if we undertake acquisitions or strategic partnerships, we may issue dilutive securities, assume or incur debt obligations, incur large
one-time expenses and acquire intangible assets that could result in significant future amortization expense. Moreover, we may not be able to locate
suitable acquisition or partnership opportunities, and even if we do locate such opportunities we may not be able to successfully bid for or obtain them due
to competitive factors or lack of sufficient resources. This inability could impair our ability to grow or obtain access to technology or products that may be
important to the development of our business.

Our effective tax rate may vary significantly from period to period.

Various internal and external factors may have favorable or unfavorable effects on our future effective tax rate. These factors include, but are not
limited to, changes in tax laws both within and outside the United States, regulations and/or rates, structural changes in our business, new or changes to
accounting pronouncements, non-deductible goodwill impairments, changing interpretations of existing tax laws or regulations, changes in the relative
proportions of revenue and income before taxes in the various jurisdictions in which we operate that have differing statutory tax rates, the future levels of
tax benefits of equity-based compensation, changes in overall levels of pretax earnings or changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Additionally, we could be challenged by state and local tax authorities as to the propriety of our sales tax compliance, and our results could be materially
impacted by these compliance determinations.

In addition, our effective tax rate may vary significantly depending on our stock price. The tax effects of the accounting for share-based
compensation may significantly impact our effective tax rate from period to period. In periods in which our stock price is higher than the grant price of the
share-based compensation vesting in that period, we will recognize excess tax benefits that will decrease our effective tax rate. In future periods in which
our stock price is lower than the grant price of the share-based compensation vesting in that period, our effective tax rate may increase. The amount and
value of share-based compensation issued relative to our earnings in a particular period will also affect the magnitude of the impact of share-based
compensation on our effective tax rate. These tax effects are dependent on our stock price, which we do not control, and a decline in our stock price could
significantly increase our effective tax rate and adversely affect our financial results.

If we fail to execute invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors involved in the development of intellectual property or are
unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, the value of our products and our business and competitive position could be harmed.

In addition to patent protection, we also rely on protection of copyright, trade secrets, know-how and confidential and proprietary information. We
generally enter into confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees, consultants and third parties upon their commencement of a
relationship with us. However, we may not enter into such agreements with all employees, consultants and third parties who have been involved in the
development of our intellectual property. In addition, these agreements may not provide meaningful protection against the unauthorized use or disclosure of
our trade secrets or other confidential information, and adequate remedies may not exist if unauthorized use or disclosure were to occur. The exposure of
our trade secrets and other proprietary information would impair our competitive advantages and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. In particular, a failure to protect our proprietary rights may allow competitors to copy our technology, which
could adversely affect our pricing and market share. Further, other parties may independently develop substantially equivalent know-how and technology.
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In addition to contractual measures, we try to protect the confidential nature of our proprietary information using commonly accepted physical and
technological security measures. Such measures may not, for example, in the case of misappropriation of a trade secret by an employee or third party with
authorized access, provide adequate protection for our proprietary information. Our security measures may not prevent an employee or consultant from
misappropriating our trade secrets and providing them to a competitor, and recourse we take against such misconduct may not provide an adequate remedy
to protect our interests fully. Unauthorized parties may also attempt to copy or reverse engineer certain aspects of our products that we consider proprietary.
Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret can be difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is
unpredictable. Even though we use commonly accepted security measures, trade secret violations are often a matter of state law, and the criteria for
protection of trade secrets can vary among different jurisdictions. In addition, trade secrets may be independently developed by others in a manner that
could prevent legal recourse by us. We also have agreements with our employees, consultants and third parties that obligate them to assign their inventions
to us, however these agreements may not be self-executing, not all employees or consultants may enter into such agreements, or employees or consultants
may breach or violate the terms of these agreements, and we may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation. If any of our intellectual
property or confidential or proprietary information, such as our trade secrets, were to be disclosed or misappropriated, or if any such information was
independently developed by a competitor, it could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial condition, results of
operations, and prospects.

We may be unable to enforce our intellectual property rights throughout the world.

The laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Many companies
have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in certain foreign jurisdictions. This could make it difficult
for us to stop infringement of our foreign patents, if obtained, or the misappropriation of our other intellectual property rights. For example, some foreign
countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, some countries limit the
enforceability of patents against third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, patents may provide limited or
no benefit. Patent protection must ultimately be sought on a country-by-country basis, which is an expensive and time-consuming process with uncertain
outcomes. Accordingly, we may choose not to seek patent protection in certain countries, and we will not have the benefit of patent protection in such
countries.

Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other
aspects of our business. Accordingly, our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights in such countries may be inadequate. In addition, changes in the
law and legal decisions by courts in the United States and foreign countries may affect our ability to obtain adequate protection for our technology and the
enforcement of our intellectual property.

We are subject to risks from legal and arbitration proceedings and that may prevent us from pursuing our business activities or require us to incur
additional costs in defending against claims or paying damages.

We may become subject to legal disputes and regulatory proceedings in connection with our business activities involving, among other things,
product liability, product defects, intellectual property infringement and/or alleged violations of applicable laws in various jurisdictions. Although we
maintain liability insurance in amounts we believe to be consistent with industry practice, we may not be fully insured against all potential damages that
may arise out of any claims to which we may be party in the ordinary course of our business. A negative outcome of these proceedings may prevent us
from pursuing certain activities and/or require us to incur additional costs in order to do so and pay damages.

The outcome of pending or potential future legal and arbitration proceedings is difficult to predict with certainty. In the event of a negative outcome
of any material legal or arbitration proceeding, whether based on a judgment or a settlement agreement, we could be obligated to make substantial
payments, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the costs related to
litigation and arbitration proceedings may be significant, and any legal or arbitration proceedings could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
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Actual or perceived failures to comply with applicable data privacy and security laws, regulations, policies, standards, contractual obligations and other
requirements related to data privacy and security and changes to such laws, regulations, standards, policies and contractual obligations could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

The global data protection landscape is rapidly evolving, and there has been an increasing focus on privacy and data protection issues with the
potential to affect our business. We are or may become subject to numerous state, federal and foreign laws, requirements and regulations governing the
collection, transmission, use, disclosure, storage, retention and security of personal and personally-identifying information, such as information that we
may collect in connection with conducting our business in the United States and abroad. Implementation standards and enforcement practices are likely to
remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, and we cannot yet determine the impact future laws, regulations, standards or perception of their requirements
may have on our business. This evolution may create uncertainty in our business, affect our ability to operate in certain jurisdictions or to collect, store,
transfer use and share personal information, necessitate the acceptance of more onerous obligations in our contracts, result in liability or impose additional
costs on us. The cost of compliance with these laws, regulations and standards is high and is likely to increase in the future. Any failure or perceived failure
by us to comply with federal, state or foreign laws or regulation, our internal policies and procedures or our contracts governing our processing of personal
information could result in negative publicity, government investigations and enforcement actions, fines, imprisonment of company officials and public
censure, claims by third parties, damage to our reputation and loss of goodwill, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect and store sensitive data, including protected health information (PHI), personally identifiable
information (PII), intellectual property and proprietary business information owned or controlled by ourselves or our customers, third-party payors and
other parties. We also collect and store sensitive data of our employees and contractors. We manage and maintain our applications and data utilizing cloud-
based data centers for PII. We utilize external security and infrastructure vendors to manage parts of our data centers.

As our operations and business grow, we are and may become subject to or affected by new or additional data protection laws and regulations and
face increased scrutiny or attention from regulatory authorities. In the United States, HIPAA establishes, among other things, privacy and security standards
that limit the use and disclosure of individually identifiable health information, or protected health information, and imposes certain obligations, including
mandatory contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of protected health information by covered entities, such
as health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and healthcare providers, as well as their business associates that perform certain services involving the use or
disclosure of protected health information. HIPAA requires covered entities and their business associates to develop and maintain certain policies and
procedures with respect to individually identifiable health information that is used or disclosed. Further, in the event of a breach of unsecured protected
health information, HIPAA requires covered entities to notify each individual whose protected health information is breached as well as federal regulators
and in some cases, the media. Certain states have also adopted comparable privacy and security laws and regulations, some of which may be more stringent
than HIPAA. Such laws and regulations will be subject to interpretation by various courts and other governmental authorities, thus creating potentially
complex compliance issues for us and our future customers and strategic partners. Determining whether protected health information has been handled in
compliance with applicable privacy standards and our contractual obligations can be complex and may be subject to changing interpretation. If we are
unable to properly protect the privacy and security of protected health information, we could be found to have breached our contracts. Further, if we fail to
comply with applicable privacy laws, including applicable privacy and security standards, we could face civil and criminal penalties. The HHS has the
discretion to impose penalties without attempting to resolve violations through informal means. HHS enforcement activity can result in financial liability
and reputational harm, and responses to such enforcement activity can consume significant internal resources, each of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business financial condition, results of operations or prospects.

In addition, the CCPA, which took effect on January 1, 2020, creates individual privacy rights for California consumers and increases the privacy
and security obligations of entities handling certain personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as a private right of
action for data breaches that is expected
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to increase data breach litigation. The CCPA may increase our compliance costs and potential liability, and many similar laws have been proposed at the
federal level and in other states. Further, the CPRA recently passed in California, which will impose additional data protection obligations on covered
businesses, including additional consumer rights processes, limitations on data uses, new audit requirements for higher risk data, and opt outs for certain
uses of sensitive data. It will also create a new California data protection agency authorized to issue substantive regulations and could result in increased
privacy and information security enforcement. The majority of the provisions will go into effect on January 1, 2023, and additional compliance investment
and potential business process changes may be required. In the event that we are subject to or affected by HIPAA, the CCPA, the CPRA or other domestic
privacy and data protection laws, any liability from failure to comply with the requirements of these laws could adversely affect our financial condition.

In addition, state attorneys general are authorized to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations that threaten
the privacy of state residents. We cannot be sure how these regulations will be interpreted, enforced or applied to our operations. In addition to the risks
associated with enforcement activities and potential contractual liabilities, our ongoing efforts to comply with evolving laws and regulations at the federal
and state level may be costly and require ongoing modifications to our policies, procedures and systems.

We may in the future become subject to the GDPR, which went into effect in May 2018 and which imposes obligations on companies that operate
in our industry with respect to the processing of personal data and the cross-border transfer of such data. The GDPR imposes onerous accountability
obligations requiring data controllers and processors to maintain a record of their data processing and policies. If our or our partners’ or service providers’
privacy or data security measures fail to comply with the GDPR requirements, we may be subject to litigation, regulatory investigations, enforcement
notices requiring us to change the way we use personal data and/or fines of up to 20 million Euros or up to 4% of the total worldwide annual turnover of
the preceding financial year, whichever is higher, as well as compensation claims by affected individuals, negative publicity, reputational harm and a
potential loss of business and goodwill. Further, from January 1, 2021, companies have to comply with the GDPR and the UK GDPR, which, together with
the amended UK Data Protection Act 2018, retains the GDPR in UK national law, the latter regime having the ability to separately fine up to the greater of
£17.5 million or 4% of global turnover. While we continue to address the implications of the recent changes to European data privacy regulations, data
privacy remains an evolving landscape at both the domestic and international level, with new regulations coming into effect and continued legal challenges,
and our efforts to comply with the evolving data protection rules may be unsuccessful. It is possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a
manner that is inconsistent with our practices. Accordingly, we must devote significant resources to understanding and complying with this changing
landscape.

Although we work to comply with applicable laws, regulations and standards, our contractual obligations and other legal obligations, these
requirements are evolving and may be modified, interpreted and applied in an inconsistent manner from one jurisdiction to another, and may conflict with
one another or other legal obligations with which we must comply. Any failure or perceived failure by us or our employees, representatives, contractors,
consultants or other third parties to comply with such requirements or adequately address privacy and security concerns, even if unfounded, could result in
additional cost and liability to us, damage our reputation, negative publicity, loss of goodwill and materially adversely affect our business, financial
condition and results of operations or prospects.

Failure to comply with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, economic and trade sanctions regulations and similar laws could subject us to penalties
and other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the FCPA, and other laws in the United States and elsewhere that prohibit improper payments or offers of payments to foreign
governments and their officials and political parties for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Certain suppliers of our product components are
located in countries known to experience corruption. Business activities in these countries create the risk of unauthorized payments or offers of payments
by one of our employees, contractors or agents that could be in violation of various laws, including the FCPA and anti-bribery laws in these countries, even
though these parties are not always subject to our control. While we have implemented policies and procedures designed to discourage these practices by
our employees, consultants and agents and to identify and address potentially impermissible transactions under such laws and
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regulations, we cannot assure you that all of our employees, consultants and agents will not take actions in violation of our policies, for which we may be
ultimately responsible.

We are also subject to certain economic and trade sanctions programs that are administered by the Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign
Assets Control which prohibit or restrict transactions to or from or dealings with specified countries, their governments and in certain circumstances, their
nationals, and with individuals and entities that are specially designated nationals of those countries, narcotics traffickers and terrorists or terrorist
organizations.

Failure to comply with any of these laws and regulations or changes in this regulatory environment, including changing interpretations and the
implementation of new or varying regulatory requirements by the government, may result in significant financial penalties or reputational harm, which
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our information technology systems, internal computer systems, or those used by our third-party service providers, vendors, strategic partners or other
contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches and other disruptions, which could result in a material disruption of our products and
services development programs, compromise sensitive information related to our business or prevent us from accessing critical information, potentially
exposing us to liability or otherwise adversely affecting our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We collect and maintain information in digital form that is necessary to conduct our business, and we are increasingly dependent on information
technology systems and infrastructure to operate our business, including our mobile and web-based applications, our e-commerce platform and our
enterprise software. In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential information, including intellectual
property, proprietary business information and personal information of customers and our employees and contractors. It is critical that we do so in a secure
manner to maintain the confidentiality and integrity of such confidential information. We have also outsourced elements of our information technology
infrastructure, and as a result a number of third-party vendors may or could have access to our confidential information. We do not conduct audits or formal
evaluations of our third-party vendors’ information technology systems and cannot be sure that our third-party vendors have sufficient measures in place to
ensure the security and integrity of their information technology systems and our confidential and proprietary information. If our third-party vendors fail to
protect their information technology systems and our confidential and proprietary information, we may be vulnerable to disruptions in service and
unauthorized access to our confidential or proprietary information and we could incur liability and reputational damage. Our internal information
technology systems and those of our third-party service providers, vendors, strategic partners and other contractors or consultants are vulnerable to damage
or interruption from computer viruses, natural disasters, terrorism, war, telecommunication and electrical failures, hacking, cyberattacks, phishing attacks
and other social engineering schemes, malicious code, employee theft or misuse, denial or degradation of service attacks, sophisticated nation-state and
nation-state-supported actors or unauthorized access or use by persons inside our organization, or persons with access to systems inside our organization.
The risk of a security breach or disruption, particularly through cyberattacks or cyber intrusion, including by computer hackers, foreign governments and
cyber terrorists, has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have
increased. The costs to us to investigate and mitigate network security problems, bugs, viruses, worms, malicious software programs and security
vulnerabilities could be significant, and while we have implemented security measures to protect our data security and information technology systems
from system failure, accident and security breach, our efforts to address these problems may not be successful, and these problems could result in
unexpected interruptions, delays, disruption of our development programs and our business operations, cessation of service, negative publicity and other
harm to our business and our competitive position, whether due to a loss of our trade secrets or other proprietary information or other disruptions. If we
were to experience a significant cybersecurity breach of our information systems or data, the costs associated with the investigation, remediation and
potential notification of the breach to counter-parties and data subjects could be material. In addition, our remediation efforts may not be successful. If we
do not allocate and effectively manage the resources necessary to build and sustain the proper technology and cybersecurity infrastructure, we could suffer
significant business disruption, including transaction errors, supply chain or manufacturing interruptions, processing inefficiencies, data loss or the loss of
or damage to intellectual property or other proprietary information. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could
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result in a material disruption of our development programs and our business operations, whether due to a loss, corruption or unauthorized disclosure of our
trade secrets, personal information or other proprietary or sensitive information or other similar disruptions.

If a security breach or other incident were to result in the unauthorized access to or unauthorized use, disclosure, release or other processing of
personal information, it may be necessary to notify individuals, governmental authorities, supervisory bodies, the media and other parties pursuant to
privacy and security laws. Any security compromise affecting us, our service providers, vendors, strategic partners, other contractors, consultants, or our
industry, whether real or perceived, could harm our reputation, erode confidence in the effectiveness of our security measures and lead to regulatory
scrutiny. To the extent that any disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or systems, or inappropriate disclosure of
confidential or proprietary or personal information, we could incur liability, including litigation exposure, penalties and fines, we could become the subject
of regulatory action or investigation, our competitive position could be harmed and the further development and commercialization of our products and
services could be delayed. If such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our business.
Furthermore, federal, state and international laws and regulations can expose us to enforcement actions and investigations by regulatory authorities, and
potentially result in regulatory penalties, fines and significant legal liability, if our information technology security efforts fail. We would also be exposed to
a risk of loss or litigation and potential liability, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations or
prospects.

Disruptions in internet access could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

As an online business, we are dependent on the internet and maintaining connectivity between ourselves and consumers and sources of internet
traffic, such as Google. As consumers increasingly turn to mobile devices, we also become dependent on consumers’ access to the internet through mobile
carriers and their systems. Disruptions in internet access, whether generally, in a specific market or otherwise, especially if widespread or prolonged, could
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. For example, the “denial-of-service” attack against Dyn in October 2016
resulted in a service outage for several major internet companies. It is possible that we could experience an interruption in our business, and we do not carry
business interruption insurance sufficient to compensate us for all losses that may occur.

Changes in the regulation of the internet could adversely affect our business.

Laws, rules and regulations governing internet communications, advertising and e-commerce are dynamic, and the extent of future government
regulation is uncertain. Federal and state regulations govern various aspects of our online business, including intellectual property ownership and
infringement, trade secrets, the distribution of electronic communications, marketing and advertising, user privacy and data security, search engines and
internet tracking technologies. Future taxation on the use of the internet or e-commerce transactions could also be imposed. Existing or future regulation or
taxation could increase our operating expenses and expose us to significant liabilities. To the extent any such regulations require us to take actions that
negatively impact us, they could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

If securities analysts publish negative evaluations of our stock or stop publishing research or reports about our business, the price of our stock could
decline.

The trading market for our common stock will rely in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our
business. We currently have research coverage by several financial analysts. If one or more of these analysts should drop research coverage of us or if one
or more of the analysts covering our business downgrade their evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these
analysts cease to cover our stock, we could lose visibility in the market for our stock, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.
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Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters are located in San Jose, California, where we lease approximately 30,434 square feet of office, research and
development, engineering and laboratory space pursuant to a lease agreement which was effective as of July 30, 2018 and expires on February 28, 2022.
We also lease approximately 14,965 square feet of office space, which is primarily used for our customer support operations, in Nashville, Tennessee,
pursuant to a lease that commenced on March 15, 2019 and expires on March 31, 2021. In February 2021, we entered into an amendment of our lease in
Nashville, Tennessee, that reduced our office space to 9,327 square feet and extended the term to March 31, 2023. We believe that our existing facilities are
adequate to meet our business requirements for the near-term, and that additional space will be available on commercially reasonable terms, if required.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any material legal proceedings. We may, however, in the ordinary course of business face various claims brought by
third parties, and we may, from time to time, make claims or take legal actions to assert our rights, including intellectual property rights as well as claims
relating to employment matters and the safety or efficacy of our products. Any of these claims could subject us to costly litigation, and, while we generally
believe that we have adequate insurance to cover many different types of liabilities, our insurance carriers may deny coverage, may be inadequately
capitalized to pay on valid claims, or our policy limits may be inadequate to fully satisfy any damage awards or settlements. If this were to happen, the
payment of any such awards could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, any such
claims, whether or not successful, could damage our reputation and business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Market information for common stock

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “EAR”. Public trading of our common stock began on October
16, 2020. Prior to that, there was no public market for our common stock.

Stockholders

As of March 8, 2021, there were 201 holders of record of our common stock. The actual number of stockholders is greater than this number of
record holders, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by brokers and other nominees. This number
of holders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares may be held in trust by other entities.

Stock performance graph

The graph below shows the cumulative total stockholder return assuming the investment of $100 and the reinvestment of any dividends in each of
our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and the S&P Healthcare Equipment Index. The comparisons in the graph below are based on historical
data and are not indicative of, or intended to forecast, future performance of our common stock.
 

Dividend policy

We have never declared or paid, and do not anticipate declaring or paying in the foreseeable future, any cash dividends on our capital stock. Any
future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors, subject to applicable laws and
will depend on then existing conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business
prospects, and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant.
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Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans

See the section titled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters” for information
regarding securities authorized for issuance.

Sales of unregistered securities

From January 1, 2020 through December 31, 2020, we sold and issued the following unregistered securities, which share numbers have been
adjusted, as appropriate, for the 3.0-for-1.0 reverse stock split of our common stock that occurred on October 8, 2020:

 1. Between March 2020 and April 2020, we issued convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $10.1 million to 21
accredited investors.

 2. In July 2020, we issued an aggregate of 1,889,542 shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock upon redemption of convertible
promissory notes issued by us, in exchange for approximately $10.3 million in cancellation of indebtedness.

 3. Between July 2020 and August 2020, we issued and sold an aggregate of 10,513,924 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock to 24
accredited investors at $6.7836 per share for gross proceeds of $71.3 million.

 4. In September 2020 we issued a warrant to purchase 53,487 shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock with an exercise price of $6.7836
per share to one accredited investor.

 5. Prior to filing our registration statement on Form S-8 in October 2020, we granted stock options and stock awards to employees, directors and
consultants under our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, covering an aggregate of 3,885,943 shares of common stock, at a weighted-average exercise
price of $3.02 per share. The weighted-average exercise price per share reflects the repricing of all options granted from January 1, 2020 to
August 3, 2020 with an exercise price greater than $2.55 per share that were repriced to $2.55 per share on August 3, 2020.

 6. Prior to filing our registration statement on Form S-8 in October 2020, we issued an aggregate of 555,654 shares of common stock at a
weighted-average purchase price of $1.81 per share to employees, directors and consultants for aggregate proceeds to us of approximately $1.0
million upon the exercise of stock options.

Use of proceeds from public offering of common stock

On October 20, 2020, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, and issued 9,029,629 shares of our common stock, which includes an
additional 1,177,777 shares of common stock purchased by the underwriters pursuant to their option to purchase additional shares, at an initial offering
price of $18.00 per share less underwriting discounts and commissions. We received net proceeds from the initial public offering of approximately $148.5
million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $11.4 million and offering costs of $2.6 million. None of the expenses associated with
the initial public offering were paid to directors, officers, persons owning 10% or more of any class of equity securities, or to their associates. J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC and BofA Securities, Inc. acted as book-running managers for the IPO.

Shares of our common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on October 16, 2020. The offer and sale of the shares were
registered under the Securities Act on a registration statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-249075), which was declared effective on October 15,
2020.

There has been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offering as described in the related prospectus filed with
the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b)(4) under the Securities Act. We invested the funds received in cash equivalents and other marketable securities in
accordance with our investment policy.
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Issuer purchases of equity securities

None.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, and the selected consolidated
balance sheets data as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

The selected consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2018 is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements which are
not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The information set forth below is not necessarily indicative of results of future operations, and should be read in conjunction with Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes
included in Part II, Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

  Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  2020  2019  2018 
Revenue, net  $ 69,154  $ 32,790  $ 23,163 
Cost of revenue   21,873   15,790   11,423 
Gross profit   47,281   17,000   11,740 
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   12,045   12,841   9,520 
Sales and marketing   49,525   35,725   25,540 
General and administrative   20,582   12,470   8,251 

Total operating expenses   82,152   61,036   43,311 
Loss from operations   (34,871)   (44,036)   (31,571)
Other income (expense), net:             

Interest income   37   627   164 
Interest expense   (1,920)   (711)   (424)
Other income (expense), net   (1,474)   (366)   (1,403)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   (1,627)   —   (559)

Total other income (expense), net   (4,984)   (450)   (2,222)
Loss before income taxes   (39,855)   (44,486)   (33,793)
Income tax provision   —   —   — 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (39,855)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, basic
   and diluted  $ (30,015)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)
Net loss per share attributable to common
   stockholders, basic and diluted  $ (3.80)  $ (173.47)  $ (149.69)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per
   share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
   diluted   7,890,375   256,452   225,754
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  As of December 31,  

(in thousands)  2020  2019  2018 
Consolidated balance sheet data:             
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 212,185  $ 13,384  $ 51,051 
Working capital(1)   198,739   (2,377)   43,029 
Total assets   232,632   27,305   59,042 
Long-term debt, current and noncurrent   14,837   12,246   6,990 
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability   —   396   81 
Convertible preferred stock   —   152,880   152,015 
Accumulated deficit   (199,058)   (159,203)   (114,717)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   193,911   (156,103)   (112,999)
(1)We define working capital as current assets less current liabilities. See our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for

further details regarding our current assets and current liabilities.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

This discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements based upon our current beliefs, estimates, plans and expectations that involve
risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements as a result of
various factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” or in other parts of this Annual Report.

Overview

We are a medical device company dedicated to improving the quality of life of people with hearing loss. We developed the Eargo solution to create
a hearing aid that consumers actually want to use. Our innovative product and go-to-market approach address the major challenges of traditional hearing
aid adoption, including social stigma, accessibility and cost.

We believe our Eargo hearing aids are the first and only virtually invisible, rechargeable, completely-in-canal, FDA regulated, exempt Class I or
Class II devices for the treatment of hearing loss. Our rapid pace of innovation is enabled by our deep industry and technical expertise across mechanical
engineering, product design, audio processing, clinical and hearing science, consumer electronics and embedded software design, and is supported by our
strategic intellectual property portfolio.

We market and sell our hearing aids direct to consumers with a personalized, consumer-centric approach. Our commercial organization consists of
a talented marketing team with deep experience in consumer-focused brand and performance marketing, a team of inside sales consultants, and a dedicated
customer support team of licensed hearing professionals. We generate revenue from orders processed primarily through our website and over the phone by
our sales consultants.

We believe that our differentiated hearing aids, consumer-oriented approach and strong brand have fueled the rapid adoption of our hearing aids
and high customer satisfaction, as evidenced by over 60 thousand Eargo hearing aid systems sold, net of returns, as of December 31, 2020.

On October 20, 2020, we completed our initial public offering, or IPO, pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of 9,029,629 shares of our common
stock at a price of $18.00 per share, resulting in net proceeds of $148.5 million after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses.
Upon the closing of our IPO, all outstanding shares of our convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 28,196,388 shares of our common
stock.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we generated net revenue of $69.2 million, an increase of $36.4 million from the year ended December 31,
2019. To date, all our revenue has been generated from customers in the United States.

Our net losses were $39.9 million, $44.5 million and $33.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, we had an accumulated deficit of $199.1 million and $159.2 million, respectively. We expect to continue to incur losses for
the foreseeable future.

Factors affecting our business

We believe that our future performance will depend on many factors, including those described below and in the section titled “Risk Factors”
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Efficient acquisition of new customers

We have spent and expect to continue to spend significant amounts on sales and marketing designed to build a strong brand, achieve broad
awareness of our Eargo solution, acquire new customers and convert sales leads. We
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have also invested and expect to continue investing in growing our teams of sales consultants and licensed hearing professionals to keep pace with
increased demand, converting leads into satisfied customers and potentially growing our revenue.

Sales return rate

Our return policy allows our customers to return hearing aids for any reason within the first 45 days of delivery for a full refund, subject to a
handling fee in certain states. The most commonly cited reason for returning our hearing aids is unsatisfactory fit, which we believe is a byproduct of our
direct-to-consumer model and online distribution that results in nearly all of our customers ordering our product without trying it first. In addition to
unsatisfactory fit, the next most cited reason for returns is that our hearing aids do not provide sufficient audio amplification. Customer return accrual rates
were approximately 26% and 35% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The decline in our sales return rate in 2020 and 2019
was a result of the growth in customers with health insurance coverage for hearing aids and repeat customers which have generally lower return rates than
other customers, and our initiatives to improve customer service and enhance the quality of our pre-screening assessments. We report revenue net of
expected returns, which is an estimate informed in part by historical return rates. As such, our return rate impacts our reported net revenue and profitability.
If actual sales returns differ significantly from our estimates, an adjustment to revenue in the current or subsequent period is recorded.

New product introductions

Our technical capabilities and commitment to innovation have allowed us to deliver product enhancements on a rapid development timeline and
support a compelling new product roadmap that we believe will continue to differentiate our competitive position over the next several years. With the
launch of the Eargo Neo HiFi in January 2020, we have launched four generations of our hearing aids since 2017, with each iteration having improved
audio performance, physical fit and/or comfort. We are focused on continuing to launch new versions of the Eargo hearing solution that further improve
audio quality, fit, comfort and/or ease-of-use. We believe that the continued introduction of new products is critical to maintaining existing customers and
increasing adoption of our solution, and as such, we expect to continue to invest in research and development to support new product introductions. In
connection with our product innovation and iteration, we also need to successfully manage our product transitions to avoid delays in customer purchases,
excess or obsolete inventory and increased returns as customers wait for our new products to become available. Our development priorities are focused, in
part, on adding a refurbishment capability for returned hearing aids, which would allow us to refurbish and re-sell returned devices, which we anticipate
would benefit our gross margin, although there is no guarantee that these efforts will succeed.

COVID-19 pandemic

We believe the COVID-19 pandemic thus far has largely resulted in favorable trends for our business. We believe that shelter-in-place restrictions
and increased reluctance of consumers to be exposed to the virus, particularly among older consumers that comprise a majority of the population needing
hearing aids, have increased customer interest to consider our vertically integrated telecare model. We believe our sales model can help consumers decrease
their risk of potential exposure to COVID-19 by avoiding multiple trips to hearing aid clinics and close proximity to audiologists and other individuals at
such clinics, which are part of the traditional hearing aid sales model.

Although we believe the COVID-19 pandemic has largely resulted in favorable trends for our business, we have experienced business disruptions,
particularly at our California headquarters, where a majority of our employees have been working remotely. Moreover, travel restrictions, factory closures
and disruptions in our supply chain could happen and we may not be able to obtain adequate inventory to sell.

The ongoing impact of COVID-19 depends on the duration and severity of the pandemic, which are difficult to assess or predict. While we have
experienced growth in our sales volume during the COVID-19 pandemic, we cannot be certain whether we will maintain the current level of demand for
our hearing aids. As a result, the impact of these or any future factors could be substantially different than what we have experienced to date. Please see the
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section titled “Risk Factors” for further discussion of the possible impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business.

Key business metrics

To analyze our business performance, determine financial forecasts and help develop long-term strategic plans, we review the following key
business metrics, each of which is an important measure that represents the growth of our business:

 • Gross systems shipped. We define our gross systems shipped as the number of hearing aid systems shipped for which we recognized
revenue during a reporting period.

 • Return accrual rates. Return accrual rates are determined by management at the end of each reporting period to estimate the percentage of
returns made during a period. This determination is informed in part by historic actual return rates. Return accrual rates do not represent
actual returns during a period as customers may return the product for a period of time that can extend beyond the period end, which can
result in a hearing aid being returned after the period in which the revenue from its sale was recognized. If actual returns differ significantly
from the return accrual rate determination made at period end, we may adjust revenue in subsequent periods to reflect the actual returns
made. Such an adjustment to revenue will not result in an adjustment to the return accrual rate for the period.

The following table details the number of gross systems shipped and return accrual rates for the periods presented below:
 

  Three months ended  

  
March 31,

2019   
June 30,

2019   
September 30,

2019   
December 31,

2019   
March 31,

2020   
June 30,

2020   
September 30,

2020   
December 31,

2020  
Gross
   systems
   shipped   5,363   4,955   5,257   7,212   7,030   9,040   10,077   12,096 
Return
   accrual
   rate   36.7%   34.4%   35.3%   34.0%   28.2%   27.1%   25.2%   24.3%
 

We believe these key business metrics provide useful information to help investors understand and evaluate our business performance. Gross
systems shipped is a key measure of sales volume, which drives potential revenue, while return accrual rates are an indicator of potential reductions to
revenue and an indicator of change in customer mix.

Components of our results of operations

Revenue, net

We generate revenue from the sale of Eargo hearing aid systems, accessories and extended warranties, with the majority of our revenue coming
from sales of our Eargo hearing aid systems. We currently offer three versions of our hearing aid systems, the Eargo Max, the Eargo Neo and the Eargo Neo
HiFi, at three different price points, and we periodically offer discounts and promotions. For product sales, control is transferred upon shipment to the
customer. We report revenue net of expected returns, which is an estimate informed in part by historical return rates. Prior to January 2020, we also offered
extended product warranties to our customers which covered the product for an additional year, commencing on the day after the initial one-year warranty
expires. For extended warranty sales, control is transferred over time based on time elapsed throughout the extended warranty period.

Cost of revenue and gross margin

Cost of revenue consists of expenses associated with the cost of finished goods, freight, personnel costs, consumables, product warranty costs,
transaction fees, reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, depreciation and amortization, and related overhead. We expect cost of revenue to increase in
absolute terms as our revenue grows.
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Our gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by a variety of factors, including sales volumes, product mix, pricing strategies, return
accrual rates, costs of finished goods, product warranty claim rates and refurbishment strategies. We expect our gross margin percentage to increase over
the long term to the extent we are successful in decreasing our rate of returns and implementing refurbishment programs after new product launches. Any
increase in gross margin will likely fluctuate from quarter to quarter as we continue to introduce new products and adopt new technologies.

Research and development expenses

Research and development, or R&D, expenses, consist primarily of engineering and product development costs to develop and support our
products, regulatory expenses, non-recurring engineering and other costs associated with products and technologies that are in development, as well as
related overhead costs. These expenses include personnel-related costs including salaries and stock-based compensation, supplies, consulting fees,
prototyping, testing, materials, travel expenses, depreciation and allocated facility overhead costs. Additionally, R&D expenses include internal and
external costs associated with our regulatory compliance and quality assurance functions, and related overhead costs. We expect R&D expenses, net of
capitalized internal use software development costs, to increase in absolute dollars as we continue to develop new products and enhance existing products
and technologies.

Sales and marketing expenses

Our sales and marketing expenses are the largest component of our operating expenses and consist primarily of personnel-related costs including
salaries and stock-based compensation, direct marketing, advertising and promotional expenses, consulting fees, public relations costs and allocated facility
overhead costs. Sales and marketing personnel include our inside sales consultants, licensed hearing professionals, marketing professionals and related
support personnel. We expect our sales and marketing expenses to increase in absolute dollars, but decrease over time as a percentage of revenue, as we
hire additional sales and marketing personnel, expand our sales support infrastructure and invest in our brand and product awareness to further penetrate the
U.S. market and potentially expand into international markets.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for executive, finance, legal, information technology and administrative
personnel, including stock-based compensation. Other significant expenses include professional fees for legal and accounting services, consulting fees,
recruiting fees, information technology costs, corporate insurance, bad debt expense, general corporate expenses and allocated facility overhead costs.

We expect to continue to incur additional general and administrative expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including expenses
related to compliance with the rules and regulations of the SEC, and those of the Nasdaq Stock Market, additional insurance costs, investor relations
activities and other administrative and professional services. As a result, we expect general and administrative expenses to increase in absolute dollars in
future periods.

Interest income

Interest income consists of interest earned on cash and cash equivalents.

Interest expense

Interest expense consists of interest related to borrowings under our debt obligations and convertible promissory notes.
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Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net consists primarily of adjustments to the fair value of embedded derivatives associated with certain redemption features
of our convertible promissory notes and adjustments to the fair value of our convertible preferred stock warrant liabilities.

Loss on extinguishment of debt

The loss on extinguishment of debt arose on the redemption of our 2020 Notes into shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock in July 2020.

Income tax provision

We use the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using enacted tax rates applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. A
valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Due to our historical operating
performance and our recorded cumulative net losses in prior fiscal periods, our net deferred tax assets have been fully offset by a valuation allowance.

Financial statement effects of uncertain tax positions are recognized when it is more-likely-than-not, based on the technical merits of the position,
that it will be sustained upon examination. Interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits are included within the provision for income tax.

Results of operations

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Revenue, net  $ 69,154  $ 32,790  $ 36,364   110.9%
Cost of revenue   21,873   15,790   6,083   38.5 
Gross profit   47,281   17,000   30,281   178.1 
Operating expenses:                 

Research and development   12,045   12,841   (796)   (6.2)
Sales and marketing   49,525   35,725   13,800   38.6 
General and administrative   20,582   12,470   8,112   65.1 

Total operating expenses   82,152   61,036   21,116   34.6 
Loss from operations   (34,871)   (44,036)   9,165   (20.8)
Other income (expense), net:                 

Interest income   37   627   (590)   (94.1)
Interest expense   (1,920)   (711)   (1,209)   170.0 
Other income (expense), net   (1,474)   (366)   (1,108)   302.7 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   (1,627)   —   (1,627)  * 

Total other income (expense), net   (4,984)   (450)   (4,534)   1,008 
Loss before income taxes   (39,855)   (44,486)   4,631   (10.4)
Income tax provision   —   —   —   — 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (39,855)  $ (44,486)  $ 4,631   (10.4)%

* Not meaningful
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Revenue, net
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Revenue, net  $ 69,154  $ 32,790  $ 36,364   110.9%

 
Revenue increased by $36.4 million, or 110.9%, from $32.8 million in 2019 to $69.2 million in 2020, primarily due to an increase in the volume of

Eargo hearing aid systems shipped, the majority of which were Eargo Neo HiFi systems, which began shipping in January 2020. The increase in revenue
was also attributable to a higher average selling price due to introduction of the Neo HiFi systems and a decrease in sales returns as a percentage of systems
shipped, the latter of which was partially due to growth in sales to customers with health insurance coverage as such customers generally have lower return
rates. Gross systems shipped during 2020 were 38,243, a 68% increase compared to the 22,787 gross systems shipped during 2019. The increase in volume
was largely driven by expanded national marketing efforts in conjunction with the launch of Eargo Neo HiFi, growth in customers with health insurance
coverage for hearing aids and increased customer adoption of our telecare model due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Cost of revenue, gross profit, and gross margin
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Cost of revenue  $ 21,873  $ 15,790  $ 6,083   38.5%
Gross profit   47,281   17,000   30,281   178.1%
Gross margin   68.4%   51.8%        

 

 
Cost of revenue increased by $6.1 million, or 38.5%, from $15.8 million in 2019 to $21.9 million in 2020. The change was primarily due to an

increase in the volume of Eargo hearing aid systems shipped during the period. In addition, product warranty costs increased from $1.6 million in 2019 to
$3.2 million in 2020 as a result of increased sales volume and the new two-year warranty coverage term associated with Neo HiFi, compared to one-year
warranty coverage for prior generations of Eargo hearing aid systems.

Gross margin increased to 68.4% in 2020, compared to 51.8% in 2019. The change in gross margin percentage was primarily due to an increase in
the average selling price of systems shipped and a decrease in sales returns as a percentage of systems shipped.

Research and development (R&D)
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Research and development  $ 12,045  $ 12,841  $ (796)   (6.2)%

 
R&D expenses decreased by $0.8 million, or 6.2%, from $12.8 million in 2019 to $12.0 million in 2020. The change was primarily due to a net

decrease of $0.8 million in personnel and personnel-related costs resulting from increased capitalized costs associated with the development of internal use
software and a decrease in travel costs due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We capitalized $2.1 million of personnel and personnel-related internal use
software costs in 2020 compared to $1.1 million in 2019.

Sales and marketing
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Sales and marketing  $ 49,525  $ 35,725  $ 13,800   38.6%
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Sales and marketing expenses increased by $13.8 million, or 38.6%, from $35.7 million in 2019 to $49.5 million in 2020. The change was
primarily due to increases in personnel and personnel-related costs of $7.2 million and increases in direct marketing, advertising and promotional expenses
of $6.6 million. The change in personnel and personnel-related costs was primarily due to increased commissions from increased sales and a net increase in
salary-related costs, including an increase of $1.4 million in stock-based compensation.

General and administrative
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
General and administrative  $ 20,582  $ 12,470  $ 8,112   65.1%

 
General and administrative expenses increased by $8.1 million, or 65.1%, from $12.5 million in 2019 to $20.6 million in 2020. This change was

primarily due to an increase in general corporate, personnel and personnel-related costs of $5.0 million, an increase in bad debt expense of $2.0 million
directly related to the growth in our insurance payment channel and terminated IPO costs of $1.6 million, which were partially offset by a decrease in non-
capitalizable IPO readiness costs of $0.5 million. The change in personnel and personnel-related costs includes an increase of $1.7 million in stock-based
compensation.

Terminated IPO costs consist of deferred offering costs expensed upon termination of our previously planned IPO in March 2020. The offering was
terminated primarily because of the uncertainty in the public markets during the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Interest income
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Interest income  $ 37  $ 627  $ (590)   (94.1)%

 
Interest income decreased by $0.6 million, or 94.1%, from $0.6 million in 2019 to less than $0.1 million in 2020. The decrease in interest income

was due to a lower average interest rate in 2020 compared to 2019.

Interest expense
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Interest expense  $ (1,920)  $ (711)  $ (1,209)   170.0%

 
Interest expense increased by $1.2 million, or 170.0%, from $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 to $1.9 million during the year

ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily attributable to interest expense on the 2020 Notes in 2020, for which there was no similar expense
in 2019.

Other income (expense), net
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %  
Other income (expense), net  $ (1,474)  $ (366)  $ (1,108)   302.7%

 
Other expense increased by $1.1 million, or 302.7%, from $0.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2019 to $1.5 million during the year

ended December 31, 2020. The expense recorded in each period is primarily related to the change in fair value of our convertible preferred stock warrant
liability, which is based in part on the fair value of our common stock. Upon the closing of our IPO in October 2020, the convertible preferred stock
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warrants were converted into warrants to purchase common stock and the warrant liabilities were reclassified to additional paid in capital.

Loss on extinguishment of debt
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change
(dollars in thousands)  2020   2019   Amount   %
Loss on extinguishment of debt  $ (1,627)  $ —  $ (1,627)  *

 
The loss on extinguishment of debt in 2020 was related to the redemption of our 2020 Notes in July 2020 in exchange for shares of Series E

convertible preferred stock, which was accounted for as extinguishment of debt.

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Revenue, net  $ 32,790  $ 23,163  $ 9,627   41.6%
Cost of revenue   15,790   11,423   4,367   38.2 
Gross profit   17,000   11,740   5,260   44.8 
Operating expenses:                 

Research and development   12,841   9,520   3,321   34.9 
Sales and marketing   35,725   25,540   10,185   39.9 
General and administrative   12,470   8,251   4,219   51.1 

Total operating expenses   61,036   43,311   17,725   40.9 
Loss from operations   (44,036)   (31,571)   (12,465)   39.5 
Other income (expense), net:                 

Interest income   627   164   463   282.3 
Interest expense   (711)   (424)   (287)   67.7 
Other income (expense), net   (366)   (1,403)   1,037   (73.9)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   —   (559)   559   (100.0)

Total other income (expense), net   (450)   (2,222)   1,772   (79.7)
Loss before income taxes   (44,486)   (33,793)   (10,693)   31.6 
Income tax provision   —   —   —   — 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)  $ (10,693)   31.6%

Revenue, net
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Revenue, net  $ 32,790  $ 23,163  $ 9,627   41.6%

Revenue increased by $9.6 million, or 41.6%, from $23.2 million in 2018 to $32.8 million in 2019. The increase was primarily due to an increase
in the volume of sales as a result of our product offerings being able to meet the needs of more consumers following the introduction of Eargo Neo hearing
aid system, which provides improved physical fit and audio performance. Gross systems shipped in 2019 were 22,787, a 17.6% increase compared to the
19,371 gross systems shipped in 2018. The Eargo Neo hearing aid system represented the majority of the gross systems shipped in 2019 and shipped at a
higher average selling price compared to Eargo Max and Eargo Plus. The increase in revenue is also attributable to a decrease in sales returns as a
percentage of systems shipped.
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Cost of revenue, gross profit, and gross margin
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Cost of revenue  $ 15,790  $ 11,423  $ 4,367   38.2%
Gross profit   17,000   11,740   5,260   44.8%
Gross margin   51.8%   50.7%        

 

Cost of revenue increased by $4.4 million, or 38.2%, from $11.4 million in 2018 to $15.8 million in 2019. The change was primarily due to an
increase in the volume of Eargo hearing aid systems shipped. Gross margin increased to 51.8% in 2019, compared to 50.7% in 2018. The change in gross
margin percentage was primarily due to an increase in the average selling price of systems shipped and a decrease in sales returns as a percentage of
systems shipped, offset by increased warranty costs of $1.5 million and increased provisions for slow-moving, excess or obsolete inventory primarily due
to the discontinuation of Eargo Plus. Product warranty costs in 2019 were $1.6 million compared to $0.1 million in 2018. There were 9,730 product
warranty claims in 2019 compared to 5,700 claims in 2018. The majority of the increase in product warranty costs in 2019 is attributable to product
warranty claims for Eargo Neo in the first three quarters of 2019 being fulfilled using new Eargo Neo hearing aid systems at a higher cost per claim
compared to product warranty claims for Eargo Plus and Eargo Max in 2018 and 2019, the majority of which were fulfilled with refurbished hearing aid
components. This was due to the Eargo Neo hearing aid refurbishment program not being established until the second half of 2019.

Research and development (R&D)
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Research and development  $ 12,841  $ 9,520  $ 3,321   34.9%

R&D expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 34.9%, from $9.5 million in 2018 to $12.8 million in 2019. This change was primarily due to
increases in personnel and related costs of $2.9 million due to increased headcount and increased investments in new product development of $0.3 million.

Sales and marketing
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Sales and marketing  $ 35,725  $ 25,540  $ 10,185   39.9%

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $10.2 million, or 39.9%, from $25.5 million in 2018 to $ 35.7 million in 2019. This change was
primarily due to increases in direct marketing, advertising and promotional expenses of $6.0 million, as well as increases in personnel and personnel-related
costs of $3.7 million due to increased headcount.

General and administrative
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
General and administrative  $ 12,470  $ 8,251  $ 4,219   51.1%

General and administrative expenses increased by $4.2 million, or 51.1% from $8.3 million in 2018 to $12.5 million in 2019. This change was
primarily due to increases in personnel and personnel-related costs of $2.0 million due to increased headcount and increases in general corporate costs of
$0.8 million. We also incurred non-capitalizable IPO readiness costs of $1.0 million in 2019, of which there were none in 2018.
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Interest income
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Interest income  $ 627  $ 164  $ 463   282.3%

Interest income increased by $0.5 million, or 282.3%, from $0.2 million in 2018 to $0.6 million in 2019. The increase in interest income was due to
higher average cash and cash equivalents balances in 2019 resulting from the receipt of $52.0 million of net proceeds from our Series D convertible
preferred stock issuances in December 2018 and February 2019.

Interest expense
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Interest expense  $ (711)  $ (424)  $ (287)   67.7%

Interest expense increased by $0.3 million, or 67.7%, from $0.4 million in 2018 to $0.7 million in 2019. The increase in interest expense was
primarily attributable to higher average term loan balances outstanding in 2019.

Other income (expense), net
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Other income (expense), net  $ (366)  $ (1,403)  $ 1,037   (73.9)%

Other expense decreased by $ 1.0 million, or 73.9%, from $1.4 million in 2018 to $0.4 million in 2019. The expense recorded in 2018 primarily
related to the change in the fair value of our convertible preferred stock tranche liability, which was recognized until the closing of the second tranche of
the Series C convertible preferred stock financing in March 2018, and an accrued amount for sales tax audit liability. The expense recorded in 2019
primarily related to the change in fair value of our convertible preferred stock warrant liability.

Loss on extinguishment of debt
 

  Year ended December 31,   Change  
(dollars in thousands)  2019   2018   Amount   %  
Loss on extinguishment of debt  $ —  $ (559)  $ 559   (100.0)%

The loss on extinguishment of debt in 2018 related to an early repayment of an outstanding loan in June 2018.
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Quarterly results of operations

The following table sets forth our selected unaudited quarterly consolidated statements of operations data for each of the quarters indicated. The
information for each of these quarters has been prepared in accordance with GAAP, on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and
includes, in the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, that are necessary for the fair presentation of the
results of operations for these periods. These quarterly results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the results we may achieve in any future
period. The following quarterly financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Part II,
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

  Three months ended  

(dollars in thousands)  
March 31,

2019   
June 30,

2019   
September 30,

2019   
December 31,

2019   
March 31,

2020   
June 30,

2020   
September 30,

2020   
December 31,

2020  
Revenue, net  $ 7,290  $ 7,155  $ 7,730  $ 10,615  $ 12,669  $ 15,921  $ 18,186  $ 22,378 
Cost of revenue   (3,823)   (3,627)   (3,583)   (4,757)   (4,656)   (5,205)   (5,434)   (6,578)
Gross profit   3,467   3,528   4,147   5,858   8,013   10,716   12,752   15,800 
Operating expenses:                                 

Research and
   development   2,669   2,893   3,219   4,060   2,809   2,208   2,871   4,157 
Sales and
   marketing   7,663   7,745   9,290   11,027   10,859   10,828   12,354   15,484 
General and
   administrative   2,421   2,677   3,683   3,689   6,078   3,257   5,163   6,084 
Total operating
   expenses   12,753   13,315   16,192   18,776   19,746   16,293   20,388   25,725 

Loss from operations   (9,286)   (9,787)   (12,045)   (12,918)   (11,733)   (5,577)   (7,636)   (9,925)
Other income
   (expense), net:                                 

Interest income   232   187   136   72   21   2   3   11 
Interest expense   (142)   (132)   (218)   (219)   (266)   (877)   (279)   (498)
Other income
   (expense), net   (27)   (27)   (30)   (282)   240   (140)   (187)   (1,387)
Loss on
   extinguishment
   of debt   —   —   —   —   —   —   (1,627)   — 

Total other income
   (expense), net   63   28   (112)   (429)   (5)   (1,015)   (2,090)   (1,874)
Loss before income
   taxes   (9,223)   (9,759)   (12,157)   (13,347)   (11,738)   (6,592)   (9,726)   (11,799)
Income tax provision   —   —   —   —   —   —   —   — 
Net loss and
   comprehensive
   loss  $ (9,223)  $ (9,759)  $ (12,157)  $ (13,347)  $ (11,738)  $ (6,592)  $ (9,726)  $ (11,799)
Other financial
   data                                 
Gross margin   47.6%  49.3%  53.6%  55.2%   63.2%  67.3%  70.1%   70.6%
 

Quarterly revenue trends

The overall increase in quarterly revenue over the course of the periods presented was primarily due an increase in the volume of Eargo hearing aid
systems shipped, an increase in the average selling price of systems shipped and a decrease in sales returns as a percentage of systems shipped. The
increase in the volume of Eargo hearing aid systems shipped was generally driven by increased sales and marketing investments, growth in sales to
customers with health insurance coverage and expanded product offerings with the introduction of the Eargo Neo hearing aids in January 2019 and Eargo
Neo HiFi hearing aids in January 2020, as each introduction has allowed us to meet the needs of more consumers. We experience seasonality in our
business, with revenue typically being higher in quarters when we launch new products and revenue in the fourth quarter typically being higher as a result
of holiday promotional activity. Revenue increased in 2020 from continuing growth in customers with health
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insurance coverage for hearing aids and repeat customers, and increased customer adoption of our telecare model amid the COVID-19 pandemic.

Quarterly cost of revenue and gross margins trends

The overall increase in the quarterly cost of revenue over the periods presented was primarily the result of the growth in Eargo hearing aid systems
shipped. Our quarterly gross margins increased from 47.6% to 70.6% over the periods presented. Sales returns as a percentage of systems shipped generally
improved over the periods presented, resulting in increases in gross margins. The increase in gross margins in the quarter ended December 31, 2019, as
compared to the prior quarter, was partially offset by an increase in the provisions for slow-moving, excess or obsolete inventory primarily due to the
discontinuation of Eargo Plus. The increase in gross margins throughout 2020 was primarily due to an increase in the average selling prices of systems
shipped as a result of the launch of Neo HiFi in January 2020 and decreases in sales returns as a percentage of systems shipped.

Quarterly operating expenses trends

The overall increase in quarterly operating expenses over the course of the periods presented was primarily due to increased headcount in
connection with the expansion of our business, increased investments in new product development and increased direct marketing, advertising and
promotional expenses to promote our products and increase brand awareness. We have experienced seasonality in our business, with operating expenses in
the fourth quarter typically being higher as a result of holiday promotional activity. Furthermore, operating expenses also increased in the quarter ended
March 31, 2020, as compared to the prior quarter due to the recording of previously deferred costs associated with the termination of our IPO process.
Operating expenses decreased in the quarter ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the prior quarter due to measures taken to reduce net costs including, but
not limited to, professional and legal fees, IPO readiness costs and personnel-related costs in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Operating expenses
increased in subsequent quarters due to the factors noted above as well as increased bad debt expense directly related to the growth in our insurance
payment channel and increased stock-based compensation as compared to prior quarters.

Liquidity and capital resources

Sources of liquidity

Since our inception, we have incurred net losses and negative cash flows from operations. We have funded our operations primarily from the net
proceeds received from the sale of our equity securities, indebtedness and revenue from the sale of our products.

On October 20, 2020, we completed our IPO, pursuant to which we sold an aggregate of 9,029,629 shares of our common stock at a price of $18.00
per share, resulting in net proceeds of $148.5 million after deducting underwriting discounts, commissions and offering expenses.

Funding requirements

As of December 31, 2020, we had cash and cash equivalents of $212.2 million, which are available to fund operations, and an accumulated deficit
of $199.1 million. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses for the foreseeable future and to incur operating losses in the near term while we
make investments to support our anticipated growth. We may raise additional capital through the issuance of additional equity financing, debt financings or
other sources. If this financing is not available to us at adequate levels, we may need to reevaluate our operating plans. If we do raise additional capital
through public or private equity offerings, the ownership interest of our existing stockholders will be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our existing stockholders’ rights. If we raise additional capital through debt financing, we may be
subject to covenants limiting or restricting our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures or declaring
dividends. We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, and cash generated from sales of our products, will be sufficient
to meet our anticipated needs for at least the next 12 months from the date of this filing.
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Debt obligations

2018 Loan

In June 2018, we entered into the 2018 Loan with SVB. Under the 2018 Loan, SVB agreed to provide us access to term loans in an aggregate
principal amount of up to $12.5 million. In connection with the 2018 Loan, we issued SVB a warrant to purchase 30,173 shares of Series C convertible
preferred stock at an exercise price of $9.0201 per share, with a term of ten years, and authorized the issuance of an additional warrant to purchase 6,022
shares of Series C convertible preferred stock upon the funding of a term loan under the second tranche, or Tranche B. Term loans of $7.0 million were
funded in October 2018 through December 2018 under the first tranche.

In January 2019, we amended the 2018 Loan and in connection with this amendment, we authorized the issuance of a warrant to purchase 8,977
shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock upon the funding of a term loan under Tranche B. In June 2019, we borrowed an additional $5.0 million
under Tranche B to increase the total outstanding principal balance to $12.0 million. In connection with this borrowing, we issued SVB a warrant to
purchase 14,999 shares of our Series C convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $9.0201 per share, with a term of ten years.

Pursuant to the terms of the 2018 Loan, we made interest-only monthly payments on the term loans through December 31, 2019 and began making
monthly payments of interest and amortized principal in January 2020.

In May 2020, we executed an amendment to the 2018 Loan to defer the principal payments due in May 2020 through July 2020 such that the
deferred amounts would be repaid in equal monthly payments starting in August 2020 through the maturity of the loan in June 2022.

In September 2020, we executed an amendment to the 2018 Loan to (i) extend the interest-only period for all borrowings until December 31, 2021,
which was extended to June 30, 2022 upon the closing of the IPO, (ii) extend the maturity date of the 2018 Loan to September 1, 2024 and (iii) increase the
maximum aggregate principal amount of the term loans to $20.0 million, of which we borrowed $15.0 million in September 2020, a portion of which was
used to repay all the previously outstanding indebtedness under the 2018 Loan. In connection with this borrowing, we issued SVB a warrant to purchase
53,487 shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock at an exercise price of $6.7836 per share, with a term of ten years. Our ability to borrow any
additional principal pursuant to the 2018 Loan expired unused on December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we had $15.0 million in principal
outstanding under the 2018 Loan.

Interest on the 2018 Loan accrues at a per annum rate equal to the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus 1.0%, or 4.25% as of December 31, 2020. We
are permitted to prepay the outstanding principal balance advanced under the 2018 Loan in whole but not in part, subject to a prepayment fee of 3.0%,
which reduces to 2.0% in September 2021 and to 1.0% in September 2022. We are also required to pay a final payment fee equal to 6.25% of the total term
loans advanced, which was $0.9 million as of December 31, 2020, due upon the earliest of maturity, acceleration, prepayment or termination of the 2018
Loan.

Under the terms of the 2018 Loan, we granted SVB first priority liens and security interests in substantially all of our assets as collateral, excluding
our intellectual property. The 2018 Loan also contains certain representations and warranties, indemnification provisions in favor of SVB, affirmative and
negative covenants (including, among other things, limitations on other indebtedness, liens, encumbrances on our intellectual property, acquisitions,
investments and dividends and requirements relating to financial reporting, inventory management, returns, insurance and protection of our intellectual
property rights) and events of default (including payment defaults, breaches of covenants following any applicable cure period, investor abandonment, a
material impairment in the perfection or priority of the lender’s security interest or in the collateral, and events relating to bankruptcy or insolvency).

Paycheck Protection Program loan

On May 3, 2020, we executed a promissory note with MidFirst Bank, which provided for an unsecured loan in an aggregate principal amount of
$4.6 million, or the PPP Loan, pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program, or
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PPP, under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, that was signed into law on March 27, 2020.

The PPP Loan provides for a fixed interest rate of 1.0% per year with a maturity date of May 3, 2022. Monthly principal and interest payments due
on the PPP Loan are deferred for a six-month period beginning from the date of disbursement of the PPP Loan. The PPP Loan may be prepaid by us at any
time prior to the maturity with no prepayment penalty. The PPP Loan contains customary event of default provisions.

In August 2020, we repaid the PPP Loan in full in the amount of $4.6 million and terminated the related promissory note.

2020 Notes

We issued an aggregate of $8.9 million in convertible promissory notes in March 2020 and an additional aggregate of $1.2 million in April 2020 in
a subsequent closing. The 2020 Notes accrued interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum with a maturity date in March 2021.

The 2020 Notes contained redemption features, a conversion feature and a put option that were determined to be embedded derivatives requiring
bifurcation as a single compound financial instrument. Upon the issuance of the 2020 Notes, we recorded the fair value of the derivative liability of $2.9
million as a debt discount on the 2020 Notes and as a single compound derivative instrument. The debt discount is being amortized to interest expense
using the effective interest method over the term of the 2020 Notes.

Pursuant to their terms, the 2020 Notes were redeemed in July 2020 in conjunction with our Series E convertible preferred stock financing, and the
outstanding principal and accrued interest of $10.3 million were converted to 1,889,548 shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock at a conversion
price of $5.427 per share, a price equal to 80% of the $6.7836 per share paid by the investors in the Series E convertible preferred stock financing.

Cash flows

The following table summarizes our cash flows for the periods indicated:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
(in thousands)  2020   2019   2018  
Net cash used in operating activities  $ (26,041)  $ (39,108)  $ (27,149)
Net cash used in investing activities   (5,079)   (3,859)   (2,547)
Net cash provided by financing activities   229,921   5,150   71,728 

Net increase (decrease) in cash  $ 198,801  $ (37,817)  $ 42,032
 

 

Operating activities

In 2020, cash used in operating activities was $26.0 million, attributable to a net loss of $39.9 million and a net change in our net operating assets
and liabilities of $1.9 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of $15.7 million. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $5.1 million in stock-based
compensation, $2.5 million in depreciation and amortization, $2.4 million in bad debt expense related to our insurance payment channel, $1.6 million in
loss on extinguishment of debt, $1.5 million in non-cash interest expense and amortization of debt discount, $1.5 million from the change in fair value of
financial instruments primarily due to the change in fair value of our warrant liability and $1.1 million in non-cash operating lease expense. The change in
our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $4.1 million increase in accounts receivable related to an increase sales volume and growth in
customers with health insurance coverage, a $2.1 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current assets primarily related to an increase in prepaid
insurance, a $1.2 million decrease in lease liabilities and a $0.4 million decrease in deferred revenue. These changes were partially offset by a $4.5 million
increase in accrued expenses primarily related to an increase in accrued compensation, a $0.7 million increase in other current liabilities, a $0.5 million
decrease in other assets and a $0.2 million increase in accounts payable.
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In 2019, cash used in operating activities was $39.1 million, attributable to a net loss of $44.5 million, partially offset by non-cash charges of $3.5
million and by a net change in our net operating assets and liabilities of $1.9 million. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $1.5 million in depreciation
and amortization, $1.3 million in stock-based compensation, $0.3 million in non-cash interest expense and amortization of debt discount and $0.3 million
from the change in fair value of financial instruments due to the change in fair value of our warrant liability. The change in our net operating assets and
liabilities was primarily due to a $3.7 million increase in accrued expenses, a $0.5 million increase in deferred revenue balance and a $0.2 million increase
in accounts payable; the increase in accrued expenses was primarily due to increases in accrued vendor costs, accrued compensation and accrued warranty
reserves, which were partially offset by a decrease in the allowance for sales returns. These changes were partially offset by a $1.1 million increase in
accounts receivable, $0.7 million increase in inventories to support the growth in sales, $0.4 million increase in other assets, and $0.2 million increase in
prepaid expenses and other current assets.

In 2018, cash used in operating activities was $27.1 million, attributable to a net loss of $33.8 million, partially offset by a net change in our net
operating assets and liabilities of $4.3 million, and by non-cash charges of $2.3 million. Non-cash charges primarily consisted of $0.7 million in
depreciation and amortization, $0.6 million due to the loss on extinguishment of debt, $0.5 million from the change in fair value of financial instruments
primarily due to the change in the fair value of our convertible preferred stock tranche liability, $0.4 million in stock-based compensation, and $0.1 million
in non-cash interest expense and amortization of debt discount. The change in our net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $2.8 million
increase in accrued expense related to allowance for sales returns due to increased sales, accrued payroll and benefits as a result of increased headcount and
amounts due to customers for returned products, $2.5 million increase in accounts payable due to timing of vendor payments, $1.5 million increase in other
current liabilities, $0.2 million increase in other long-term liabilities and $0.2 million increase in deferred revenue balance. These changes were partially
offset by a $1.8 million increase in inventories to support the growth in our business operations, $0.5 million increase in prepaid expenses and other current
assets, $0.3 million increase in accounts receivable due to increased sales at year end and $0.3 million increase in other assets primarily related to security
deposit for the new office in 2018.

Investing activities

In 2020, cash used in investing activities was $5.1 million, which consisted of $3.5 million in capitalized costs related to the development of
internal use software and $1.6 million related to the purchase of property and equipment.

In 2019, cash used in investing activities was $3.9 million, which consisted of $2.2 million related to the purchase of property and equipment and
$1.7 million in capitalized costs related to the development of internal use software.

In 2018, cash used in investing activities was $2.5 million, which consisted of $1.7 million related to the purchase of property and equipment and
$0.8 million in capitalized costs related to the development of internal use software.

Financing activities

In 2020, cash provided by financing activities was $229.9 million, attributable to $148.5 million in net proceeds received in our IPO, $67.9 million
in net proceeds from the issuance of our Series E convertible preferred stock, $19.6 million in borrowings under our term loan and PPP loan, $10.1 million
in proceeds from the issuance of convertible notes, and $1.2 million from the exercise of stock options, partially offset by $17.3 million in debt repayments,
which includes repayment of our PPP loan.

In 2019, cash provided by financing activities was $5.2 million, attributable to gross proceeds of $5.0 million from borrowings on our 2018 Loan
and net proceeds of $0.9 million from the issuance of our Series D convertible preferred stock, partially offset by $0.8 million in payments of deferred
offering costs related to our planned IPO.

In 2018, cash provided by financing activities was $71.7 million. This was attributable to the net proceeds of $72.4 million from the issuance of our
Series C and Series D convertible preferred stock and gross proceeds of $7.0
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million from borrowings on our 2018 Loan, partially offset by $7.7 million in repayment of principal and related fees on a prior loan entered into in 2014.

Contractual obligations and commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2020:

  Payments due by period  

(in thousands)  Total   
Less than

1 year   
1-3

years   
3-5

years   
More than

5 years  
Operating lease obligations  $ 1,241  $ 1,074  $ 167  $ —  $ — 
Debt, principal and interest(1)  $ 17,662  $ 646  $ 3,950  $ 7,038  $ 6,028 
Total  $ 18,903  $ 1,720  $ 4,117  $ 7,038  $ 6,028

 

 1) We borrowed $15.0 million pursuant to a term loan under the 2018 Loan. Principal payments associated with the 2018 Loan are
included in the above table. Interest expense is included in the above table based on obligations outstanding and rates effective as of
December 31, 2020, including a final one-time payment of $0.9 million in September 2024.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

During the period presented, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC.

Critical accounting policies and estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires
us to make estimates and assumptions regarding the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures. Our estimates are
based on our historical experience and on various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions and any such differences may be material.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the Note 2 to our audited consolidated financial statements appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we believe the following discussion addresses our most critical accounting policies, which are those that
are most important to our financial condition and results of operations and require our most difficult, subjective and complex judgments.

Revenue recognition

We generate revenue from the sale of Eargo hearing aid systems, accessories and extended warranties directly to consumers. Our products are
primarily sold through our website and sales representatives. For product sales, control is transferred upon shipment to the customer. The extended
warranties sold to consumers covers the product for an additional year, commencing on the day after the initial one-year warranty expires. For extended
warranty sales, control is transferred over time based on time elapsed throughout the extended warranty period.

Each product is sold with a 45-day right of return. We account for the estimated impact of any returns as a reduction of transaction price. To
estimate product sales that will be returned (i.e., variable consideration), we analyze historical returns, current economic trends, and changes in customer
demand. Based on this information, we reserve a percentage of each dollar of product sales that provide the customer with the right of return. The
transaction price includes an estimate of variable consideration up to the amount for which it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recorded will not occur once the uncertainties surrounding the variable consideration are resolved.
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Revenue is recognized when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the consideration which the entity
expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. To determine revenue recognition for arrangements that an entity determines are within the
scope of ASC 606, we perform the following five steps: (i) identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract;
(iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or
as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Stock-based compensation

We recognize compensation costs related to stock-based awards granted, including stock options, purchase rights granted under the employee stock
purchase plan and restricted stock units, based on the estimated fair value of the awards on the date of grant. The grant date fair value of the stock-based
awards is generally recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the respective awards. The
valuation model used for calculating the estimated fair value of stock options and purchase rights granted under the employee stock purchase plan is the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The Black-Scholes model requires us to make assumptions and judgments about the variables used in the calculations,
including the expected term (weighted-average period of time that the stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding), the expected volatility of our
common stock, the related risk-free interest rate and the expected dividend. We have elected to recognize forfeitures of stock options as they occur.

For option awards issued to non-employees, we record expense related to stock options based on the fair value of the options calculated using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model over the service performance period.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requires the use of highly subjective assumptions which determine the fair value of stock-based awards.
These assumptions include:

 • Fair value of common stock. For grants prior to our IPO in October 2020, the fair value of our common stock underlying share-based
awards was estimated on each grant date by our board of directors. In order to determine the fair value of our common stock underlying
option grants, our board of directors considered, among other things, valuations of our common stock prepared by an unrelated third-party
valuation firm in accordance with the guidance provided by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Guide,
Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. For all grants subsequent to our IPO in October 2020, the
fair value of common stock was determined by using the closing price per share of common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select
Market.

 • Expected term. The expected term represents the period that share-based awards are expected to be outstanding. The expected term for
option grants is determined using the simplified method. The simplified method deems the term to be the average of the time-to-vesting
and the contractual life of the share-based awards.

 • Expected volatility. Since we had been privately held and did not have any trading history for our common stock and subsequent to our IPO
have limited trading history for our common stock, the expected volatility was estimated based on the average volatility for comparable
publicly traded companies over a period equal to the expected term of the stock option grants. The comparable companies were chosen
based on their similar size, stage in the life cycle or area of specialty.

 • Risk-free interest rate. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury zero coupon issues in effect at the time of grant for periods
corresponding with the expected term of option.

 • Expected dividend. We have never paid dividends on our common stock and have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock.
Therefore, we used an expected dividend yield of zero.

Recent accounting pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements appearing under Part II, Item 8 for more information about recent accounting pronouncements,
the timing of their adoption, and our assessment.
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JOBS Act accounting election

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or
revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such time as those standards apply to private companies.

We have elected to use this extended transition period to enable us to comply with new or revised accounting standards that have
different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date we (i) are no longer an emerging growth company or
(ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opt out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, our consolidated financial statements may
not be comparable to companies that comply with new or revised accounting pronouncements

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Interest rate risk

Our cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2020 consists of $212.2 million in bank deposits and money market funds. Such interest-earning
instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk. The goals of our investment policy are liquidity and capital preservation; we do not enter into investments
for trading or speculative purposes and have not used any derivative financial instruments to manage our interest rate exposure. We believe that we do not
have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of these assets as a result of changes in interest rates due to the short-term nature of our cash and
cash equivalents.

As of December 31, 2020 we had $15.0 million in variable rate debt outstanding. The 2018 Loan matures in September 2024 and has interest-only
payments until July 2022. The 2018 Loan accrues interest at a floating per annum rate equal to the Wall Street Journal prime rate plus 1.00% with a floor of
0.00% (4.25% as of December 31, 2020).
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Eargo, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eargo, Inc. and its subsidiary (the "Company") as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, convertible preferred stock and stockholders' equity (deficit), and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

San Jose, California

March 16, 2021

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
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Eargo, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

  December 31,   December 31,  
  2020   2019  

ASSETS         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 212,185  $ 13,384 
Accounts receivable, net   3,793   2,051 
Inventories   2,739   2,880 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   3,740   1,598 

Total current assets   222,457   19,913 
Operating lease right-of-use assets   1,079   — 
Property and equipment, net   8,034   5,400 
Other assets   1,062   1,992 
Total assets  $ 232,632  $ 27,305 
LIABILITIES, CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND
   STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 6,020  $ 5,428 
Accrued expenses   13,909   9,939 
Long-term debt, current portion   —   4,800 
Other current liabilities   2,448   1,717 
Deferred revenue, current portion   311   406 
Lease liability, current portion   1,030   — 

Total current liabilities   23,718   22,290 
Lease liability, noncurrent portion   166   — 
Deferred revenue, noncurrent portion   —   269 
Long-term debt, noncurrent portion   14,837   7,446 
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability   —   396 
Other liabilities   —   127 
Total liabilities   38,721   30,528 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)         
Convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; zero and 36,269,166 shares
   authorized as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively; zero
   and 11,825,812 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020
   and 2019, respectively   —   152,880 
Stockholders’ equity (deficit):         
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share; 5,000,000 and zero shares
   authorized as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively; zero shares
   issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively   —   — 
Common stock; $0.0001 par value; 110,000,000 and 55,190,000 shares
   authorized as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively; 38,246,601
   and 265,943 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020
   and 2019, respectively   4   — 
Additional paid in capital   392,965   3,100 
Accumulated deficit   (199,058)   (159,203)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   193,911   (156,103)
Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)  $ 232,632  $ 27,305

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Eargo, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  

Revenue, net  $ 69,154  $ 32,790  $ 23,163 
Cost of revenue   21,873   15,790   11,423 
Gross profit   47,281   17,000   11,740 
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   12,045   12,841   9,520 
Sales and marketing   49,525   35,725   25,540 
General and administrative   20,582   12,470   8,251 

Total operating expenses   82,152   61,036   43,311 
Loss from operations   (34,871)   (44,036)   (31,571)
Other income (expense), net:             

Interest income   37   627   164 
Interest expense   (1,920)   (711)   (424)
Other income (expense), net   (1,474)   (366)   (1,403)
Loss on extinguishment of debt   (1,627)   —   (559)

Total other income (expense), net   (4,984)   (450)   (2,222)
Loss before income taxes   (39,855)   (44,486)   (33,793)
Income tax provision   —   —   — 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  $ (39,855)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders, basic
   and diluted  $ (30,015)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)
Net loss per share attributable to common
   stockholders, basic and diluted  $ (3.80)  $ (173.47)  $ (149.69)
Weighted-average shares used in computing net loss per
   share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
   diluted   7,890,375   256,452   225,754

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Eargo, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In thousands, except share amounts)

 

  Convertible preferred stock    Common stock   
Additional

paid-in   Accumulated   
Total

stockholders’  
  Shares   Amount    Shares   Amount   capital   deficit   equity (deficit)  

Balance December 31, 2017   5,547,765  $ 79,129    224,074  $ —  $ 1,259  $ (80,924)  $ (79,665)
Issuance of Series C convertible preferred
   stock, net of issuance costs of $159   2,381,336   21,320    —   —   —   —   — 
Settlement of Series C convertible
   preferred stock tranche liability on
   second tranche closing of Series C
   convertible preferred stock   —   479    —   —   —   —   — 
Issuance of Series D convertible preferred
   stock, net of issuance costs of $163   3,832,058   51,087    —   —   —   —   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —    —   —   449   —   449 
Exercise of stock options   —   —    7,757   —   10   —   10 
Net loss and comprehensive loss   —   —    —   —   —   (33,793)   (33,793)

Balance December 31, 2018   11,761,159   152,015    231,831   -    1,718   (114,717)   (112,999)
Issuance of Series D convertible preferred
   stock, net of issuance costs of $0   64,653   865    —   —   —   —   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —    —   —   1,339   —   1,339 
Exercise of stock options   —   —    34,112   —   43   —   43 
Net loss and comprehensive loss   —   —    —   —   —   (44,486)   (44,486)

Balance December 31, 2019   11,825,812   152,880    265,943   -    3,100   (159,203)   (156,103)
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred
   stock, net of issuance costs of $4,056   10,513,921   67,267    —   —   —   —   — 
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred
   stock, upon extinguishment of
   convertible notes   1,889,548   12,818    —   —   —   —   — 
Gain on extinguishment of Series C and
   Series C-1 convertible preferred stock   —   (9,840)    —   —   9,840   —   9,840 
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to
   common stock upon initial public offering   (24,229,281)   (223,125)    28,196,388   3    223,122   —   223,125 
Conversion of convertible preferred stock
   warrants to common stock warrants upon
   initial public offering   —   —    —   —   1,931   —   1,931 
Issuance of common stock upon initial public
   offering, net of underwriting discounts and
   commissions and other offering costs
   of $14,031   —   —    9,029,629   1    148,501   —   148,502 
Exercise of common stock warrants   —   —    107,790   —   —   —   — 
Stock-based compensation   —   —    —   —   5,292   —   5,292 
Exercise of stock options   —   —    646,851   —   1,179   —   1,179 
Net loss and comprehensive loss   —   —    —   —   —   (39,855)   (39,855)

Balance December 31, 2020   —  $ —    38,246,601  $ 4  $ 392,965  $ (199,058)  $ 193,911
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
Operating activities:             
Net loss  $ (39,855)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:             

Depreciation and amortization   2,525   1,528   695 
Stock-based compensation   5,089   1,339   449 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   —   24   -  
Non-cash interest expense and amortization of debt discount   1,513   297   129 
Non-cash operating lease expense   1,128   —   — 
Bad debt expense   2,352   313   — 
Loss on extinguishment of debt   1,627   —   559 
Change in fair value of financial instruments   1,471   274   506 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:             

Accounts receivable   (4,094)   (1,399)   (314)
Inventories   141   (720)   (1,750)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   (2,142)   (235)   (512)
Other assets   506   (406)   (343)
Accounts payable   187   163   2,540 
Accrued expenses   4,467   3,738   2,799 
Other current liabilities   731   27   1,520 
Deferred revenue   (364)   514   161 
Operating lease liabilities   (1,196)   —   — 
Other liabilities   (127)   (79)   205 

Net cash used in operating activities   (26,041)   (39,108)   (27,149)
Investing activities:             

Purchases of property and equipment   (1,624)   (2,167)   (1,718)
Capitalized software development costs   (3,455)   (1,692)   (829)

Net cash used in investing activities   (5,079)   (3,859)   (2,547)
Financing activities:             

Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public offering,
   net of underwriting discounts and commissions   151,156   —   — 
Payments of other offering costs related to the initial public offering   (2,614)   (758)   — 
Proceeds from convertible preferred stock issuance, net of issuance costs   67,867   865   72,407 
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net of issuance costs   10,053   —   — 
Proceeds from debt financing   15,000   5,000   7,000 
Debt repayments   (12,720)   —   (7,689)
Proceeds from PPP loan   4,574   —   — 
Repayment of PPP loan   (4,574)   —   — 
Proceeds from stock options exercised   1,179   43   10 

Net cash provided by financing activities   229,921   5,150   71,728 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash   198,801   (37,817)   42,032 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   13,384   51,201   9,169 
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 212,185  $ 13,384  $ 51,201 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:             

Cash paid for taxes  $ 63  $ —  $ — 
Cash paid for interest  $ 398  $ 395  $ 563 

Non-cash operating activities:             
Lease liability obtained in exchange for right-of-use asset  $ 2,392  $ —  $ — 

Non-cash investing and financing activities:             
Common stock issued on conversion of convertible preferred stock upon
   initial public offering  $ 223,125  $ —  $ — 
Conversion of convertible preferred stock warrants to common stock warrants
   and related reclassification of convertible preferred stock warrant liability to
   additional paid in capital  $ 1,931  $ —  $ — 
Property and equipment and capitalized software costs in accounts payable
   and accrued liabilities  $ 393  $ 515  $ 371 
Stock-based compensation included in capitalized software costs  $ 203  $ —  $ — 
Offering costs in accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 40  $ 424  $ — 
Convertible preferred stock issuance costs included in accounts payable  $ 600  $ —  $ — 
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred stock upon extinguishment of
   convertible notes  $ 12,818  $ —  $ — 
Settlement of Series C convertible preferred stock tranche liability on second
   tranche closing of Series C convertible preferred stock  $ —  $ —  $ 479

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1. Description of business

Eargo, Inc. (the “Company”) is a medical device company dedicated to improving the quality of life of people with hearing loss. The Eargo
solution was developed to create a hearing aid that consumers actually want to use. The Company’s innovative product and go-to-market approach address
the major challenges of traditional hearing aid adoption, including social stigma, accessibility and cost.

Initial public offering

On October 20, 2020, the Company closed its initial public offering (“IPO”) of its common stock in which the Company issued and sold 7,851,852
shares of its common stock, and concurrently sold an additional 1,177,777 shares upon the full exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional
shares. The Company sold these shares at $18.00 per share, raising approximately $148.5 million in proceeds, net of underwriting discounts and
commissions of $11.4 million and offering costs of $2.6 million.

Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, all outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock were converted into 28,196,388 shares of common
stock. Further, all outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into warrants to purchase 137,812 shares of common stock. Following
the IPO, there were no shares of convertible preferred stock or preferred stock outstanding.

Reverse stock split

In October 2020, the Company’s board of directors approved an amended and restated certificate of incorporation to effect a reverse split
of shares of the Company’s common stock and convertible preferred stock on a 3-for-1 basis (the “Reverse Stock Split”), which was filed and effective on
October 8, 2020. The number of authorized shares and the par values of the common stock and convertible preferred stock were not adjusted as a result of
the Reverse Stock Split. All references to common stock, options to purchase common stock, convertible preferred stock, warrants to purchase convertible
preferred stock, share data, per share data and related information contained in the consolidated financial statements have been retrospectively adjusted to
reflect the effect of the Reverse Stock Split for all periods presented.

Liquidity

The Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations since its inception and management expects to incur additional
substantial losses in the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $212.2 million and an accumulated
deficit of $199.1 million.

The Company believes that its existing cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2020 will be sufficient for the Company to continue as a
going concern for at least one year from the date these consolidated financial statements are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”).
The Company’s future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including its growth rate, the timing and extent of its spending to support research
and development activities and the timing and cost of establishing additional sales and marketing capabilities.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Basis of presentation and principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Eargo, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated.
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Use of estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates, assumptions, and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Significant estimates and assumptions made in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements include, but are not limited to, allowance for sales returns, the fair value of lease liabilities, the fair value
of equity securities, the fair value of financial instruments, the allowance for doubtful accounts, the net realizable value of inventory, the useful lives of
long-lived assets, accrued product warranty reserve, certain other accruals and recoverability of the Company’s net deferred tax assets and the related
valuation allowance. Management periodically evaluates its estimates, which are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less from the purchase date. Cash
equivalents consist primarily of amounts invested in money market accounts and are stated at fair value.

As of December 31, 2018, the Company had $0.2 million in an outstanding letter of credit related to its operating lease. The letter of credit was
collateralized by a restricted cash deposit account consisting of short-term money market funds. The Company does not have any amounts classified as
restricted cash as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum
to the total of the same amounts shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows:
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2020   2019   2018  
 (in thousands)  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 212,185  $ 13,384  $ 51,051 
Restricted cash  —   —   150 

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash $ 212,185  $ 13,384  $ 51,201
 

Concentration of credit risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist of demand deposit accounts, money market
accounts and accounts receivable, including credit card receivables. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents, which may, at times, exceed
federally insured limits, with financial institutions of high credit standing. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has not experienced any losses on its
deposit accounts and money market accounts. As of December 31, 2020, the Company does not believe there is significant financial risk from
nonperformance by the issuers of the Company’s deposit accounts and money market accounts. Approximately 45% and 39% of the Company’s gross
accounts receivable are related to reimbursement from an insurance company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability, or an exit price, in the principal or most
advantageous market for that asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.
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The Company measures fair value based on a three-level hierarchy of inputs, of which the first two are considered observable and the last
unobservable. Unobservable inputs reflect the Company’s own assumptions about current market conditions. The Company maximizes the use of
observable inputs, where available, and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The three-level hierarchy of inputs is as
follows:

Level 1—Observable inputs such as unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date;

Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not
active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities;
and

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

To the extent that the valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized in
Level 3. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value
measurement.

The carrying amounts reflected in the consolidated balance sheets for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature. The fair value of the Company’s outstanding term loan is estimated using the net
present value of the payments, discounted at an interest rate that is consistent with a market interest rate, which is a Level 2 input. The fair value of the
outstanding term loan approximates the carrying amount as the term loan bears a floating rate that approximates the market interest rate. Refer to Note 3 for
discussion of certain other financial instruments.

Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable represents amounts due from third-party institutions for credit card and debit card transactions and trade accounts receivable.
Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts, net of allowances for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on the
Company’s assessment of the collectibility of accounts. Management regularly reviews the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts by considering
the age of each outstanding invoice, each customer’s expected ability to pay, and the collection history with each customer, when applicable, to determine
whether a specific allowance is appropriate. The allowance for doubtful accounts charges are recorded as a component of general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost on a first-in, first-out basis) and net realizable value. Inventory
consists of purchased components for producing hearing aid products and accessories and finished goods. Provisions for slow-moving, excess or obsolete
inventories are recorded when required to reduce inventory values to their estimated net realizable values based on product life cycle, development plans or
quality issues.

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization on property and
equipment is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally three to five years. Leasehold improvements
are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset. When assets are retired or otherwise
disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the consolidated balance sheets and any resulting gain or
loss is reflected in operations in the period realized. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.
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Capitalized software development costs

The Company capitalizes software purchased for internal use and qualified costs incurred in connection with the development of internal use
software. Purchased software consists of software products and licenses, which are amortized over the lesser of their estimated useful life or the contractual
term. Internally developed software costs incurred in the preliminary stages of development are expensed as incurred. Once an application has reached the
development stage, internal and external direct costs of the development are capitalized until the software is substantially complete and ready for its
intended use. The Company also capitalizes costs related to specific upgrades and enhancements when it is probable that the expenditure will result in
additional functionality. Internal use software is amortized on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life, generally three years. Post-implementation
activities including training and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs less accumulated amortization are recorded as a component of
property and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the
assets or group of assets may not be fully recoverable. Recoverability is measured by comparing the carrying amount to the future net undiscounted cash
flows which the assets are expected to generate. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount
by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the projected discounted future net cash flows arising from the asset. The Company has not identified
any such impairment losses to date.

Leases

The Company adopted Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 842, “Leases” (“ASC 842”) on January 1, 2020, as discussed below in
the section titled “Recently adopted accounting pronouncements”. Under ASC 842, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception.
Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and the current and noncurrent portions of the operating lease liability are
included as operating lease liabilities in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s obligation to
make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized based on the present value of lease payments over
the lease term at the commencement date of the lease. ROU assets also include any initial direct costs incurred and any lease payments made at or before
the lease commencement date, less any lease incentive received. As the Company’s leases do not provide an implicit interest rate, the Company uses its
incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at the commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The
Company’s lease terms may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise that option. Lease
expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company elected to exclude from its consolidated balance sheet recognition of leases having a term of 12 months or less (short-term leases)
and elected to not separate lease components and non-lease components for its real estate leases. The Company’s non-lease components are primarily
related to property maintenance, which varies based on future outcomes, and is recognized in rent expense when incurred.

Product warranty

The Company provides a one-year or two-year limited warranty on its hearing aid products and accrues for the estimated future costs of repair or
replacement upon shipment of the original product. The warranty expense is accrued as a liability and recorded to cost of revenue and is based upon current
and historical information for the cost to repair or replace the product.
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Convertible preferred stock warrant liability

The Company accounts for its convertible preferred stock warrants issued in connection with its various financing transactions based upon the
characteristics and provisions of the instrument. Convertible preferred stock warrants classified as liabilities are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets
at their fair value on the date of issuance and remeasured to fair value at each reporting period, with the changes in fair value recognized as other income
(expense), net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company adjusted the liability for changes in the fair value of
these warrants until the earlier of the exercise of the warrants, the expiration of the warrants, or until such time as the warrants were no longer considered
liability instruments. Upon the closing of the IPO in October 2020, the convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into warrants to purchase
common stock and the warrant liabilities were reclassified to additional paid in capital.

Derivative liability

The Company’s convertible notes issued in 2020 (the “2020 Notes”) contain certain features that meet the definition of embedded derivatives
requiring bifurcation from the 2020 Notes as a separate compound financial instrument. The derivative liability is initially measured at fair value on
issuance and is subject to remeasurement at each reporting period with changes in fair value recognized in other income (expense), net in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive loss. In July 2020, the derivative liability was settled upon the extinguishment of the 2020 Notes. Refer to
Note 3 and Note 6 for further discussion.

Revenue recognition

The Company’s revenue is generated from the sale of products (hearing aid systems and related accessories) and services (extended warranties).
These products and services are primarily sold directly to customers through Eargo website and the Company sales representatives.

Under ASC 606, revenue is recognized when promised goods or services are transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services by following a five step process: (i) identify the contract(s) with a
customer; (ii) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract; and (v) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Identify the contract with a customer. The Company generally considers completion of an Eargo sales order (which requires customer acceptance
of the Company’s click-through terms and conditions for website sales and authorization of payment through credit card or another form of payment for
sales made over the phone) as a customer contract provided that collection is considered probable. For payments that are not made upfront by credit card,
the Company assesses customer creditworthiness based on credit checks, payment history, and/or other circumstances. For payments involving insurance
payors, the Company validates customer eligibility and reimbursement amounts prior to shipping the product.

Identify the performance obligations in the contract. Product performance obligations include hearing aid systems and related accessories and
service performance obligations include extended warranty coverage. The Company also offers customers a one-time replacement of certain components of
the hearing aid system for a fee (i.e., “loss and damage policy”), which represents an option with material right.

However, as the historical redemption rate under the policy has been low, the option is not accounted for as a separate performance obligation. The
Company does not assess whether promised goods or services are performance obligations if they are immaterial in the context of the contract with the
customer.

The Company has elected to treat shipping and handling activities performed after a customer obtains control of products as a fulfillment activity.

Determine the transaction price and allocation to performance obligations. The transaction price in the Company’s customer contracts consists of
both fixed and variable consideration. Fixed consideration includes
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amounts to be contractually billed to the customer while variable consideration includes the 45-day right of return that applies to all products. To estimate
product returns, the Company analyzes historical return levels, current economic trends, and changes in customer demand. Based on this information, the
Company reserves a percentage of product sale revenue and accounts for the estimated impact as a reduction in the transaction price.

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract. For contracts that contain multiple performance obligations, the
Company allocates the transaction price to the performance obligations on a relative standalone selling price basis. Standalone selling prices are based on
multiple factors including, but not limited to historical discounting trends for products and services, gross margin objectives, internal costs, competitor
pricing strategies, and industry technology lifecycles.

Recognize revenue when or as the Company satisfies a performance obligation. Revenue for products (hearing aid systems and related accessories)
is recognized at a point in time, which is generally upon shipment. Revenue for services (extended warranty) is recognized over time on a ratable basis over
the warranty period.

Contract costs

The Company applies the practical expedient to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as expense when incurred if the
amortization period would be one year or less. These incremental costs include processing fees paid to third-party financing vendors, who provide the
Company’s customers with the option to finance their purchase. If a customer elects to utilize this service, the Company receives a non-recourse upfront
payment for the product sold, less processing fee withheld by the financing vendor. These processing fees are recognized in cost of revenue in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss as incurred.

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue consists of expenses relating to the cost of finished goods, freight, personnel costs, consumables, warranty costs, transaction fees
including processing fees paid to third-party financing vendors, allocated facility overhead costs, depreciation and amortization.

Research and development

Research and development expenses consist of personnel costs, travel expenses, tools, prototype materials and product certification and are charged
to expense as incurred.

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costs, travel expenses, consulting fees, public relations costs, direct marketing, advertising and
promotional expenses and allocated facility overhead costs. The Company recorded advertising costs, which are expensed as incurred, of $23.6 million,
$18.6 million and $12.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Stock-based compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based payment awards at fair value. The fair value of stock options and purchase rights granted under the
employee stock purchase plan are measured using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. For stock-based awards that vest subject to the satisfaction of a
service requirement, the fair value measurement date is the date of grant and the expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service
period. For stock-based awards with performance-based vesting conditions, the expense is recognized over the vesting period using the accelerated
attribution method. The Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur.

Prior to the Company’s IPO in October 2020, the Company had not recognized any stock-based compensation associated with grants that vest upon
satisfaction of both a service condition and a performance condition that is satisfied upon the closing of the IPO as the performance condition was not
considered probable. Upon the closing of the IPO, the Company recorded stock-based compensation using the accelerated attribution method for the
service period rendered from the date of grant through the closing of the IPO as the performance condition was achieved.
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Income taxes

The Company uses the asset and liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined
based on the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates applied to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. A valuation allowance is established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Financial statement effects
of uncertain tax positions are recognized when it is more-likely-than-not that the position will be sustained upon examination. Interest and penalties related
to unrecognized tax benefits are included within the provision for income tax.

Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The
Company’s CODM is its Chief Executive Officer. To date, the Company has viewed its operations and manages its business as one operating and reportable
segment, with all operations in the United States.

Employee benefit plan

The Company sponsors a qualified 401(k) defined contribution plan covering eligible employees. Participants may contribute a portion of their
annual compensation limited to a maximum annual amount set by the Internal Revenue Service. There have been no employer contributions under this plan
to date.

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

The Company follows the two-class method when computing net loss per share as the Company has issued shares that meet the definition of
participating securities. The two-class method determines net loss per share for each class of common and participating securities according to dividends
declared or accumulated and participation rights in undistributed earnings. The two-class method requires income available to common stockholders for the
period to be allocated between common and participating securities based upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period
had been distributed.

Basic net loss per share attributable to common stockholders is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the
weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, without consideration for potential dilutive securities. Diluted net loss
attributable to common stockholders is computed by adjusting net loss attributable to common stockholders to reallocate undistributed earnings based on
the potential impact of dilutive securities. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted-average number of common
shares and common share equivalents of potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period. For purposes of the diluted net loss per share calculation,
convertible preferred stock, convertible notes, convertible preferred stock warrants and common stock options are considered to be potentially dilutive
securities.

Emerging growth company status

The Company is an emerging growth company, as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”). Under the JOBS
Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised accounting standards issued subsequent to the enactment of the JOBS Act until such
time as those standards apply to private companies. The Company has elected to use this extended transition period for complying with new or revised
accounting standards that have different effective dates for public and private companies until the earlier of the date that it (i) is no longer an emerging
growth company or (ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the extended transition period provided in the JOBS Act. As a result, these consolidated
financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with the new or revised accounting pronouncements as of public company effective
dates.
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Recently adopted accounting pronouncements

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which amended existing guidance to
require substantially all leases to be recognized by lessees on their balance sheet as a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and corresponding lease liability,
including leases previously accounted for as operating leases. The Company early adopted this standard in the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. Upon
adoption of Topic 842, on January 1, 2020, the Company recorded operating ROU assets of $2.2 million, operating lease liabilities of $2.4 million and
derecognized the deferred rent liability of $0.2 million. Results for the year ended December 31, 2020 are presented under Topic 842. Prior period amounts
have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the Company’s historical accounting under previous lease guidance, ASC 840:
Leases (Topic 840). The Company elected the practical expedients to not reassess whether any expired or existing contracts are or contain leases, carry
forward its historical lease classification and determination of whether initial direct costs qualify for capitalization.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure
Requirements for Fair Value Measurement, which amends the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing, modifying and adding
certain disclosures. The Company adopted this standard in the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not materially
impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Recent accounting pronouncements not yet adopted

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments, which replaces the existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected credit loss model and requires a financial asset measured at
amortized cost to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected. This new standard is effective for the Company in the fiscal year beginning
January 1, 2023 and must be adopted using a modified retrospective approach, with certain exceptions. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of
this standard on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which is intended
to simplify the accounting for income taxes. This standard removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends
existing standards to improve consistent application. This new standard is effective for the Company in the fiscal year beginning January 1, 2022. An entity
that elects early adoption must adopt all the amendments in the same period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this standard on its
consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Fair value measurements

The following table summarizes the Company’s financial assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis by level within
the fair value hierarchy:
 

  December 31, 2019  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  
  (in thousands)  

Liabilities:                 
Convertible preferred stock warrant liability  $ —  $ —  $ 396  $ 396

 

 
There were no financial assets and liabilities outstanding that were remeasured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2020.

Convertible preferred stock warrant liability

The Company estimates the fair value of its convertible preferred stock warrant liability using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model,
assumptions that are based on the individual characteristics of the warrants on the valuation date, and assumptions related to the fair value of the underlying
stock, expected volatility, expected life,
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dividends, and risk-free interest rate. Due to the nature of these inputs, the warrants are considered a Level 3 liability.

Upon the closing of the IPO in October 2020, the convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into warrants to purchase common stock and
the warrant liabilities were reclassified to additional paid in capital.

The following table provides a summary of the change in the estimated fair value of the Company’s convertible preferred stock warrant liability:
 

  Total  
  (in thousands)  

Balance — December 31, 2018  $ 81 
Fair value of convertible preferred stock warrants
   issued in connection with debt financing   41 
Change in fair value of warrant liability   274 

Balance — December 31, 2019   396 
Fair value of convertible preferred stock warrants
   issued in connection with debt financing   270 
Change in fair value of warrant liability   1,265 
Conversion of preferred stock warrants to common
   stock warrants upon the closing of the IPO   (1,931)

Balance — December 31, 2020  $ —
 

 
The fair value of the convertible preferred stock warrants, which were converted to common stock warrants upon the closing of the IPO in October

2020, was determined using the following assumptions:
 

  December 31,
Valuation assumptions:  2020  2019
Expected volatility  67%—71%  43%—67%
Expected term  2.17—9.9 years  1.0—8.6 years
Risk-free interest rate  0.15%—0.75%  1.59%—1.88%
Dividend yield  —  —

 

Derivative liability

The 2020 Notes contain embedded derivatives requiring bifurcation as a single compound derivative instrument. The Company estimated the fair
value of the derivative liability on issuance using a “with-and-without” method. The “with-and-without” methodology involves valuing the whole
instrument on an as-is basis and then valuing the instrument without the individual embedded derivative. The difference between the entire instrument with
the embedded derivative compared to the instrument without the embedded derivative was the fair value of the derivative liability on issuance. The
estimated probability and timing of underlying events triggering the redemption features, conversion feature or put option contained within the 2020 Notes
are inputs used to determine the estimated fair value of the entire instrument with the embedded derivative.

The following table provides a summary of the change in the estimated fair value of the Company’s derivative liability:
 

  Total  
  (in thousands)  

Balance — December 31, 2019  $ — 
Initial fair value of derivative liability   2,879 
Change in fair value of derivative liability   206 
Extinguishment of derivative liability   (3,085)

Balance — December 31, 2020  $ —
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In July 2020, the embedded derivative liability was settled upon the extinguishment of the 2020 Notes. Refer to Note 6 for further discussion.

Note 4. Balance sheet components

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of raw materials related to component parts and finished goods. The following is a summary of the Company’s
inventories by category:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (in thousands)  

Raw materials  $ 853  $ 1,115 
Finished goods   1,886   1,765 

Total inventories  $ 2,739  $ 2,880
 

 

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (in thousands)  
Tools and lab equipment  $ 4,426  $ 2,885 
Capitalized software   6,744   3,148 
Furniture and fixtures   906   906 
Leasehold improvements   757   757 
Computer and equipment   288   423 
   13,121   8,119 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (5,087)   (2,719)

Total property and equipment, net  $ 8,034  $ 5,400
 

 
Depreciation and amortization for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 amounted to $2.5 million and $1.5 million, respectively, which

includes amortization of capitalized software costs of $0.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively.

Accrued expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (in thousands)  
Allowance for sales returns  $ 4,326  $ 3,759 
Accrued compensation   5,861   2,739 
Accrued vendor costs   751   2,776 
Refunds due to customers   581   215 
Accrued warranty reserve   2,390   450 

Total accrued expenses  $ 13,909  $ 9,939
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Allowance for doubtful accounts

The allowance for doubtful accounts consists of the following activity:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
  (in thousands)  
Allowance for doubtful accounts, beginning balance  $ 225  $ —  $ — 

Charged to expense   2,352   225   — 
Accounts written off, net of recoveries   (709)   —   — 

Allowance for doubtful accounts, ending balance  $ 1,868  $ 225  $ —
 

Allowance for sales returns

The allowance for sales returns consists of the following activity:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
  (in thousands)  
Allowance for sales returns, beginning balance  $ 3,759  $ 2,713  $ 1,198 

Charged to revenue   22,676   17,739   17,848 
Utilization of allowance for sales returns   (22,109)   (16,693)   (16,333)

Allowance for sales returns, ending balance  $ 4,326  $ 3,759  $ 2,713
 

Accrued warranty reserve

The accrued warranty reserve consists of the following activity:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
  (in thousands)  
Accrued warranty reserve, beginning balance  $ 450  $ 53  $ 39 

Charged to cost of revenue   3,178   1,589   57 
Utilization of accrued warranty reserve   (1,238)   (1,192)   (43)

Accrued warranty reserve, ending balance  $ 2,390  $ 450  $ 53
 

 

Note 5. Commitments and contingencies

Operating leases

The Company has entered into non-cancelable operating leases for its offices. These leases generally contain scheduled rent increases and renewal
options, which are not included in the determination of lease term unless the Company is reasonably certain that the renewal option would be exercised.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company recorded an aggregate ROU asset of $1.1 million and an aggregate lease liability of $1.2 million in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet. The ROU asset and corresponding lease liability were estimated using a weighted-average incremental
borrowing rate of 7.1 %. The weighted-average remaining lease term is 1.1 years.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company incurred $1.3 million of operating lease costs. Variable lease payments for operating
expenses and costs related to short-term leases were immaterial for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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As of December 31, 2020, undiscounted future minimum lease payments due under the non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:
 

 
 

Operating
leases  

  (in thousands)  
2021  $ 1,074 
2022   167 

Total minimum future lease payments   1,241 
Present value adjustment for minimum lease
   commitments   (45)

Total lease liability  $ 1,196
 

 

Litigation

The Company may become involved in legal proceedings in the ordinary course of its business. The Company does not believe that any lawsuits or
claims currently pending against it, individually or in the aggregate, are material, or will have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows. The Company is subject to review from federal and state taxing authorities in order to validate the amounts of income, sales
and/or use taxes which have been claimed and remitted. The Company has estimated exposure and established reserves for its estimated sales tax audit
liability.

In the normal course of business, the Company may agree to indemnify third parties with whom it enters into contractual relationships, including
customers, lessors, and parties to other transactions with the Company, with respect to certain matters. The Company has agreed, under certain conditions,
to hold these third parties harmless against specified losses, such as those arising from a breach of representations or covenants, other third-party claims
that the Company’s products, when used for their intended purposes, infringe the intellectual property rights of such other third parties, or other claims
made against certain parties. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount of liability under these indemnification obligations due to the
Company’s limited history of prior indemnification claims and the unique facts and circumstances that are likely to be involved in each particular claim.

Note 6. Debt obligations

2018 Loan Agreement

In June 2018, the Company entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “2018 Loan Agreement”) with Silicon Valley Bank. Under the terms
of the 2018 Loan Agreement, Silicon Valley Bank made available to the Company term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $12.5 million and the
Company borrowed $5.0 million in October 2018, $1.0 million in November 2018 and $1.0 million in December 2018. The term loans under the 2018
Loan Agreement mature in June 2022, with interest-only monthly payments for a specified period of time. Interest on the term loans accrued at a per
annum rate equal to the Wall Street Journal prime rate minus 1.0% with a floor of 0.0%.

In connection with the execution of the 2018 Loan Agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 30,173 shares of Series C convertible
preferred stock. The estimated fair value of the warrants at issuance was recorded as a discount on the loan and is amortized to interest expense over the
term of the agreement using the effective interest method.

Amendments to the 2018 Loan Agreement

In January 2019, the Company executed the First Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement, which extended the interest-only period for all
borrowings under the agreement until January 2020. No other terms were amended. In June 2019, the Company borrowed an additional $5.0 million to
increase the total principal balance to $12.0 million. In connection with the June 2019 borrowing, the Company issued Silicon Valley Bank warrants to
purchase 14,999 shares of Series C convertible preferred stock.
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In May 2020, the Company executed the Second Amendment to its Loan and Security Agreement, which deferred the principal payments due
between May 2020 and July 2020 such that the deferred amounts will be repaid in equal monthly payments that started in August 2020 through the
scheduled maturity of the loan in June 2022. The amendment was accounted for as a modification.

In September 2020, the Company executed the Third Amendment to the Loan and Security Agreement (the “Third Amendment”), under which
Silicon Valley Bank made available to the Company additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $20.0 million through December 31, 2020.
The Company borrowed $15.0 million in September 2020 and used $10.2 million of the proceeds to repay the outstanding balance of $9.5 million and final
payment fee of $0.7 million, or 6.0% of the original aggregate principal amount, on the existing term loan. The Company’s ability to borrow any additional
principal under the Third Amendment expired unused on December 31, 2020.

The term loan under the Third Amendment matures in September 2024 with interest-only monthly payments until January 2022, which was
extended to July 2022 upon the completion of the Company’s IPO in October 2020. The term loan accrues interest at a per annum rate equal to the Wall
Street Journal prime rate plus 1.0% (4.25% as of December 31, 2020) and includes a final payment fee equal to 6.25% of the original aggregate principal
amount. In connection with the execution of the Third Amendment, the Company issued Silicon Valley Bank a warrant to purchase 53,487 shares of Series
E convertible preferred stock. The amendment was accounted for as a modification.

Borrowings under the Third Amendment are collateralized by substantially all the assets of the Company, excluding intellectual property (but
including rights to payment and proceeds thereof). The Third Amendment contains customary affirmative and restrictive covenants, including with respect
to the Company’s ability to enter into fundamental transactions, incur additional indebtedness, grant liens, pay any dividend or make any distributions to its
holders, make investments, merge or consolidate with any other person or engage in transactions with the Company’s affiliates, but do not include any
financial covenants. The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31, 2020.

During the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Company recognized interest expense related to the term loans of $1.0 million,
$0.7 million and $0.1 million, respectively, which is inclusive of amortization of debt discount. The effective interest rate was 7.12% as of December 31,
2020.

The balance of the term loans is as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019  
  (in thousands)  

Principal value of long-term debt  $ 15,000  $ 12,000 
Net of debt discount and accretion of final payment   (163)   246 
Long-term debt, current and noncurrent   14,837   12,246 
Less: Long-term debt, current portion   —   (4,800)
Long-term debt, noncurrent portion  $ 14,837  $ 7,446
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Future minimum payments of principal and estimated payments of interest on the Company’s outstanding variable rate borrowings as of December
31, 2020 are as follows:

 
  Total  
  (in thousands)  
2021  $ 646 
2022   3,950 
2023   7,038 
2024   6,028 

Total future payments   17,662 
Less amounts representing interest   (1,724)
Less final payment   (938)

Total principal amount of term loan payments  $ 15,000
 

Paycheck Protection Program loan

On May 3, 2020, the Company executed a promissory note with MidFirst Bank, which provided for an unsecured loan in an aggregate principal
amount of $4.6 million (the “PPP Loan”) pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act
signed into law on March 27, 2020.

The PPP Loan provided for a fixed interest rate of 1.0% per year with a maturity date of May 3, 2022. Monthly principal and interest payments due
on the PPP Loan were deferred for a six-month period beginning from the date of disbursement of the PPP Loan. The PPP Loan allowed for prepayment by
the Company at any time prior to maturity with no prepayment penalty. The Note contained customary event of default provisions. 

In August 2020, the Company repaid the PPP Loan in full in the amount of $4.6 million and terminated the related promissory note. During the
year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized interest expense related to the PPP Loan of less than $0.1 million.

2020 Convertible Promissory Notes

The Company issued an aggregate of $8.9 million in convertible promissory notes in March 2020 (the “2020 Notes”) and an additional aggregate
of $1.2 million in April 2020 in a subsequent closing. The 2020 Notes accrued interest at a rate of 6.0% per annum and mature in March 2021. Upon
maturity, the majority note holders have the option of having outstanding principal and unpaid accrued interest paid in cash or converted into Series D
convertible preferred stock.

In the event of a qualified sale of preferred stock or other equity securities resulting in aggregate gross proceeds to the Company of at least
$15.0 million, all principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the 2020 Notes would automatically convert into the preferred stock issued in such a
financing at a price per share equal to 80% of the lowest price per share of the preferred stock sold in the financing (redemption feature). In the event of an
IPO, all principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the 2020 Notes would automatically convert into common stock at a price per share equal to 90%
of the public offering price (redemption feature).

The 2020 Notes also contained an option whereby in the event of a change of control event, at the option of the holders holding a majority in
outstanding principal amount of the 2020 Notes, all principal and accrued and unpaid interest under the 2020 Notes would be convertible into the
Company’s Series D convertible preferred stock at its original issue price (conversion feature) or, alternatively, such holders may elect to require the
Company to pay to all 2020 Note holders an amount equal to the principal amount then outstanding and any accrued but unpaid interest plus an amount
equal to 100% of the outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid interest (put option).

The above mentioned redemption features, conversion feature and the put option contained in the 2020 Notes were determined to be embedded
derivatives requiring bifurcation and separately accounted for as a single compound derivative instrument.
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Upon the issuances of the 2020 Notes, the Company recorded the fair value of the derivative liability of $2.9 million as a debt discount on the 2020
Notes and as a single compound derivative instrument. The debt discount was being amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over
the term of the 2020 Notes. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized interest expense related to the 2020 Notes of $0.9 million,
which is inclusive of amortization of debt discount.

In July 2020, the 2020 Notes were redeemed whereby the outstanding principal balance of $10.1 million and accrued interest of $0.2 million was
converted into 1,889,548 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock at a conversion price of $5.427 per share, a price equal to 80% of the $6.7836 per
share paid by the investors in the Series E preferred stock financing. The redemption of the 2020 Notes was accounted for as a debt extinguishment, which
resulted in a loss of $1.6 million that was recognized in other income (expense) in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The
loss on extinguishment was calculated as the difference between (i) the fair value of the shares of Series E convertible preferred stock issued to settle the
2020 Notes and (ii) the carrying value of the 2020 Notes, net of the unamortized debt discount, plus the fair value of the derivative liability associated with
the 2020 Notes at the time of extinguishment.

Note 7. Convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity (deficit)

In connection with the IPO, the Company filed an amended and restated certificate of incorporation effective immediately prior to the closing of
the IPO that authorized the issuance of up to 300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 5,000,000 shares of undesignated
preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share.

Convertible preferred stock

Convertible preferred stock as of December 31, 2019 consisted of the following:
 

  December 31, 2019  
 

 
Shares

authorized   

Shares
issued and

outstanding   

Net
carrying

value   

Aggregate
liquidation
preference  

  (in thousands, except share amounts)  
Series A convertible preferred stock   1,283,000   423,713  $ 16,130  $ 16,271 
Series B convertible preferred stock   83,000   27,652   2,229   2,473 
Series B-1 convertible preferred stock   2,540,000   838,892   22,871   23,003 
Series C convertible preferred stock   11,284,680   3,725,354   33,418   33,603 
Series C-1 convertible preferred stock   8,740,486   2,913,490   26,280   21,024 
Series D convertible preferred stock   12,338,000   3,896,711   51,952   52,115 

Total convertible preferred stock   36,269,166   11,825,812  $ 152,880  $ 148,489
 

In July and August 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 10,513,921 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock at a purchase price of
$6.7836 per share in exchange for net proceeds of approximately $67.3 million.

Contemporaneous with the initial closing of the Series E convertible preferred stock financing, the 2020 Notes (see Note 6) were redeemed
whereby all of the outstanding principal and accrued interest amounting to $10.3 million was converted into 1,889,548 shares of Series E convertible
preferred stock.

In connection with the Series E convertible preferred stock financing, the Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation to effect
anti-dilution adjustments to prior series of convertible preferred stock that were issued, which changed the conversion prices for each share of convertible
preferred stock from $27.87, $60.60, $9.0201, $9.0201, $7.2162 and $13.374 for the Series A convertible preferred stock, Series B convertible preferred
stock, Series B-1 convertible preferred stock, Series C convertible preferred stock, Series C-1 convertible preferred stock and Series D convertible
preferred stock, respectively, to $19.599, $39.6303, $8.0625, $8.0625, $6.9585, $10.7271, respectively.
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The amended and restated certificate of incorporation filed in connection with the Series E convertible preferred stock financing also amended the
liquidation right held by holders of Series C and Series C-1 convertible preferred stock under which such holders were entitled to an aggregate liquidation
amount per share from up to two times the original issue price to one times the original issuance price for the related series upon the event of a liquidation,
dissolution, or winding up of the Company. This amendment of the liquidation right was determined to be significant using the qualitative approach. As
such, the Company accounted for the amendment as an extinguishment of the outstanding Series C and Series C-1 convertible preferred stock and recorded
a gain on extinguishment of $9.8 million on the date of the filing of the charter. The gain on the extinguishment of Series C and Series C-1 convertible
preferred stock was calculated by taking the difference between the net carrying value of $59.7 million of Series C and Series C-1 convertible preferred
stock immediately prior to the amendment of the liquidation right and the fair value of $49.9 million of the new of Series C and Series C-1 convertible
preferred stock that for accounting purposes was deemed to be issued in connection with the amended and restated certificate of incorporation filed in
connection with the Series E convertible preferred stock financing. The gain on extinguishment was recorded as a deemed contribution in equity and was
recorded as a decrease to the net loss attributable to common stockholders for the year ended December 31, 2020 and as an increase to additional paid in
capital.

In October 2020, immediately prior to the completion of the IPO (see Note 1), all of the then-outstanding shares of convertible preferred stock
automatically converted into 28,196,388 shares of common stock at the applicable conversion ratio then in effect.

Preferred stock warrants

Immediately prior to the closing of the IPO, all of the then-outstanding convertible preferred stock warrants were converted into warrants to
purchase 137,812 shares of common stock and the convertible preferred stock warrant liability was reclassified to additional paid in capital. Subsequent to
the IPO, all of these common stock warrants were net exercised into 107,790 shares of common stock. There are no convertible preferred stock warrants or
common stock warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2020.

Note 8. Stock-based compensation

Total stock-based compensation is as follows:
 

 Year Ended December 31,  
 2020   2019   2018  
 (in thousands)  
Cost of revenue $ 60  $ 16  $ 2 
Research and development  822   232   29 
Sales and marketing  1,629   188   25 
General and administrative  2,578   903   393 

Total stock-based compensation $ 5,089  $ 1,339  $ 449
 

 
Stock-based compensation costs capitalized as part of capitalized software costs was $0.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2020. No

such costs were capitalized during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

Stock-based compensation includes the impact of the Company repricing its stock options in August 2020 by canceling 1,574,243 option grants
with a per share exercise price higher than $2.55 in exchange for 1,574,243 new option grants at an exercise price of $2.55 per share. Except for the change
in exercise price, the new options had the same terms and conditions as the original options, including the contractual term, vesting schedule and the
vesting start date. The total amount of stock-based compensation associated with the repricing is $1.2 million. During the year ended December 31, 2020,
the Company recognized $0.5 million of stock-based compensation associated with the repricing, of which $0.3 million relates to options that were already
vested on the date of modification. As of December 31, 2020, the Company has unrecognized stock-based compensation related to the repricing of $0.7
million to be expensed over the remaining vesting term of the new options.
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Determination of fair value

The estimated grant-date fair value of the Company’s stock-based awards was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on
the following assumptions:
 

  Year ended December 31,
Valuation assumptions:  2020  2019  2018
Expected volatility  60%-71%  58%-60%  23%-27%
Expected term  5.1-7.0 years  5.0-10.0 years  5.5-10.0 years
Risk-free interest rate  0.23%-1.20%  1.46%-2.51%  2.46%-3.19%
Dividend yield  —  —  —

The fair value of each stock option grant was determined by the Company using the methods and assumptions discussed below. Each of these
inputs is subjective and generally requires significant judgment and estimation by management.

Expected term—The expected term represents the period that stock-based awards are expected to be outstanding. The Company’s historical share
option exercise information is limited due to a lack of sufficient data points and does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate an expected
term for employee options. The expected term for employee option grants is therefore determined using the simplified method, which is the midpoint
between the vesting period and the contractual life. The expected term for nonemployee options is the contractual term.

Expected volatility—The expected volatility was derived from the historical stock volatilities of comparable peer public companies within the
Company’s industry that are considered to be comparable to the Company’s business over a period equivalent to the expected term of the stock-based
awards as there has been no trading history of the Company’s common stock prior to its IPO and limited trading history subsequent to its IPO.

Risk-free interest rate—The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the date of grant for zero-coupon U.S.
Treasury notes with maturities approximately equal to the stock-based awards’ expected term.

Expected dividend yield—The expected dividend yield is zero as the Company has not paid nor does it anticipate paying any dividends on its
common stock in the foreseeable future.

Fair value of common stock— For grants prior to the Company’s IPO in October 2020, the fair value of common stock underlying share-based
awards was estimated on each grant date by the Company’s board of directors. In order to determine the fair value of the Company’s common stock
underlying option grants, the board of directors considered, among other things, valuations of common stock prepared by an unrelated third-party valuation
firm in accordance with the guidance provided by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Practice Guide, Valuation of Privately-Held-
Company Equity Securities Issued as Compensation. For all grants subsequent to the IPO in October 2020, the fair value of common stock was determined
by using the closing price per share of common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.

Equity incentive plans

In November 2010, the Company adopted the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”) under which the Board had the authority to issue stock
options to employees, directors and consultants.

In October 2020, the Company’s board of directors and stockholders adopted and approved the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan, (the “2020 Plan”). The
Company’s 2010 Stock Plan was terminated in connection with the IPO and no further grants will be made under the 2010 Plan from the date that the 2020
Plan became effective.

A total of 4,687,685 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the 2020 Plan, which includes 9,940 shares that remained
available for issuance under the 2010 Plan. There are 4,593,583 shares available for issuance under the 2020 Plan as of December 31, 2020.
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Activity under the 2010 Plan and 2020 Plan is set forth below:
 

 

 
Number of

shares   

Weighted
average
exercise

price   

Weighted
average

remaining
contractual

term   
Aggregate

intrinsic value  
          (in years)   (in thousands)  
Balance December 31, 2019   3,474,052  $ 2.93   8.55  $ 16,440 

Grants   3,972,421   3.81         
Exercises   (646,851)   1.82         
Cancelled/forfeited   (330,778)   3.71         

Balance December 31, 2020   6,468,844  $ 2.78   8.77  $ 271,944 
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2020   1,609,444  $ 1.88   7.50  $ 75,312

 

 
The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 were $3.22, $2.85 and

$0.39 per share, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic values of options outstanding and vested and exercisable were calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the
options and the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $5.0
million, and was immaterial during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

As of December 31, 2020, total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to outstanding unvested stock options was $15.1 million, which the
Company expects to recognize over a remaining weighted-average period of 2.9 years.

Performance awards

In August 2020, the Company granted 1,129,270 stock options with both service-based vesting conditions and performance-based vesting
conditions based on operating results. The performance-based conditions terminated upon the closing of the IPO in October 2020 per the original terms of
the awards, with the service-based vesting conditions remaining in effect. The Company recorded $1.1 million in stock-based compensation during the year
ended December 31, 2020 related to these awards.

In September 2020, the Company granted 212,489 stock options with both service-based and performance-based vesting conditions. The grant date
fair value of the awards was $0.7 million. In October 2020, the performance-based vesting condition was satisfied upon the completion of the IPO. The
Company recorded $0.2 million in related stock-based compensation during the year ended December 31, 2020, which includes $0.1 million of stock-based
compensation upon the IPO for the service period rendered from the date of grant through the completion of the IPO.

Restricted stock units

Restricted stock units (“RSUs”) granted under the 2020 Plan are share awards that entitle the holder to receive freely tradable shares of the
Company’s common stock upon vesting. The RSUs cannot be transferred and the awards are subject to forfeiture if the holder’s service to the
Company terminates prior to the release of the vesting restrictions. The fair value of the RSUs is equal to the closing price of the Company’s common
stock on the grant date.

In December 2020, the Company granted 8,270 RSUs at a grant-date fair value of $50.70 per share. There were no RSUs granted prior to
December 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of less than $0.1 million related to the
RSUs. As of December 31, 2020, there was $0.4 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to the RSUs that is expected to be recognized over
a weighted-average period of 3.87 years.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP)

In October 2020, the Board of Directors and stockholders adopted and approved the 2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The
Company reserved 726,773 shares of common stock for future issuance under the ESPP. The ESPP provides for consecutive, overlapping 24-month
offering periods, which are generally divided into four purchase periods of approximately six months. The offering periods are scheduled to start on the
first trading day on or after May 16 and November 16 of each year, with exception of the first offering period which commenced on October 16, 2020, the
first trading day after the effective date of the Company’s registration statement, and will end on November 15, 2022. Contributions under the ESPP are
generally limited to a maximum of 15% of an employee’s eligible compensation.

Each offering period consists of four six-month purchase periods. On each purchase date, which falls on the last date of each purchase period,
ESPP participants will purchase shares of common stock at a price per share equal to 85% of the lesser of (1) the fair market value per share of the common
stock at the start of the offering period or (2) the fair market value of the common stock on the purchase date.

The Company recorded $0.8 million of stock-based compensation related to the ESPP for the year ended December 31, 2020. The fair value of the
ESPP shares is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, based on the following assumptions:

 
  Year ended December 31,
Valuation assumptions:  2020
Expected volatility  48%-62%
Expected term  0.4-1.9 years
Risk-free interest rate  0.09%-0.14%
Dividend yield  —

 

Note 9. Income taxes

The Company has not recorded an income tax provision for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 due to its history of operating
losses. All loss before income taxes was generated in the United States for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

Reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax to the Company’s effective tax is as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
  (in thousands)  

Income tax provision at statutory rate  $ (8,370)  $ (9,342)  $ (7,096)
State income taxes, net of federal benefit   (826)   (2,350)   (2,546)
Change in valuation allowance   8,720   3,064   9,789 
Stock-based compensation   (621)   190   128 
Section 382 limitation on net operating loss and
   credit carryforwards   —   9,956   — 
Research and development tax credits   (1,442)   (1,306)   (714)
Change in fair value of warrants   326   79   178 
Derivative liability and extinguishment of debt   545   —   — 
Return-to-provision adjustments   1,261   (413)   (1)
Other   407   122   262 
Total current income tax provision  $ —  $ —  $ —
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The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to significant portions of deferred tax assets are as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  

  (in thousands)  
Deferred tax assets:             

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 35,943  $ 29,684  $ 28,044 
Depreciation and amortization   -   —   131 
Research and development credits   3,910   2,468   1,345 
Accruals and reserves   2,986   1,667   927 
Stock-based compensation   589   345   203 

Total deferred tax assets   43,428   34,164   30,650 
Valuation allowance   (42,435)   (33,714)   (30,650)
Deferred tax assets after valuation allowance   993   450   — 
Deferred tax liabilities   (993)   (450)   — 
Net deferred tax assets  $ —  $ —  $ —

 

 
Due to the uncertainties surrounding the realization of deferred assets through future income, the Company has established a full valuation

allowance against its deferred tax assets and, therefore, no benefit has been recognized for the net operating loss and other deferred tax assets. The
valuation allowance increased by $8.7 million, $3.1 million and $9.8 million during the years ending December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $137.1 million, of which $32.6 million
begin to expire in the year 2030 and $104.5 million will carry over indefinitely. The Company also has state net operating loss carryovers of approximately
$83.3 million available to reduce future taxable income, if any. The state carryforwards begin to expire beginning in the year 2030.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company had research and development credits carryovers for federal income tax purposes of approximately $2.6
million which expire beginning in the year 2031. The Company also has state research and development credit carryforwards of approximately $3.0 million
as of December 31, 2020, which do not expire.

Utilization of the net operating loss and credit carryforwards will be subject to an annual limitation due to the ownership percentage change
limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and similar state provisions. The annual limitation may result in the expiration of
the net operating loss carryforwards before utilization. In the event the Company has had a change of ownership, utilization of the carryforwards could be
restricted. The Company’s net operating loss deferred tax asset was reduced from the prior year as a result of limitation on the utilization of net operating
loss carryforwards subject to the Internal Revenue Code Section 382.

Uncertain tax positions

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
 

  December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
  (in thousands)  

Beginning balance  $ 1,058  $ 576  $ 286 
Increases related to current year tax positions   618   482   290 
Ending balance  $ 1,676  $ 1,058  $ 576

 

 
If recognized, gross unrecognized tax benefits would not have an impact on the Company’s effective tax rate due to the Company’s full valuation

allowance position. While it is often difficult to predict the final outcome of any particular uncertain tax position, the Company does not believe that the
amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits will change significantly in the next twelve months.

120



Eargo, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 

The Company’s income tax returns for all tax years remain open to examination by federal and state taxing authorities due to the taxing authorities’
ability to adjust operating loss carryforwards.

The Company has elected to recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as a component of the income tax provision. No such
expenses were incurred in the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. The Company has not made any accruals for payment of interest related to
unrecognized tax benefits.

Note 10. Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders

The following outstanding potentially dilutive common stock equivalents have been excluded from the computation of diluted net loss per share for
the periods presented due to their anti-dilutive effect:
 

  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
Convertible preferred stock   —   13,710,242   13,645,589 
Common stock options issued and
   outstanding

 
 6,468,844   3,474,052   2,181,122 

Restricted stock units   8,270   —   — 
Shares issuable pursuant to ESPP   17,865   —   — 
Convertible preferred stock warrants   —   73,913   58,913 

Total   6,494,979   17,258,207   15,885,624
 

 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders:

 
  Year ended December 31,  
  2020   2019   2018  
  (in thousands, except share and per share amounts)  

Numerator:             
Net loss  $ (39,855)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)
Gain on extinguishment of Series C and Series
   C-1 convertible preferred stock

 
 9,840   —   — 

Net loss attributable to common stockholders,
   basic and diluted

 
$ (30,015)  $ (44,486)  $ (33,793)

Denominator:             
Weighted-average shares used in computing net
   loss per share attributable to common
   stockholders, basic and diluted

 

 7,890,375   256,452   225,754 
Net income loss per share attributable to common
   stockholders, basic and diluted

 
$ (3.80)  $ (173.47)  $ (149.69)

 

Note 11. Subsequent Events

In January and February 2021, the Company granted options to purchase 119,100 shares of its common stock at a weighted-average exercise price
of $57.03 per share and 119,100 RSUs at a weighted-average grant-date fair value of $57.03 per share.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

As of December 31, 2020, our management, with the participation and supervision of our principal executive officer and our principal financial
officer, evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). The term “disclosure
controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under
the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer
concluded that solely as a result of the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting described below, our disclosure controls and
procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2020 to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file
or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and our principal financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Remediation efforts on previously reported material weaknesses

In connection with the preparation of our financial statements in connection with our IPO, we identified a material weakness in our internal
control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that
there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The material
weakness related to a lack of qualified supervisory accounting resources, including those necessary to account for and disclose certain complex transactions
and for which we lacked the technical expertise to identify, analyze and appropriately record those transactions.

We have implemented and are in the process of implementing additional measures designed to improve our internal control over financial
reporting to remediate this material weakness, including the hiring of qualified supervisory resources, the engagement of technical accounting consulting
resources and plans to hire additional finance department employees.

We cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, and are continuing to implement, will be sufficient to remediate the material
weakness we have identified or avoid potential future material weaknesses.  While we believe that our efforts have improved our internal control over
financial reporting, remediation of the material weaknesses will require further validation and testing of the design and operating effectiveness of internal
controls over a sustained period of financial reporting cycles, and we cannot assure you that we have identified all, or that we will not in the future have
additional, material weaknesses.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

Other than the changes intended to remediate the material weaknesses noted above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
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during the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting

This Annual Report on Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an
attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the SEC for newly public
companies.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The following table sets forth the name, age, and position of each of our executive officers and directors. There are no family relationships among
any of our directors or executive officers.
 
Name  Age  Position(s)
     

Executive Officers     
     

Christian Gormsen  44  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
     

William Brownie  54  Chief Operating Officer
     

Adam Laponis  44  Chief Financial Officer
     

Non-Employee Directors     
     

Josh Makower, M.D.(2)(3)  57  Chairman and Director
     

Peter Tuxen Bisgaard(2)(3)  47  Director
     

Doug Hughes(1)  59  Director
     

Geoff Pardo(1)(3)  49  Director
     

Nina Richardson(2)  62  Director
     

A. Brooke Seawell(1)  73  Director
     

Juliet Tammenoms Bakker(2)(3)  59  Director
     

David Wu  52  Director
 
(1) Member of our audit committee.
(2) Member of our compensation committee.
(3) Member of our nominating and corporate governance committee.
 

Executive officers

Christian Gormsen has served as a member of our board of directors since November 2014 and as our President and Chief Executive Officer since
June 2016. From June 2014 to June 2016, Mr. Gormsen served as Commercial Director, EMEA, of ISS A/S, a global facility services company. Prior to
that, he spent a decade at GN Group, a global leader in intelligent audio solutions including hearing aids, in roles of increasing responsibility until he
became the Senior Vice President of Operations, Europe and Strategic Accounts. Mr. Gormsen started his career in investment banking before transitioning
to McKinsey & Company, a management consulting firm. Mr. Gormsen received a B.S. in economics and his M.S. in economics and business
administration from the Copenhagen Business School.

We believe that Mr. Gormsen is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to the valuable expertise and perspective he brings in his capacity
as our President and Chief Executive Officer and because of his extensive experience and knowledge of our industry.

William Brownie has served as our Chief Operating Officer since April 2019. From August 2016 through March 2019, Mr. Brownie served as our
Chief Customer Operations Officer. In addition, from January 2017 to June 2019 he served as our Chief Financial Officer. From June 2015 to August 2016,
Mr. Brownie served as an independent consultant to various companies. From January 2012 to June 2015, Mr. Brownie served as the Managing Director at
Sonova e-Hearing Care a group company of Sonova AG. Prior to that, from August 2001 to December 2011, Mr. Brownie served as Chief Financial
Officer and then President and Chief Executive Officer of
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HearingPlanet Inc., which was purchased by Sonova AG. Mr. Brownie received a B.S. in business administration from San Diego State University-
California State University.

Adam Laponis has served as our Chief Financial Officer since June 2019. From November 2018 to March 2019, Mr. Laponis served as Vice
President of Financial Planning and Analysis for Tesla, an automotive and energy company, where he previously served as Senior Director of Finance from
April 2017 to November 2018. Prior to that, he served as the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Cardiovascular Care of Cardinal Health, a
healthcare services and products company, from October 2015 to April 2017. Prior to that, he served in various financial roles at Johnson & Johnson, a
healthcare company, from August 2004 to October 2015. Mr. Laponis received a B.S. in chemical engineering from the University of California, Berkeley
and his M.B.A. from the University of Southern California.

Non-employee directors

Josh Makower, M.D. has served as the non-executive Chairman of our board of directors since December 2018 and as a member of our board of
directors since November 2015. Since May 2015, Dr. Makower has been a General Partner at New Enterprise Associates, a venture capital firm. In addition
to his role at New Enterprise Associates, Dr. Makower serves as an Adjunct Professor of Medicine at Stanford University Medical School and is Co-
Founder of Stanford University’s Biodesign Innovation Program. Dr. Makower is also the Founder and Executive Chairman of ExploraMed, a medical
device incubator. He received a B.S. in mechanical engineering from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, his M.D. from New York University School of
Medicine and his M.B.A. from Columbia University.

We believe that Dr. Makower is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to the valuable expertise and perspective he brings with his medical
and financial backgrounds and his extensive investment experience in the technology and healthcare industries.

Peter Tuxen Bisgaard has served as a member of our board of directors since October 2017. Since September 2017, Mr. Bisgaard has been
Managing Director of Nan Fung Life Sciences, a global life sciences investment platform and a Managing Partner at Pivotal Bioventure Partners LLC, a
healthcare venture capital fund. Prior to this, he was a Senior Partner at Novo Ventures, a healthcare focused venture investment firm, from 2009 to
September 2017. Prior to Novo Ventures he was with McKinsey and Co. He has previously served on the board of directors of the following publicly held
companies: Ra Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company; Nevro Corp, a commercial stage medical device company; HTG
Molecular Diagnostics, Inc., a commercial stage RNA-platform based life sciences tools company; Otonomy, Inc., a biopharmaceutical company
developing therapeutics for treating hearing disorders; and Alder Biopharmaceuticals, Inc., a late stage drug development company focusing on migraine
therapeutics. In addition, Mr. Bisgaard is serving, and has served, on numerous boards of privately held biotechnology and medical technology companies.
Mr. Bisgaard received an M.Sc. in engineering from Technical University of Denmark and a post graduate degree in mathematical modeling in economics
by the European Consortium for Mathematics in the Industry.

We believe that Mr. Bisgaard is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to the valuable expertise and perspective he brings with his
investment experience.

Doug Hughes has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2020. Since October 2019, Mr. Hughes has served as Chief
Financial Officer of Calyxo, Inc., a urology medical device company. From 2011 until April 2018, Mr. Hughes was Chief Financial Officer of NeoTract,
Inc., a urology company. He served as Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer for Nellix, Inc., an endovascular graft company from 2010 until
2011. Before joining Nellix, Inc., Mr. Hughes served as Chief Financial Officer for Evalve Inc., a cardiovascular company, from 2009 until 2010. Prior to
2009, Mr. Hughes held a variety of senior finance management positions at Boston Scientific, Guidant Corporation and The Clorox Company. Mr. Hughes
is currently a member of the board of directors of Immunovant, Inc., a publicly held biopharmaceutical company. Mr. Hughes received a B.S. in finance
from San Francisco State University and his M.B.A. from University of Chicago.
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We believe that Mr. Hughes is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his experience in successfully leading high-growth companies.

Geoff Pardo has served as a member of our board of directors since July 2020. Mr. Pardo has served as a partner at Gilde Healthcare since 2011.
Previously, he was a partner at Spray Venture Partners from 2004 to 2011. He also served as President and Chief Executive Officer of Facet Solutions, a
spinal implant company focused on treating lumbar spinal stenosis, from 2007 until the company was sold to Globus Medical in 2011. He currently serves
on the board of directors of the following publicly held companies: Inari Medical, Inc., where he serves on the audit committee, and Vapotherm, Inc., where
he serves on the audit and finance committees. He has previously served on the board of directors of Axonics Modulation Technologies, Inc, a publicly
held company. Mr. Pardo received a B.A. from Brown University and his M.B.A. from The Wharton School of Business.

We believe Mr. Pardo is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his experience leading and managing a medical technology company, as
well as his investing in healthcare companies.

Nina Richardson has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2020. Ms. Richardson is currently a Managing Director of
Three Rivers Energy, an energy services company she co-founded in 2004. From May 2016 to April 2017, she served as a consultant to the Company. From
February 2013 through February 2015, Ms. Richardson served as the Chief Operating Officer at GoPro, a publicly held technology company. Previously,
Ms. Richardson was an operations and management consultant for companies including Tesla, Solaria and TouchTunes Interactive Networks. Ms.
Richardson also held executive positions at Flextronics, including Vice President and General Manager. Ms. Richardson’s early career included positions at
Hughes Aircraft Ground Systems Group and Metcal. Ms. Richardson serves on the board of directors of the following publicly held companies: Resideo
Technologies, Inc., a global provider of comfort and security solutions, Silicon Laboratories Inc., a global technology company, and Cohu, Inc., a back-end
semiconductor equipment and services company. She previously served as a director to the following publicly held companies: Silicon Graphics
International Corp., a computer systems company, Callidus Software, Inc., an enterprise software company, and Zayo Group Holdings, Inc, which became
a private company in March 2020. Ms. Richardson received a B.S. in Industrial engineering from Purdue University and her Executive M.B.A. from
Pepperdine University.

We believe that Ms. Richardson is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her experience as an executive and member of the board of
directors of companies that span multiple industries.

A. Brooke Seawell has served as a member of our board of directors since September 2020. Since 2005, Mr. Seawell has been a Venture Partner at
New Enterprise Associates. He was a Partner from 2000 to 2005 at Technology Crossover Ventures, a venture capital firm. From 1997 to 1998, he was
Executive Vice President at NetDynamics, Inc., an application server software company, which was acquired by Sun Microsystems, Inc. From 1991 to
1997, he was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Synopsys, Inc., an electronic design automation software company. Mr. Seawell serves
on the boards of the following publicly held companies: NVIDIA Corporation, a visual computing company, where he serves on the audit committee, and
Tenable Holdings, Inc., a cyber-security solutions company, where he serves on the audit committee. Mr. Seawell previously served on the board of
directors of the following publicly held companies: Tableau Software, Inc., a business intelligence software company; Informatica Corp., a data integration
software company; and Glu Mobile, Inc., a publisher of mobile games. Mr. Seawell previously served on the Stanford University Athletic Board and the
Management Board of the Stanford Graduate School of Business. Mr. Seawell received a B.A. degree in economics and his M.B.A. in Finance from
Stanford University.

We believe that Mr. Seawell is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to his investment experience and executive leadership and board
roles.

Juliet Tammenoms Bakker has served as a member of our board of directors since July 2020. Ms. Tammenoms Bakker founded Longitude Capital
Management Co., LLC in January 2007, a healthcare venture capital firm, and has served as its Managing Director since its inception. Prior to Longitude
Capital, Ms. Tammenoms Bakker was a Managing Director of Pequot Ventures, where she founded the life sciences investment practice. Prior to Pequot,
she was Director, Strategic Planning and Director of Operations of Waste Management International. Previously, she was a sell-side equity analyst with
Banque Paribas. Ms. Tammenoms Bakker began
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her career as an investment banker in the corporate finance department at PaineWebber. Ms. Tammenoms Bakker currently serves on the board of directors
of DyaMX, Nalu and RxSight. She has previously served on the boards of Ablation Frontiers (acquired by Medtronic), AqueSys (acquired by Allergan),
Axonics Modulation Technologies (Nasdaq: AXNX), CryoVascular Systems (acquired by Boston Scientific), Embolic Protection (acquired by Boston
Scientific), Enteric Medical (acquired by Boston Scientific), eyeonics (acquired by Bausch+Lomb), Genyx Medical (acquired by C.R. Bard), Insulet,
Precision Dermatology (acquired by Valeant Pharmaceuticals), Sadra Medical (acquired by Boston Scientific) and Venus Concept. Ms. Tammenoms
Bakker received an M.P.A. from the Harvard Kennedy School and a B.Sc. from the College of Agriculture and Life Sciences at Cornell University
(“CALS”), where she is a member of the CALS Advisory Council. Ms. Tammenoms Bakker is also a board member of the Boys and Girls Club of
Greenwich.

We believe that Ms. Tammenoms Bakker is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to her experience investing in healthcare companies.

David Wu has served as a member of our board of directors since July 2014. Since 2012, Mr. Wu has been a Partner at Maveron LLC, a venture
capital firm, where his primary focus is emerging consumer Internet companies. Mr. Wu led Maveron’s investments in Illumix, inkbox, Booster, Wave and
Eargo, and serves on each company’s board of directors. Mr. Wu received a B.S. electrical engineering and a B.A. in quantitative economics from Stanford
University.

We believe that Mr. Wu is qualified to serve on our board of directors due to the valuable expertise and perspective he brings with his experience
investing in consumer-facing companies.

Board composition

Classified board of directors

In accordance with our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is divided into three classes with staggered three-
year terms, with the classes to be as nearly equal in number as possible. As a result, approximately one-third of the board of directors will be elected each
year at the annual general meeting of stockholders, with the successors to directors whose terms then expire elected to serve from the time of election and
qualification until the third annual meeting following election. Our directors are divided among the three classes as follows:

• The Class I directors are Christian Gormsen, Doug Hughes and David Wu, and their terms will expire at the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held in 2021;

• The Class II directors are Geoff Pardo, Nina Richardson and Brooke Seawell, and their terms will expire at the annual meeting of
stockholders to be held in 2022; and

• The Class III directors are Peter Tuxen Bisgaard, Josh Makower and Juliet Tammenoms Bakker, and their terms will expire at the annual
meeting of stockholders to be held in 2023.

The division of our board of directors into three classes with staggered three-year terms may delay or prevent a change of our management or a
change in control.

Leadership structure of the board

Our amended and restated bylaws and corporate governance guidelines provide our board of directors with flexibility to combine or separate the
positions of Chairman of the board of directors and Chief Executive Officer and to implement a lead director in accordance with its determination
regarding which structure would be in the best interests of our company.

Our board of directors has concluded that our current leadership structure is appropriate at this time. However, our board of directors will continue
to periodically review our leadership structure and may make such changes in the future as it deems appropriate.
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Role of board in risk oversight process

Risk assessment and oversight are an integral part of our governance and management processes. Our board of directors encourages management
to promote a culture that incorporates risk management into our corporate strategy and day-to-day business operations. Management discusses strategic and
operational risks at regular management meetings and conducts specific strategic planning and review sessions during the year that include a focused
discussion and analysis of the risks facing us. Throughout the year, senior management reviews these risks with the board of directors at regular board
meetings as part of management presentations that focus on particular business functions, operations or strategies, and presents the steps taken by
management to mitigate or eliminate such risks.

Our board of directors does not have a standing risk management committee, but rather administers this oversight function directly through our
board of directors as a whole, as well as through various standing committees of our board of directors that address risks inherent in their respective areas
of oversight. While our board of directors is responsible for monitoring and assessing strategic risk exposure, our audit committee is responsible for
overseeing our major financial risk exposures and the steps our management has taken to monitor and control these exposures. The audit committee also
approves or disapproves any related person transactions. Our nominating and corporate governance committee monitors the effectiveness of our corporate
governance guidelines. Our compensation committee assesses and monitors whether any of our compensation policies and programs has the potential to
encourage excessive risk-taking.

Board committees

Our board of directors has established an audit committee, a compensation committee and a nominating and corporate governance committee. Our
board of directors may establish other committees to facilitate the management of our business. The composition and functions of each committee are
described below. Members serve on these committees until their resignation or until otherwise determined by our board of directors. Each of these
committees operates under a written charter that satisfies the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC and Listing Rules, and that has been approved by
our board of directors.

Audit committee

Our audit committee oversees our corporate accounting and financial reporting process. Among other matters, the audit committee:

• appoints our independent registered public accounting firm;

• evaluates the independent registered public accounting firm’s qualifications, independence and performance;

• determines the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm;

• reviews and approves the scope of the annual audit and pre-approves the audit and non-audit fees and services;

• reviews and approves all related party transactions on an ongoing basis;

• establishes procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of any complaints received by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting
controls or auditing matters;

• discusses with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the results of the annual audit and the review of our quarterly
financial statements;

• approves the retention of the independent registered public accounting firm to perform any proposed permissible non-audit services;

• discusses on a periodic basis, or as appropriate, with management the Company’s policies and procedures with respect to risk assessment and risk
management;
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• is responsible for reviewing our financial statements and our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations to
be included in our annual and quarterly reports to be filed with the SEC;

• investigates any reports received through the ethics helpline and reports to the Board periodically with respect to any information received through the
ethics helpline and any related investigations; and

• reviews the audit committee charter and the audit committee’s performance on an annual basis.

Our audit committee consists of Doug Hughes, Geoff Pardo and Brooke Seawell. Our board of directors has determined that all members are
independent under the Listing Rules and Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Exchange Act. The chair of our audit committee is Brooke Seawell. Our board of
directors has determined that each of Mr. Hughes and Mr. Seawell is an “audit committee financial expert” as such term is currently defined in Item 407(d)
(5) of Regulation S-K. Our board of directors has also determined that each member of our audit committee can read and understand fundamental
consolidated financial statements, in accordance with applicable requirements.

Compensation committee

Our compensation committee oversees policies relating to compensation and benefits of our officers and employees. The compensation committee
reviews and approves or recommends corporate goals and objectives relevant to compensation of our executive officers (other than our Chief Executive
Officer), evaluates the performance of these officers in light of those goals and objectives, and approves the compensation of these officers based on such
evaluations. The compensation committee also reviews and approves or makes recommendations to our board of directors regarding the issuance of stock
options and other awards under our stock plans to our executive officers (other than our Chief Executive Officer). The compensation committee reviews the
performance of our Chief Executive Officer and makes recommendations to our board of directors with respect to his compensation, and our board of
directors retains the authority to make compensation decisions relative to our Chief Executive Officer. The compensation committee reviews and evaluates,
on an annual basis, the compensation committee charter and the compensation committee’s performance. Our compensation committee consists of Peter
Tuxen Bisgaard, Josh Makower, Nina Richardson and Juliet Tammenoms Bakker. Our board of directors has determined that all members are independent
under the Listing Rules. The chair of our compensation committee is Josh Makower.

Nominating and corporate governance committee

The nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for making recommendations to our board of directors regarding candidates for
directorships and the size and composition of our board of directors. In addition, the nominating and corporate governance committee is responsible for
overseeing our corporate governance policies and making recommendations to our board of directors concerning governance matters. Our nominating and
corporate governance committee consists of Peter Tuxen Bisgaard, Josh Makower, Geoff Pardo and Juliet Tammenoms Bakker. Our board of directors has
determined that all members are independent under the Listing Rules. The chair of our nominating and corporate governance committee is Juliet
Tammenoms Bakker.

Code of business conduct and ethics

Our board of directors has adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees,
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions,
and agents and representatives. The statement contains general guidelines for conducting our business consistent with the highest standards of business
ethics. The full text of our code of business conduct and ethics is available on our website at www.eargo.com. The nominating and corporate governance
committee of our board of directors is responsible for overseeing our code of business conduct and ethics and any waivers applicable to any director,
executive officer or employee. We intend to disclose any future amendments to certain provisions of our code of business conduct and ethics, or waivers of
such provisions applicable to our directors, officers and employees, including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or persons performing similar functions, and agents and representatives, on our website identified above or in public
filings.
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Procedures for stockholder nominations to the board of directors

For the year ended December 31, 2020, there have been no material changes to the procedures for nominating directors by our stockholders other
than the adoption of our amended and restated bylaws in connection with our IPO dated October 15, 2020.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Our named executive officers for the year ended December 31, 2020, which consist of our principal executive officer and our two most highly
compensated executive officers, are:

• Christian Gormsen, our President and Chief Executive Officer;

• William Brownie, our Chief Operating Officer; and

• Adam Laponis, our Chief Financial Officer.

Summary compensation table

The following table provides information regarding the compensation earned by our named executive officers for services rendered in all capacities
during the years ended December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
 

Name and principal position  Year  
Salary
($)(1)   

Bonus
($)(2)   

Option
awards
($)(3)   

Non-equity
incentive

plan
compensation

($)(4)   

All other
compensation

($)   
Total

($)  
Christian Gormsen  2020 $ 452,279  $ 61,982  $ 3,149,564  $ 147,911  $ —  $ 3,811,736 

President and Chief
   Executive Officer  2019  502,170  —   1,022,911  —   —   1,525,081 

William Brownie  2020  257,500   52,800   891,393   88,200   —   1,289,893 
Chief Operating Officer  2019  300,000  —   230,826  —   —   530,826 

Adam Laponis  2020  257,500   52,800   998,198   88,200   —   1,396,698 
Chief Financial Officer  2019  161,539  —   490,510  —   —   652,049  

 
(1) The amounts reported for Mr. Gormsen include a housing allowance of $150,000 that does not require substantiation and is indistinguishable from base salary.
(2) The amounts reported for 2020 represent the amounts earned by our named executive officers under a one-time company-wide cash bonus program approved by the board of directors in

April 2020. Please see the description of the one-time cash bonus program under “Bonuses and non-equity incentive plan compensation” below.
(3) In accordance with SEC rules, this column reflects the aggregate grant date fair value of the option awards granted during fiscal years 2019 and 2020 and the incremental fair value of the

option awards modified during fiscal years 2019 and 2020, in each case, computed in accordance with ASC 718 for stock-based compensation transactions, adjusted to reflect the probable
outcome of performance conditions. Messrs. Gormsen and Brownie were granted options on November 3, 2018 that were subject to performance conditions that were determined not to be
probable. In April 2019, prior to the expiration of such options, the November 3, 2018 options were amended such that the November 3, 2018 options would not terminate on May 31,
2019 as a result of the failure to achieve the performance conditions and the options would instead vest in equal monthly installments over a 48-month period from April 24, 2019, subject
to continued employment. Additionally, the amounts reported for 2020 include the effect of a repricing in August 2020 of stock options held by current employees, including each of our
named executed officers, whereby the exercise price per share of each stock option was lowered to $2.55 (our fair market value per share on the date of the repricing). Please see the
description of such repricing under “Equity—based incentive awards” below. The incremental grant date fair value of such repricing was $182,709, $142,968, and $451,414 for Messrs.
Gormsen, Brownie and Laponis, respectively. See Note 8 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of the
assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts.

(4) The amounts for 2020 reported represent the amounts earned by our named executive officers upon the achievement of certain company performance objectives approved by our board of
directors for fiscal year 2020. These amounts were paid to the named executive officers during February 2021. Please see the description of the annual bonus program under “Bonuses and
non-equity incentive plan compensation” below.
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Narrative to the summary compensation table

Prior to the completion of our IPO, our board of directors reviewed compensation annually for all employees, including our named executive
officers. In setting executive base salaries and bonuses and granting equity incentive awards, our board of directors considered compensation for
comparable positions in the market, the historical compensation levels of our executives, individual performance as compared to our expectations and
objectives, our desire to motivate our employees to achieve short- and long-term results in the best interests of our stockholders and long-term commitment
to our company.

Our board of directors has historically determined our executive officers’ compensation and has typically reviewed and discussed management’s
proposed compensation with our chief executive officer for all executives other than our chief executive officer. Based on those discussions and its
discretion, our board of directors then determined the compensation of each executive officer.

Following our IPO, generally the compensation committee of our board of directors, rather than our board of directors, approves the compensation
of each executive officer (other than our Chief Executive Officer) and follow the process outlined above. The compensation committee reviews the
performance of our Chief Executive Officer and make recommendations to our board of directors with respect to his compensation, and our board of
directors will retain the authority to make compensation decisions relative to our Chief Executive Officer.

Annual base salary

Base salaries for our executive officers are initially established through arm’s-length negotiations at the time of the executive officer’s hiring,
taking into account such executive officer’s qualifications, experience, the scope of his or her responsibilities and competitive market compensation paid by
other companies for similar positions within the industry and geography. Base salaries are reviewed periodically, typically in connection with our annual
performance review process, and adjusted from time to time to realign salaries with market levels after taking into account individual responsibilities,
performance and experience. In making decisions regarding salary increases, we may also draw upon the experience of members of our board of directors
with executives at other companies. The 2020 base salaries for our named executive officers were as follows: (a) $502,170 for Mr. Gormsen, inclusive of a
monthly housing allowance, (b) $300,000 for Mr. Brownie, and (c) $300,000 for Mr. Laponis.

In April 2020, as part of company-wide salary reductions, the base salaries for each of Mr. Gormsen, Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis were reduced
by 20%, effective through December 31, 2020. The salary reductions were reversed effective January 1, 2021.

In January 2021 and February 2021, the compensation committee and the board of directors approved 2021 base salaries for our named executive
officers as follows: (1) $550,000 for Mr. Gormsen, (b) $390,000 for Mr. Brownie, and $390,000 for Mr. Laponis.

Bonuses and non-equity incentive plan compensation

Our named executive officers are each eligible to receive a discretionary annual bonus based on individual and company performance. However, no
cash bonuses were awarded based on services provided during 2019.

In connection with the salary reductions implemented in April 2020, our board of directors approved a cash bonus plan, payable in the discretion of
the board based on company performance during 2020, of cash bonuses up to 50% of the reduced salary level for Mr. Gormsen and up to 35% of the
respective reduced salary levels for Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis.  

In April 2020 our board of directors approved a one-time special cash bonus opportunity for each of our employees, including Mr. Gormsen, Mr.
Brownie and Mr. Laponis, by increasing each employee’s target bonus by the percentage of his or her respective salary reductions, which was 20% for each
of Mr. Gormsen, Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis, payable in the discretion of the board based on company performance during 2020.
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Additionally, in January 2021 and February 2021, the compensation committee and the board of directors approved target bonus amounts for Mr.
Gormsen, Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis of 80%, 60% and 50%, respectively, of their respective salary levels.

Equity-based incentive awards

Our equity-based incentive awards are designed to align our interests and those of our stockholders with those of our employees and consultants,
including our named executive officers.

We have historically used stock options as the principal equity incentive award for long-term compensation to our named executive officers
because the return on the options is tied to an increase in our stock price. We may grant equity awards at such times as our board of directors or
compensation committee determines appropriate. Additional grants may occur periodically in order to specifically incentivize executives with respect to
achieving certain corporate goals or to reward executives for exceptional performance.

Prior to our IPO, all of the equity incentive awards we granted were made pursuant to our 2010 Plan. Following the IPO, the company grants equity
incentive awards under the terms of our 2020 Plan. See note 8 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K for a discussion of our 2010 Plan and our 2020 Plan.

All options are granted with an exercise price per share that is no less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant of such
award. In August 2020, in order to retain and properly incentivize our employees to continue our growth, we approved a repricing of stock options, with no
other change to the terms of the awards, held by current employees, including each of our named executive officers, whereby the exercise price per share of
each stock option was lowered to $2.55 (our fair market value per share on the date of the repricing). Our stock option grants generally vest over a four-
year period and may be subject to acceleration of vesting and exercisability under certain termination and change in control events.

In August 2020, we granted options to Mr. Gormsen, Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis to purchase an aggregate of 947,865, 293,503 and 214,427
shares of our common stock, respectively.

In January 2021 and February 2021, we granted options to Mr. Gormsen, Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis to purchase an aggregate of 50,800, 16,500
and 16,500 shares of common stock, respectively.  We simultaneously granted, pursuant to the 2020 Plan, Mr. Gormsen, Mr. Brownie and Mr. Laponis
50,800, 16,500 and 16,500 RSUs, respectively.

Outstanding equity awards at fiscal year-end

The following table provides information regarding the outstanding equity awards held by our named executive officers as of December 31, 2020.

Name and principal position  Grant date(1)  

Vesting
commencement

date  

Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised
options (#)

(exercisable)  

Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised
options (#)

(unexercisable)  

Option
exercise

price
($)  

Option
expiration

date
Christian Gormsen  4/22/2014     1,100   —  $ 1.29   4/22/2024
President and Chief Executive  11/20/2014     11,000   —   1.29   11/20/2024
   Officer  9/1/2016     37,148   —   1.29   9/1/2026
  10/11/2016     37,148   —   1.29   10/11/2026
  7/12/2017 7/12/2017(4)   18,574   —   1.29   7/12/2027
  11/29/2017 11/29/2017(2)   437,907   —   1.29   11/29/2027
  11/3/2018 4/24/2019(5)   43,333   —   1.41   11/3/2028
  4/24/2019 4/24/2019(4)   229,737   —   2.55 (7)  4/24/2029
  4/24/2019 2/26/2020(6)   59,167   —   2.55 (7)  4/24/2029
  8/3/2020 8/3/2020(8)   36,886   405,752   2.55   8/2/2030
  8/20/2020 8/20/2020(9)   42,102   463,123   2.55   8/19/2030
William Brownie  9/1/2016     387   —   1.29   9/1/2026
Chief Operating Officer  2/14/2017 2/14/2017(2)   290   —   1.29   2/14/2027
  7/12/2017     145   —   1.29   7/12/2027
  7/12/2017 7/12/2017(4)   9,287   —   1.29   7/12/2027
  11/29/2017 11/29/2017(4)   59,522   —   1.29   11/29/2027
  11/3/2018 4/24/2019(5)   18,333   —   1.41   11/3/2028
  4/24/2019 4/24/2019(4)   45,666   —   2.55 (7)  4/24/2029
  4/24/2019 2/26/2020(6)   10,400   —   2.55 (7)  4/24/2029
  8/3/2020 8/3/2020(8)   11,363   124,992   2.55   8/2/2030
  8/20/2020 8/20/2020(9)   13,095   144,050   2.55   8/19/2030
Adam Laponis  6/19/2019 7/3/2019(3)   33,051   110,641   2.55 (7)  6/19/2029
Chief Financial Officer  8/3/2020 8/3/2020(8)   6,936   76,266   2.55   8/2/2030
  8/20/2020 8/20/2020(9)   10,935   120,288   2.55   8/19/2030
 
(1) The exercise price of each option granted prior to November 29, 2017 was repriced to $1.29 per share on November 29, 2017.
(2) This option is exercisable in full as of the date of grant, with any unvested shares underlying the option subject to repurchase by us at the original exercise price in the event of a

termination of service. The option vests as to 25% of the total number of shares subject to the option on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and as to 1/48th of the total
number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary thereafter, in each case, subject to continued service. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is terminated by
us without cause or the holder resigns for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period commencing on a change in control.

(3) This option vests and becomes exercisable as to 25% of the total number of shares subject to the option on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement date and as to 1/48th of the
total number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary thereafter, in each case, subject to continued service. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is
terminated by us without cause or the holder resigns for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period commencing on a change in control.

(4) This option is exercisable in full as of the date of grant, with any unvested shares underlying the option subject to repurchase by us at the original exercise price in the event of a
termination of service. The option vests as to 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary of the vesting commencement date, subject to
continued service. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is terminated by us without cause or the holder resigns for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period
commencing on a change in control.



(5) This option was set to vest and become exercisable based on the achievement of certain performance goals, subject to continued service through the date of achievement. On April 24,
2019, our board of directors approved the amendment of this option such that the option would not terminate as a result of the failure to achieve the performance conditions and was
converted to a time-based vesting option that vests as to 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary of the vesting commencement date, subject
to continued service. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is terminated by us without cause or the holder resigns for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period
commencing on a change in control.

(6) This option vests and becomes exercisable following the determination of the achievement of certain performance goals, subject to continued service through the date of achievement and
subsequent vesting. On February 26, 2020, the number of options was reduced, pursuant to its terms, based on the achievement of such goals, and the option vests as to 1/48th of the
number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary of this date. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is terminated by us without cause or the holder resigns
for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period commencing on a change in control.

(7) The exercise price of each option with an exercise price greater than $2.55 per share was repriced to $2.55 per share on August 3, 2020. Prior to the repricing, the exercise price per share
of these options was $4.728.
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(8) This option vests and becomes exercisable as to 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on the one-month anniversary of the vesting commencement date and as to 1/48th

of the total number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary thereafter, in each case, subject to continued service. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is
terminated by us without cause or the holder resigns for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period immediately following a change in control.

(9) This option vests and becomes exercisable as to 1/48th of the total number of shares subject to the option on the one-month anniversary of the vesting commencement date and as to 1/48th
of the total number of shares subject to the option on each monthly anniversary thereafter, in each case, subject to continued service. Vesting accelerates in full in the event the holder is
terminated by us without cause or the holder resigns for good reason, in each case, within the 12-month period immediately following a change in control that occurs following the closing
of an initial public offering. The vesting conditions of these options were based on the achievement of certain performance goals, with such performance goals terminating upon the
closing of the IPO pursuant to the original terms of the options.

Employment arrangements

Offer Letters

We previously entered into offer letter agreements with each of our named executive officers in connection with their employment with the
Company. These agreements set forth the terms and conditions of employment of each named executive officer, including initial base salary, housing
allowance (for each of Messrs. Gormsen and Brownie), equity grants and employee benefits eligibility.

New Employment Agreements

In connection with our IPO, we entered into new employment agreements with our named executive officers, which supersede in their entirety their
original offer letters.

Pursuant to the terms of the new employment agreements, in the event the named executive officer is terminated without Cause or resigns for Good
Reason (each, as defined in the employment agreements), in each case, other than during the period that is on or 12 months following a change in control,
the named executive officer will be eligible to receive: (i) a lump sum cash payment equal to 1x, in the case of our Chief Executive Officer, or 0.75x, in the
case of our other named executive officers, the sum of the executive’s annual base salary and target annual bonus; and (ii) payment or reimbursement of
COBRA premiums for 12 months, in the case of our Chief Executive Officer, or nine months, in the case of our other named executive officers.

In addition, in the event the named executive officer is terminated without Cause or resigns for Good Reason, in each case, during the period that is
on or 12 months following a change in control, the named executive officer will be eligible to receive: (i) a lump sum cash payment equal to 2x, in the case
of our Chief Executive Officer, or 1x, in the case of our other named executive officers, the sum of the executive’s annual base salary and target annual
bonus; (ii) payment or reimbursement of COBRA premiums for up to 24 months, in the case of our Chief Executive Officer, or up to 12 months, in the case
of our other named executive officers; and (iii) full accelerated vesting of all equity awards.

All severance payments and benefits under the employment agreements are subject to the executive’s execution of a release of claims against us.

Health and welfare and retirement benefits; perquisites

Messrs. Gormsen, Brownie and Laponis are eligible to participate in the benefit plans made generally available to our employees on the same terms
and conditions as our employees, including comprehensive medical, dental and vision insurance, life and disability insurance, commuter benefit program
and 401(k) plan. We have not made any matching contributions under our 401(k) plan. Other than eligibility for the commuter benefit program, the
temporary housing allowance provided to Mr. Brownie in connection with his commencement of employment with us and the continuing housing
allowance provided to Mr. Gormsen, which forms a part of his base salary, Messrs. Gormsen, Brownie and Laponis are not provided any perquisites.

Director compensation

We did not compensate any members of our board of directors during 2019.
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Director Compensation Program

Pursuant to the compensation policy for our non-employee directors (the “Director Compensation Program”), which became effective in October
2020 in connection with our IPO, our non-employee directors will receive cash compensation as follows:

• Each non-employee director receives an annual cash retainer in the amount of $40,000 per year.

• The non-executive Chairperson receives an additional annual cash retainer in the amount of $35,000 per year.

• The chairperson of the audit committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $20,000 per year for such
chairperson’s service on the audit committee. Each non-chairperson member of the audit committee receives additional annual cash compensation
in the amount of $10,000 per year for such member’s service on the audit committee.

• The chairperson of the compensation committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $15,000 per year for such
chairperson’s service on the compensation committee. Each non-chairperson member of the compensation committee receives additional annual
cash compensation in the amount of $7,500 per year for such member’s service on the compensation committee.

• The chairperson of the nominating and corporate governance committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of
$10,000 per year for such chairperson’s service on the nominating and corporate governance committee. Each non-chairperson member of the
nominating and corporate governance committee receives additional annual cash compensation in the amount of $5,000 per year for such
member’s service on the nominating and corporate governance committee.

Under the Director Compensation Program, each non-employee director automatically is granted (i) an option to purchase that number of shares of
our common stock calculated by dividing (a) $200,000 by (b) the per share grant date fair value of the option, calculated based on the 30 trading day
average closing price of our common stock as of the date of grant (or if the date of grant is not a trading day, the immediately preceding trading day) and
using assumptions published in our most recent periodic report as of the date of grant, rounded down to the nearest whole share, upon the director’s initial
appointment or election to our board of directors, referred to as the Initial Grant, and (ii) for each non-employee director who has served for at least 6
months as of the date of each annual stockholder’s meeting, an option to purchase that number of shares of our common stock calculated by dividing
(a) $120,000 by (b) the per share grant date fair value of the option, calculated based on the 30 trading day average closing price of our common stock as of
the trading day immediately preceding the date of grant and using assumptions published in our most recent periodic report as of the date of grant, rounded
down to the nearest whole share, automatically on the date of each annual stockholder’s meeting thereafter, referred to as the Annual Grant. The Initial
Grants vest and become exercisable as to 1/36th of the underlying shares on a monthly basis over three years, subject to continued service through each
applicable vesting date. The Annual Grants vest and become exercisable as to 1/12th of the underlying shares on each monthly anniversary of the
applicable date of grant, provided, that if our annual stockholder’s meeting immediately following the date of grant takes place prior to the first anniversary
of the date of grant, the Annual Grants vest and become exercisable immediately prior to our annual stockholder’s meeting following the date of grant,
subject to continued service through each applicable vesting date.

In the event of a change in control (as defined under the Director Compensation Program), each Initial Grant and Annual Grant, along with any
other stock options or equity-based awards held by any non-employee director, will vest and become exercisable immediately prior to such change in
control.
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2020 director compensation table

The following table sets forth information regarding the compensation earned for service on our board of directors during the year ended
December 31, 2020. The compensation for Mr. Gormsen, as a named executive officer, is set forth above under “—Summary Compensation Table.”
 

Name(1)  

Fees earned
or paid
in cash
($)(2)   

Option
awards
($)(3)   

All other
compensation

($)   
Total

($)  
Josh Makower, M.D.  $ 23,750  $ 119,988  $ —  $ 143,738 
Peter Tuxen Bisgaard   13,125   119,988   —   133,113 
Tak Cheung, M.D.  —  —   —   — 
Doug Hughes   12,500   169,035   —   181,535 
Raphael Michel  —  —   —   — 
Geoff Pardo   13,750   119,988   —   133,738 
Nina Richardson   11,875   169,035   —   180,910 
A. Brooke Seawell   15,000   169,035   —   184,035 
Juliet Tammenoms Bakker   14,375   119,988   —   134,363 
David Wu   10,000   119,988   —   129,988

 

 
(1) Geoff Pardo and Juliet Tammenoms Bakker joined our board of directors in July 2020, and Doug Hughes, Nina Richardson and Brooke Seawell joined our board of directors in September

2020. Raphael Michel resigned from our board of directors in August 2020, and Dr. Tak Cheung resigned from our board of directors in September 2020.
(2) These amounts were earned in 2020 and paid in 2021 in accordance with our Director Compensation Program, described above, on a pro-rated basis following our IPO. Amounts earned

by Messrs. Bisgaard, Hughes, and Seawell and Ms. Richardson were paid to them directly. Amounts earned by Ms. Tammenoms Bakker were paid to Longitude Capital Management Co.,
LLC; amounts earned by Mr. Makower were paid to NEA Management Company LLC; amounts earned by Mr. Pardo were paid to Gilde (as defined below); and amounts earned by Mr.
Wu were paid to Maveron LLC.

(3) Amounts reported represent the aggregate grant date fair value of stock options granted to our non-employee directors during 2020 under our 2020 Plan, computed in accordance with
ASC Topic 718. Assumptions used in the calculation of these amounts are included in note 8 to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K. As of December 31, 2020, our non-employee directors held the following outstanding options and stock awards:

 

Name  

Shares subject to
outstanding

options
(#)   

Unvested
restricted shares

outstanding
(#)  

Josh Makower, M.D.   6,666   — 
Peter Tuxen Bisgaard   6,666   — 
Tak Cheung, M.D.   —   — 
Doug Hughes   29,500   — 
Raphael Michel   149,166   — 
Geoff Pardo(a)   6,666   — 
Nina Richardson   56,832   — 
A. Brooke Seawell   29,500   — 
Juliet Tammenoms Bakker   6,666   — 
David Wu   6,666   —

 

 

 (a) The shares underlying options granted to Mr. Pardo are beneficially owned by Gilde or one of its affiliates.  

Compensation committee interlocks and insider participation

None of the members of our compensation committee is currently, or has been at any time, one of our executive officers or employees. None of our
executive officers currently serves, or has served during the last year, as a member of the board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that
has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our board of directors or on our compensation committee.
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Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information on our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2020. Information is included for equity
compensation plans approved by our stockholders.
 
 

Name  

Number of securities
to be issued upon

exercise of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights  

Weighted-average
exercise price of

outstanding options,
warrants and rights  

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
compensation plans

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders(1)(2)(3)   6,477,114   $ 2.78 (4)   5,320,356 (5)

(1) Consists of options outstanding and available for issuance under our 2010 Plan, 2020 Plan and the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP).

(2)  The 2020 Plan contains an “evergreen” provision, pursuant to which the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance or transfer pursuant to awards under the 2020 Plan shall be increased
on the first day of each year beginning in 2021 and ending in 2030 equal to the lesser of (A) five percent (5.0%) of the shares of common stock outstanding (on an as converted basis) on the last day of
the immediately preceding fiscal year and (B) such smaller number of shares of stock as determined by our Board; provided, however, that no more than 28,344,144 shares of stock may be issued
upon the exercise of incentive stock options.

(3)  The ESPP contains an “evergreen” provision, pursuant to which the maximum number of shares of our common stock authorized for sale under the ESPP shall be increased on the first day of each
year beginning in 2021 and ending in 2030, equal to the lesser of (A) one percent (1.0%) of the shares of common stock outstanding (on an as converted basis) on the last day of the immediately
preceding fiscal year and (B) such number of shares of common stock as determined by our Board; provided, however, no more than 5,450,797 shares of our common stock may be issued thereunder.

(4)  Excludes restricted stock units, which have no exercise price.

(5)  Includes 726,773 shares available for future issuance under the ESPP (of which up to 17,865 shares are issuable with respect to the purchase period in effect as of December 31, 2020, which purchase
period ends on May 15, 2021).

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The following table sets forth, as of December 31, 2020, information regarding beneficial ownership of our capital stock by:

• each person, or group of affiliated persons, known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our common stock;

• each of our named executive officers;

• each of our directors; and

• all of our executive officers and directors as a group.

The percentage of ownership is based on 38,246,601 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2020. Beneficial ownership is
determined according to the rules of the SEC and generally means that a person has beneficial ownership of a security if he, she or it possesses sole or
shared voting or investment power of that security. In addition, shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options or warrants that are
currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of December 31, 2020 are included in the following table. These shares are deemed to be outstanding
and beneficially owned by the person holding those options or warrants for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of that person, but they are
not treated as outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. The information contained in the following table
does not necessarily indicate beneficial ownership for any other purpose. Unless otherwise indicated, the persons or entities identified in this table have sole
voting and investment power with respect to all shares shown as beneficially owned by them, subject to applicable community property laws.

136



 

Unless otherwise noted below, the address for each beneficial owner listed in the table below is c/o Eargo, Inc., 1600 Technology Drive, 6th Floor,
San Jose, California 95110.
 

Name of beneficial owner  

Number of
outstanding

shares
beneficially

owned   

Number of
shares

exercisable
within 60

days   

Number of
shares

beneficially
owned   

Percentage of
beneficial
ownership  

5% and greater stockholders:                 
Entities affiliated with New
   Enterprise Associates(1)   6,520,944   —   6,520,944   17.05%
Cooperatieve Gilde Healthcare V U.A.(2)   3,918,691   —   3,918,691   10.25%
Longitude Venture Partners IV, L.P.(3)   3,918,691   —   3,918,691   10.25%
Future Fund Investment Company
   No.4 Pty Ltd(4)   3,690,481   —   3,690,481   9.65%
Entities affiliated with Pivotal Alpha
   Limited(5)   2,886,724   —   2,886,724   7.55%
The Charles and Helen Schwab
   Living Trust U/A DTD 11/22/1985   2,537,684   —   2,537,684   6.64%
Named executive officers and directors:                 
Christian Gormsen(6)   81,548   993,596   1,075,144   2.74%
William Brownie(7)   152,283   180,716   332,999  * 
Adam Laponis(8)   44,430   67,231   111,661  * 
Josh Makower, M.D.(9)   6,520,017   2,222   6,522,239   17.05%
Peter Tuxen Bisgaard(10)   2,928,694   2,222   2,930,916   7.66%
Doug Hughes(11)   37,209   4,099   41,308  * 
Geoff Pardo(12)   3,918,691   2,222   3,920,913   10.25%
Nina Richardson(13)   14,386   31,431   45,817  * 
A. Brooke Seawell(14)   —   4,099   4,099  * 
Juliet Tammenoms Bakker(15)   3,918,691   2,222   3,920,913   10.25%
David Wu(16)   1,552,369   2,222   1,554,591   4.06%
All current directors and executive
   officers as a group (11 persons)   19,168,318   1,292,282   20,460,600   51.75%
 
* Indicates beneficial ownership of less than 1% of the total outstanding common stock.

(1) Consists of (a) 6,520,017 shares held by New Enterprise Associates 15, L.P. (“NEA 15”) and (b) 927 shares held by NEA Ventures 2015, L.P. (“Ven 2015”).  The shares held directly by
NEA 15 are indirectly held by NEA Partners 15, L.P. (“NEA Partners 15”), which is the sole general partner of NEA 15, NEA 15 GP, LLC (“NEA 15 LLC”), which is the sole general
partner of NEA Partners 15, and the individual managers of NEA 15 LLC (the “NEA Managers”). The NEA Managers are Forest Baskett, Anthony A. Florence, Jr., Mohamad H.
Makhzoumi, Joshua Makower (a member of our board of directors), Scott D. Sandell and Peter W. Sonsini. The NEA Managers share voting and dispositive power with regard to the
shares held by NEA 15. The shares directly held by Ven 2015 are indirectly held by Karen P. Welsh, the general partner of Ven 2015.  Karen P. Welsh shares voting and dispositive power
with regard to the shares held by Ven 2015. All indirect owners of the above-referenced shares disclaim beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of their actual
pecuniary interest in such shares. The principal address for NEA 15 is c/o New Enterprise Associates, Inc., 1954 Greenspring Drive, Suite 600, Timonium, Maryland 21093.

(2) Based on the most recently available Schedule 13D filed jointly with the SEC on October 30, 2020 by Coöperatieve Gilde Healthcare V U.A. (“Gilde”), Gilde Healthcare V Management
B.V. (“Gilde B.V.”), Gilde Healthcare Holding B.V., Marc Olivier Perret, Edwin de Graaf, Martemanshurk BV, which is owned 100% by Pieter van der Meer, and Geoff Pardo. According
to the Schedule 13D filed, this amount consists of 3,918,691 shares of our common stock held by Gilde. Gilde B.V. is the manager of Gilde and may be deemed to have voting, investment
and dispositive power with respect to shares held by Gilde. Gilde B.V. is managed by Gilde Healthcare Holding B.V. The managing partners of Gilde Healthcare Holding B.V. are Marc
Olivier Perret, Edwin de Graaf and Pieter van der Meer. Mr. Pardo is a member of our board of directors and is a partner of Gilde and may be deemed to share voting and dispositive
power over the shares held by Gilde. Each of these individuals disclaim beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of their actual pecuniary interest in such shares.
The mailing address of Gilde is 222 Third Street, Suite 1321, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02142, c/o Gilde Healthcare Partners.

(3) Based on the most recently available Schedule 13D filed jointly with the SEC on October 30, 2020 by Longitude Capital Partners IV, LLC (“LCP4”), Longitude Venture Partners IV, L.P.
(“LVP4”), Patrick G. Enright, and Juliet Tammenoms Bakker. According to the Schedule 13D filed, this amount consists of 3,918,691 shares of our common stock held by LVP4. LCP4 is
the general partner of LVP4 and may be deemed to have sole voting, investment and dispositive power over the shares held by LVP4. Patrick G. Enright and Ms. Tammenoms

137



 
Bakker, a member of our board of directors, are managing members of LCP4 and in their capacity as such, may be deemed to exercise shared voting and investment power over the shares
held by LCP4 and LVP4. Each of these individuals disclaim beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of his or her actual pecuniary interest in such shares. The
mailing address of LVP4 is 2740 Sand Hill Road, 2nd Floor, Menlo Park, California 94025.

(4) Based on the most recently available Schedule 13G filed jointly with the SEC on February 11, 2021 by Future Fund Board of Guardians and Future Fund Investment Company. According
to the Schedule 13G filed, this amount consists of 3,690,481 shares of common stock held of record by The Northern Trust Company in its capacity as custodian for Future Fund
Investment Company No. 4 Pty Ltd (ACN 134 338 908), or the Future Fund, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Future Fund Board of Guardians. Investment and voting decisions by the
Future Fund are made jointly by three or more individuals that serve on the non-executive board of the Future Fund Board of Guardians, and therefore no individual is the beneficial owner
of the shares held by Future Fund. According to the Schedule 13G filed, the Future Fund reported having sole voting power over no shares, shared voting power over 3,690,481 shares,
sole dispositive power over no shares, and shared dispositive power over 3,690,481 shares. The principal business address of the Future Fund is Level 42, 120 Collins Street, Melbourne
VIC 3000.

(5) Based on the most recently available Schedule 13D filed jointly with the SEC on October 29, 2020 by Nan Fung Group Holdings Limited (“NFGHL”), NF Investment Holdings Limited
(“NFIHL”), Permwell Management Limited (“Permwell”), Grand Epoch Holdings Limited (“Grand Epoch”), Eternal Sky Holdings Limited (“Eternal Sky”), and Pivotal Alpha Limited
(“Pivotal Alpha”). According to the Schedule 13D filed, this amount consists of 2,664,502 shares of our common stock held directly by Pivotal Alpha and 222,222 shares of our common
stock held by Permwell. Pivotal Alpha is wholly owned by Eternal Sky, which is wholly owned by Grand Epoch. Grand Epoch and Permwell are both wholly owned by NFIHL, which is
wholly owned by NFGHL. The members of the Executive Committee of NFGHL make investment decisions with respect to shares of our common stock held by Pivotal Alpha and
Permwell. Mr. Kam Chung Leung, Mr. Frank Kai Shui Seto, Mr. Vincent Sai Sing Cheung, Mr. Pui Kuen Cheung, Mr. Kin Ho Kwok, Ms. Vanessa Tih Lin Cheung, Mr. Meng Gao and
Mr. Chun Wai Nelson Tang are the members of the Executive Committee of NFGHL. Pivotal Alpha, Eternal Sky and Grand Epoch each disclaims beneficial ownership of all applicable
shares beneficially owned by Permwell and Permwell disclaims beneficial ownership of all applicable shares beneficially owned by Pivotal Alpha, Eternal Sky and Grand Epoch.

(6) Consists of (a) 81,548 shares of common stock held directly and (b) 993,596 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of
December 31, 2020.

(7) Consists of (a) 152,283 shares of common stock held directly and (b) 180,716 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of
December 31, 2020.

(8) Consists of (a) 44,430 shares of common stock held directly and (b) 67,231 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of
December 31, 2020.

(9) Consists of (a) 6,520,017 shares of common stock beneficially owned by NEA 15 and NEA Ventures and (b) 2,222 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise
of stock options held by Dr. Makower within 60 days of December 31, 2020. The shares directly held by NEA 15 are indirectly held by NEA Partners 15, the sole general partner of NEA
15, NEA 15 LLC, the sole general partner of NEA Partners 15 and each of the individual managers of NEA 15 LLC. Dr. Makower is a General Partner of New Enterprise Associates,
which is affiliated with NEA 15, NEA Ventures and NEA 15 GP and disclaims beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of his actual pecuniary interest in such
shares.

(10) Consists of (a) 2,886,724 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Pivotal Alpha, (b) 41,790 shares of common stock held directly and (c) 2,222 shares of common stock that may
be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held by Mr. Bisgaard within 60 days of December 31, 2020. Investment and voting decisions by Pivotal Alpha are made jointly by
three or more individuals and therefore no individual is the beneficial owner of the shares held by Pivotal Alpha. Mr. Bisgaard is a Managing Partner of Pivotal Bioventure Partners LLC,
which is affiliated with Pivotal Alpha and disclaims beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of his actual pecuniary interest in such shares.

(11) Consists of (a) 37,209 shares of common stock held directly and (b) 4,099 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of
December 31, 2020.

(12) Consists of (a) 3,918,691 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Gilde and (b) 2,222 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held
by Mr. Pardo within 60 days of December 31, 2020 (while such options were granted to Mr. Pardo, the shares underlying the options, when exercised, will be held by Gilde or one of its
affiliates). Gilde is managed by Gilde B.V. Gilde B.V. is managed by Marc Perret, Edwin de Graaf and Pieter van der Meer, who each disclaim beneficial ownership of all applicable
shares except to the extent of their actual pecuniary interest in such shares.

(13) Consists of (a) 14,386 shares of common stock held directly and (b) 31,431 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of
December 31, 2020.

(14) Consists of 4,099 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options within 60 days of December 31, 2020.
(15) Consists of (a) 3,918,691 shares of common stock beneficially owned by LVP4 and (b) 2,222 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock options held

by Ms. Tammenoms Bakker within 60 days of December 31, 2020. LCP4 is the general partner of LVP4 and may be deemed to have sole voting, investment and dispositive power over
the shares held by LVP4. Patrick G. Enright and Ms. Tammenoms Bakker are managing members of LCP4 and, in their capacity as such, may be deemed to exercise shared voting and
investment power over the shares held by LCP4 and LVP4. Each of these individuals disclaims beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of his or her actual
pecuniary interest in such shares.

(16) Consists of (a) 1,552,369 shares of common stock beneficially owned by Maveron Equity Partners IV, L.P., Maveron Equity Partners V, L.P., Maveron IV Entrepreneurs Fund L.P.,
Maveron V Entrepreneurs Fund L.P., MEP Associates IV, L.P., and MEP Associates V, L.P., and (b) 2,222 shares of common stock that may be acquired pursuant to the exercise of stock
options within 60 days of December 31, 2020. The stock options are held in Mr. Wu’s name but are contractually assigned to Maveron LLC. Mr. Wu is a Partner at Maveron LLC, which
is affiliated with Maveron Equity Partners IV, L.P., Maveron Equity Partners V, L.P., Maveron IV Entrepreneurs Fund L.P., Maveron V
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Entrepreneurs Fund L.P., MEP Associates IV, L.P., and MEP Associates V, L.P. and disclaims beneficial ownership of all applicable shares except to the extent of his actual pecuniary
interest in such shares.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Other than compensation arrangements, including employment arrangements, with our directors and executive officers, including those discussed
in “Item 11. Executive Compensation” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the following is a description of each transaction since January 1, 2020 in
which:

 • we were a party or will be a party;
 • the amounts involved exceeded or will exceed $120,000; and
 • any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our capital stock, or an affiliate or immediate family member

thereof, had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

Convertible promissory note financing (2020)

In March 2020, we entered into a convertible note purchase agreement pursuant to which we issued $10.1 million in aggregate principal amount of
convertible promissory notes between March 2020 and April 2020, which we refer to as the 2020 Notes. The 2020 Notes accrued interest at a rate of 6%
per year. The 2020 Notes were redeemed and the aggregate principal amount and accrued interest on the 2020 Notes automatically converted into shares of
our Series E convertible preferred stock at a conversion price of $5.427 per share upon the initial closing of our Series E convertible preferred stock
financing in July 2020, a price equal to 80% of the $6.7836 per share paid by the investors in the Series E convertible preferred stock financing.

 
The following table summarizes the 2020 Notes purchased by our executive officers, directors and holders of more than 5% of our capital stock

and their affiliated entities or immediate family members, and the shares of Series E convertible preferred stock issued upon the conversion of the 2020
Notes.
 

Name  

Series E
convertible
promissory

note principal
and interest ($)   

Shares of
Series E

convertible
preferred
stock (#)  

Entities affiliated with New Enterprise Associates(1)  $ 3,779,299   696,388 
Entities affiliated with Maveron Equity Partners V, L.P.(2)   22,608   4,164 
The Charles and Helen Schwab Living Trust   2,047,184   377,221 
Future Fund Investment Company No. 4 Pty Ltd   2,321,220   427,717 
Pivotal Alpha Limited(3)   1,412,114   260,201 
Peter Tuxen Bisgaard   15,170   2,795 
Adam Laponis   20,227   3,727

 

 
(1) Consists of $3,713,974 in principal plus accrued interest held by NEA 15. Dr. Cheung and Dr. Makower were designated to serve as members of our board of directors by New Enterprise

Associates, Inc., or NEA, which is affiliated with NEA 15. Dr. Cheung is a principal at NEA, and Dr. Makower is a general partner at NEA. In September 2020, Dr. Cheung resigned from
our board of directors, and NEA designated Mr. Hughes to serve in his place. In addition, in September 2020, Mr. Seawell, a venture partner at NEA, joined our board of directors.

(2) Entities affiliated with Maveron Equity Partners V, L.P. held more than 5% of our capital stock as of the date of the 2020 Notes financing.  
(3) Consists of $1,387,706.00 in principal plus accrued interest held by Pivotal Alpha. Mr. Bisgaard was designated to serve as a member of our board of directors by Pivotal Alpha. Mr.

Bisgaard is a managing director of Pivotal Alpha.

Series E convertible preferred stock financing

In July 2020, we entered into a Series E convertible preferred stock purchase agreement with various investors, pursuant to which we issued in July
2020 and August 2020 an aggregate of 10,513,921 shares of Series E convertible preferred stock at $6.7836 per share for gross proceeds of $71.3 million.

The table below sets forth the number of shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock purchased by our executive officers, directors, holders
of more than 5% of our capital stock and their affiliated entities or immediate
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family members. Each share of Series E convertible preferred stock in the table below converted into one share of our common stock in connection with
our IPO.
 

Name  

Series E
convertible
preferred
stock (#)   

Aggregate cash
purchase
price ($)  

Entities affiliated with New Enterprise Associates(1)   737,071  $ 4,999,999 
The Charles and Helen Schwab Living Trust   227,640   1,544,221 
Pivotal Alpha Limited(2)   589,657   3,999,999 
Coöperatieve Gilde Healthcare V U.A.(3)   3,685,358   24,999,999 
Longitude Venture Partners IV, L.P.(4)   3,685,358   24,999,999 
Peter Tuxen Bisgaard   22,112   149,999 
Adam Laponis   7,370   50,000 
Nina Richardson   5,856   39,727

 

 
(1) Consists of 737,071 shares of our Series E convertible preferred stock held by NEA 15. Dr. Cheung and Dr. Makower were designated to serve as members of our board of directors by

NEA, which is affiliated with NEA 15. Dr. Cheung is a principal at NEA, and Dr. Makower is a general partner at NEA. In September 2020, Dr. Cheung resigned from our board of
directors, and NEA designated Mr. Hughes to serve in his place.

(2) Mr. Bisgaard was designated to serve as a member of our board of directors by Pivotal Alpha. Mr. Bisgaard is a managing director of Pivotal Alpha.
(3) Mr. Pardo was designated to serve as a member of our board of directors by Gilde.  Mr. Pardo is a partner of Gilde.
(4) Ms. Tammenoms Bakker was designated to serve as a member of our board of directors by LVP4. Ms. Tammenoms Bakker is a managing director of LVP4.

Investors’ Rights Agreement

We entered into an amended and restated investors’ rights agreement with the purchasers of our convertible preferred stock, which was
subsequently converted into common stock in connection with the IPO, and certain of our other stockholders, including certain of our directors and
executive officers, holders of more than 5% of our capital stock and entities with which certain of our directors are affiliated. As of December 31, 2020, the
holders of approximately 28.2 million shares of our common stock are entitled to rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities
Act.

Indemnification agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements with certain of our current directors, executive officers and certain other employees. Our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws will provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the
fullest extent permitted by applicable law.

Policies and procedures for related-party transactions

Our board of directors has adopted a written related-person transaction policy, setting forth the policies and procedures for the review and approval
or ratification of related-person transactions. This policy covers, with certain exceptions set forth in Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act,
any transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships in which we were or are to be a participant,
where the amount involved exceeds $120,000 and a related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest, including, without limitation,
purchases of goods or services by or from the related person or entities in which the related person has a material interest, indebtedness, guarantees of
indebtedness and employment by us of a related person. In reviewing and approving any such transactions, our audit committee is tasked to consider all
relevant facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, whether the transaction is on terms comparable to those that could be obtained in an arm’s
length transaction with an unrelated third party and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction. All of the transactions described in this
section occurred prior to the adoption of this policy.

140



 

Director independence

Our board of directors currently consists of nine members. Our board of directors has determined that all of our directors, other than Mr. Gormsen,
qualify as “independent” directors in accordance with the marketplace rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market, or the Listing Rules. Mr. Gormsen is not
considered independent by virtue of his position as our President and Chief Executive Officer. Under the Listing Rules, the definition of independence
includes a series of objective tests, such as that the director is not, and has not been for at least three years, one of our employees and that neither the
director nor any of his or her family members has engaged in various types of business dealings with us. In addition, as required by the Listing Rules, our
board of directors has made a subjective determination as to each independent director that no relationship exists that, in the opinion of our board of
directors, would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of a director. In making these determinations, our
board of directors reviewed and discussed information provided by the directors and us with regard to each director’s business and personal activities and
relationships as they may relate to us and our management.
 
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

Aggregate fees for professional services rendered for us by Deloitte & Touche LLP for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, were as
follows, all of which were approved by the audit committee:
 
  2020   2019  
  (in thousands)  
Audit fees(1)  $ 1,625  $ 470 
Audit-related fees(2)   —   — 
Tax fees(3)   37   68 
All other fees(4)   —   — 
   Total  $ 1,662  $ 538

 

 
(1) Represents the aggregate fees billed for the audit of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, review of the condensed consolidated financial statements included in the

Company’s quarterly reports and services in connection with the statutory and regulatory filings or engagements for those years. Fees for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 and
2019 also consisted of professional services rendered in connection with our Registration Statement on Form S-1 related to the initial public offering of our common stock completed in
October 2020.

(2) Represents the aggregate fees billed for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s consolidated financial
statements and are not reported under “audit fees.”

(3) Represents the aggregate fees billed for tax compliance, advice and planning.
(4) Represents the aggregate fees billed for all products and services that are not included under “audit fees,” “audit-related fees” or “tax fees.”
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

We have filed the following documents as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

 1. Financial Statements: The financial statements included in “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 are filed as part
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

 2. Exhibits: The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.

142



 
Exhibit Index

 
   Incorporated by reference

Exhibit
Number  Description Form Dated Number

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation 8-K 10/20/2020 3.1
3.2  Amended and Restated Bylaw 8-K 10/20/2020 3.2
4.1  Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1 through 3.2    
4.2  Form of Common Stock Certificate. S-1 9/25/2020 4.2
4.3  Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section

12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.†
   

10.1  Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated July 13,
2020, by and among Eargo, Inc. and the investors listed therein.

S-1 9/25/2020 10.1

10.2(a)  2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.# S-1/A 10/01/2020 10.2(a)
10.2(b)  Form Agreements under 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended.# S-1 9/25/2020 10.2(b)
10.3(a)  2020 Incentive Award Plan.# S-8 10/19/2020 99.2(a)
10.3(b)  Form Agreements under the 2020 Incentive Award Plan.# S-1 9/25/2020 10.3(b)
10.4  2020 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.# S-8 10/19/2020 99.3
10.5  Employment Agreement, by and between Eargo, Inc. and Christian

Gormsen.#
S-1 9/25/2020 10.5

10.6  Employment Agreement, by and between Eargo, Inc. and William
Brownie.#

S-1 9/25/2020 10.6

10.7  Employment Agreement, by and between Eargo, Inc. and Adam
Laponis.#

S-1 9/25/2020 10.7

10.8  Non-Employee Director Compensation Program.# S-1 9/25/2020 10.8
10.9  Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors, officers and

certain other employees.
S-1 9/25/2020 10.9

10.10  Manufacturing Services Agreement, dated May 5, 2017, by and
between Eargo, Inc. and Hana Microelectronics Co., Ltd.*

S-1 9/25/2020 10.10

10.11  Sublease Agreement, dated July 30, 2018, by and between Eargo,
Inc. and Microchip Technology Incorporated.

S-1 9/25/2020 10.11

10.12  Office & Parking Lease, dated September 11, 2018, by and between
Eargo, Inc. and SEV 8th and Division, LLC.

S-1 9/25/2020 10.12

10.13  Standard Office Building Lease, dated April 27, 2018, by and
between Eargo, Inc. and LAGOS PROPERTIES, LLC.

S-1 9/25/2020 10.13

10.14  Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 6, 2018, by and among
Eargo, Inc., Eargo Hearing, Inc. and Silicon Valley Bank, as
amended by the First Amendment, dated January 31, 2019, as
further amended by the Second Amendment, dated May 1, 2020, as
further amended by the Third Amendment, dated September 9,
2020.

S-1 9/25/2020 10.14

10.15  Manufacturing Agreement, dated August 21, 2018, by and between
Eargo, Inc. and Pegatron Corporation.*

S-1 9/25/2020 10.15

21.1  List of subsidiaries. S-1 9/25/2020 21.1
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23.1  Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public

accounting firm.†
   

24.1  Power of Attorney (included in the signature page hereto).†    
31.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-

14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.†

   

31.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-
14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.†

   

32.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.†

   

32.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.†

   

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document†    
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document†    
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document†    
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document†    
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document†    
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document†    
      
# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan
* Certain schedules and exhibits to this agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Registration S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule

and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.
† Filed herewith.
‡ Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
  Eargo, Inc.
    
Date: March 16, 2021  By: /s/ Christian Gormsen
   Christian Gormsen
   President and Chief Executive Officer
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 

Name  Title  Date
     

/s/ Christian Gormsen  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)  March 16, 2021

Christian Gormsen     
     

/s/ Adam Laponis  
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)  March 16, 2021

Adam Laponis     
     

/s/ Josh Makower, M.D.  Chairman of the Board of Directors  March 16, 2021
Josh Makower, M.D.     

     

/s/ Peter Tuxen Bisgaard  Director  March 16, 2021
Peter Tuxen Bisgaard     

     

/s/ Doug Hughes  Director  March 16, 2021
Doug Hughes     

     

/s/ Geoff Pardo  Director  March 16, 2021
Geoff Pardo     

     

/s/ Nina Richardson  Director  March 16, 2021
Nina Richardson     

     

/s/ A. Brooke Seawell  Director  March 16, 2021
A. Brooke Seawell     

     

/s/ Juliet Tammenoms Bakker  Director  March 16, 2021
Juliet Tammenoms Bakker     

     

/s/ David Wu  Director  March 16, 2021
David Wu     
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Exhibit 4.3
DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES

REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

 
As of December 31, 2020, Eargo, Inc. had common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the trading symbol “EAR.”

DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following summary describes our capital stock and the material provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended
and restated bylaws, the amended and restated investors’ rights agreement to which we and certain of our stockholders are parties and the Delaware
General Corporation Law. Because the following is only a summary, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. For a complete
description, you should refer to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, amended and restated bylaws and amended and restated investors’
rights agreement, copies of which are incorporated by reference as Exhibits 3.1, 3.2 and 10.1, respectively, to our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 
General

Our authorized capital stock consists of 300,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par
value $0.0001 per share.
 
Common stock
 
Voting rights

Each holder of common stock is entitled to one vote for each share on all matters submitted to a vote of the stockholders, including the election of directors.
Our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. Accordingly, holders of a majority of the voting shares are able to elect
all of the directors.
 
Dividends

Subject to preferences that may be applicable to any then-outstanding preferred stock, holders of our common stock are entitled to receive ratably any
dividends that our board of directors may declare out of funds legally available.
 
Liquidation

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of our common stock will be entitled to share ratably in the net assets legally available
for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of our debts and other liabilities, subject to the satisfaction of any liquidation preference granted
to the holders of any then-outstanding shares of preferred stock.
 
Rights and preferences

Holders of our common stock have no preemptive, conversion or subscription rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable
to our common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of our common stock are subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the
rights of the holders of shares of any series of our preferred stock that we may designate and issue in the future.

 



 
Preferred stock

Our board of directors has the authority, without further action by the stockholders, to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock in one or more
series, to establish from time to time the number of shares to be included in each such series, to fix the rights, preferences and privileges of the shares of
each wholly unissued series and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereon and to increase or decrease the number of shares of any such series,
but not below the number of shares of such series then outstanding.

Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely affect the voting power or
other rights of the holders of common stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connection with possible acquisitions and
other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of our company that may
otherwise benefit holders of our common stock and may adversely affect the market price of the common stock and the voting and other rights of the
holders of common stock.  
Registration rights

Under our amended and restated investors’ rights agreement, certain holders of shares of our common stock, or their transferees, have the right to require
us to register their shares (the “registrable securities”) under the Securities Act so that those shares may be publicly resold, and the holders of these
shares of common stock, or their transferees, have the right to include their shares in any registration statement we file, in each case as described below.
 
Demand registration rights

Certain holders of our common stock are entitled to certain demand registration rights. Beginning after April 13, 2021, the holders of at least 35% of
such registrable securities may, on not more than two occasions, request that we register all or a portion of their shares, subject to certain specified
exceptions.

 
Piggyback registration rights

In the event that we propose to register any of our securities under the Securities Act, either for our own account or for the account of other security
holders, certain holders of registrable securities will be entitled to certain “piggyback” registration rights allowing them to include their shares in such
registration, subject to specified conditions and limitations.
 
S-3 registration rights

Certain holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to certain Form S-3 registration rights. The holders of such registrable securities may, with
respect to not more than two such registrations within any 12-month period, request that we register all or a portion of their shares on Form S-3 if we are
qualified to file a registration statement on Form S-3, subject to specified exceptions. Such request for registration on Form S-3 must cover securities
with an aggregate offering price to the public which equals or exceeds $1.0 million. The right to have such shares registered on Form S-3 is further
subject to other specified conditions and limitations.
 
Anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law and our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated Bylaws
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with any
interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, with the following
exceptions:

 • before such date, the board of directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the
stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

 

 
 



  

 • upon completion of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least
85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction began, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock
outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned (i) by persons who are directors and
also officers and (ii) employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held
subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or

 

 • on or after such date, the business combination is approved by the board of directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the
stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the
interested stockholder.

 

In general, Section 203 defines a “business combination” to include the following:

 • any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;

 • any sale, transfer, pledge or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;  

 • subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the
interested stockholder;

 

 • any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock or any class or series of the
corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; and

 

 • the receipt by the interested stockholder of the benefit of any loans, advances, guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits by or through the
corporation.

 

In general, Section 203 defines an “interested stockholder” as an entity or person who, together with the person’s affiliates and associates, beneficially
owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of
the corporation.

The statute could prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts and, accordingly, may discourage attempts to acquire us
even though such a transaction may offer our stockholders the opportunity to sell their stock at a price above the prevailing market price.
 
Amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws

Among other things, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws:

 • permit our board of directors to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may designate,
including the right to approve an acquisition or other change in control;

 

 • provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;

 • classify our board of directors into three classes of directors, divided as nearly as equal in number as possible;  

 • provide that, subject to the rights of any series of preferred stock to elect directors, directors may only be removed for cause, which removal may
be effected, subject to any limitation imposed by law, by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of our then-outstanding shares
of the capital stock entitled to vote generally at an election of directors;

 

 • provide that all vacancies, including newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote of a
majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

 

 

 
 



 

 • require that any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and not be
taken by written consent or electronic transmission;

 

 • provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at a
meeting of stockholders must provide advance notice in writing, and also specify requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s
notice;

 

 • provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by our board of directors pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the
total number of authorized directors, and not by our stockholders; and

 

 • do not provide for cumulative voting rights, therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any
election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose.

 

The amendment of any of these provisions, except for the provision making it possible for our board of directors to issue undesignated preferred stock,
would require approval by the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the voting power of all of our then-outstanding common stock.

The combination of these provisions makes it more difficult for our existing stockholders to replace our board of directors as well as for another party to
obtain control of us by replacing our board of directors. Because our board of directors has the power to retain and discharge our officers, these
provisions could also make it more difficult for existing stockholders or another party to effect a change in management. In addition, the authorization
of undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could
impede the success of any attempt to effect a change in control of our company.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our board of directors and its policies and to
discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to hostile takeovers
and to discourage certain tactics that may be used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making
tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of delaying changes in control or management of our company. As a consequence, these provisions
may also inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that could result from actual or rumored takeover attempts. We believe that the benefits of
these provisions, including increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to
acquire or restructure our company, outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover proposals, because negotiation of takeover proposals could
result in an improvement of their terms.
 
Choice of forum

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an
alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under
Delaware statutory or common law: any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf; any action asserting a claim of breach of fiduciary duty owed
by any of our directors, officers or stockholders to us or to our stockholders; any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware
General Corporation Law, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws (as either may be amended from time to
time); or any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine. As a result, any action brought by any of our stockholders
with regard to any of these matters will need to be filed in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware and cannot be filed in any other jurisdiction;
provided that, the exclusive forum provision will not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act or any other claim
for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction; and provided further that, if and only if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware dismisses any
such action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, such action may be brought in another state or federal court sitting in the State of Delaware. Our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws also provide that the federal district courts of the United States of America will be
the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action against us or any of our directors, officers, employees or agents and
arising

 
 



under the Securities Act.

If any action the subject matter of which is within the scope described above is filed in a court other than a court located within the State of Delaware,
or a Foreign Action, in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to the personal jurisdiction of the state and
federal courts located within the State of Delaware in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the applicable provisions of our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and having service of process made upon such stockholder in any
such action by service upon such stockholder’s counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder. Although our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain the choice of forum provision described above, it is possible that a court could
find that such a provision is inapplicable for a particular claim or action or that such provision is unenforceable.

This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of
our directors, officers, other employees or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims, although our stockholders will not
be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.
 
Limitation on liability and indemnification
 
Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws limit our directors’ liability and provide that we may indemnify
our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted under the DGCL. The DGCL provides that directors of a corporation will not be personally liable
for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duties as directors, except for liability for any:

• transaction from which the director derives an improper personal benefit;  

• act or omission not in good faith or that involves intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;  

• unlawful payment of dividends or redemption of shares; or  

• breach of a director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders.  
 

These limitations of liability do not apply to liabilities arising under federal securities laws and do not affect the availability of equitable remedies such as
injunctive relief or recession.
 
The DGCL and our amended and restated bylaws provide that we will, in certain situations, indemnify our
directors and officers and may indemnify other employees and other agents, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Any indemnified person is also entitled,
subject to certain limitations, to advancement, direct payment or reimbursement of reasonable expenses (including attorneys’ fees and disbursements) in
advance of the final disposition of the proceeding.
 
In addition, we have entered, and intend to continue to enter, into separate indemnification agreements with our directors, officers and certain other
employees. These indemnification agreements, among other things, require us to indemnify our directors, officers and certain other employees for certain
expenses, including attorneys’ fees, judgments, fines and settlement amounts incurred by a director, officer or other employee in any action or proceeding
arising out of their services as a director, officer or employee of our company, or any other company or enterprise to which the person provides services at
our request.
 
We maintain a directors’ and officers’ insurance policy pursuant to which our directors and officers are insured against liability for actions taken in their
capacities as directors and officers. We believe that these provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated
bylaws and these indemnification agreements are necessary to attract and retain qualified persons as directors, officers and other employees.
 
Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, may be permitted to directors, officers
or control persons, in the opinion of the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy, as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.

 
 



 
Transfer agent and registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC. The transfer agent and registrar’s address is
6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, New York 11219.

 
 



 
Exhibit 23.1

 
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-249548 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 16, 2021, relating to the
consolidated financial statements of Eargo Inc. and subsidiary (the “Company”), appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2020.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

San Jose, California

March 16, 2021

 

 



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Christian Gormsen, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eargo, Inc.;

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

 

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 16, 2021 By: /s/ Christian Gormsen                        

       Christian Gormsen
       President and Chief Executive Officer
       (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Adam Laponis, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eargo, Inc.;

 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

 

 (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

 (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

 
Date: March 16, 2021 By: /s/ Adam Laponis                                

       Adam Laponis
       Chief Financial Officer

       (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Eargo, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.

 
Date: March 16, 2021 By: /s/ Christian Gormsen                        

       Christian Gormsen
       President and Chief Executive Officer
       (Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 

In connection with the Annual Report of Eargo, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

 (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the
Company.

 
Date: March 16, 2021 By: /s/ Adam Laponis                      

       Adam Laponis
       Chief Financial Officer

       (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


